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Financial Highlights
BHREE

FINANCIAL AND OPERATING RESULTS
HIGHLIGHTS

The following table sets forth certain financial information of
AMCO United Holding Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries

(collectively, the "Group”) as of the date for the years indicated:

MEREERERE

TRENEFEZERERQA ([RARA]) RE
MBAR (SR IAKE]RIITFERRZ
ETHBER:

OPERATING RESULTS (HK$'000) 2024 2023
REEE (THET) —E-MF —E=F
Revenue WA 37,792 34,333
Loss for the year FEEE (1,233) (2,753)
OPERATING RESULTS (HK$'000) 2024 2023
REEE(THER) —E-NME —F-=
Equity attributable to owners of the Company ~ ANR&HEA A EGHEZE 60,128 61,361
Total assets HEE 159,330 168,718
Net assets AEFE 60,128 61,361
Net assets value per share (HK cents) BREEFE B 6.21 6.34
OPERATING RESULTS (HK$'000) 2024 2023
REEE(TER) —E-WMF —EZ=F
Current ratio’ ik IS 2.3 2.2
Total debt to total assets ratio? 48 (5 75 B 4R A B b 2 0.6 0.6
Return on total assets (%)3 48 & FE B 3R (% )3 (0.8) (1.6)
Return on sales (%)* #H & [0 3R & (%) (3.3) (8.0)
Loss per share (HK cents) SFhEEE BW)

Basic and diluted BEARKREHE (0.13) (0.18)
Notes: BT
1. Current ratio is calculated by dividing current assets by current liabilities. 1. RELRDIURHEER AR BELE -
2. Total debt to total assets ratio is calculated by dividing the total 2. #AEKHEBEELXRIABEERAREE

indebtedness by total assets. tH o
3. Return on total assets is calculated by dividing the loss for the year by 3. #BEDREIAFEFHIERAEEETE -
total assets.

4. Return on sales is calculated by dividing the loss for the year by revenue. 4. $HERBRIAFEEHEEBGRIAWAGTE -
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Despite the Year 2024 has marked a year of great challenge facing
high level of uncertainty of the economy as well as the volatile financial
market in Hong Kong and globally, we made efforts to initiate and boost
our momentum of growth by facilitating business development of the
respective business segments during the year. The total revenue of the
Group increased HK$3.5 million or 10.2%, from HK$34.3 million last
year to HK$37.8 million for the year ended 31 December 2024. Such
increase was mainly attributable to the increase in revenue from sale of

medical products and sale of plastic moulding products.

To cope with the challenge of fluctuating sales order, the Group is
persisting to deploy business strategies of streamlining and outsourcing
of business processes, implementing strict cost control and ensuring
effective utilisation of resources with an aim to maintain its long-term
sustainable competitive advantages in the business segment. In the
meantime, the Group is actively exploring and identifying potential
business opportunities to expand its customer base of the business
segment in order to broaden the income streams of the Medical Devices
Business. The Group’s business segment in the manufacture and sale
of plastic moulding products (“Plastic Moulding Business”) has been
downsized in recent years and revenue generated by this business remain

stable in recent years.

The Group’'s business in the provision of money lending (“Money
Lending Business”) has generated stable income to the Group in 2024.
The Group has recorded a segment loss for its business of investment
in securities (“Securities Investment”) in the current year. The Group
will closely monitor and appraise the performance of this business and

cautiously assess the investment portfolio from time to time.

Chairman’s Statement

EERE

BEEAHEBDERREENSETHEE MR
ERMTIBRE S _NMEDPEITMABH—
FEBRMRFEASNERREESEBDBHE
BERUREBRIEAERE N - AEEZAKRA
H1 % £ 234,300,0007% 7T ¥ HN3,500,0007% 7T 3k
102%EHBE L -_NF+_A=+—HIF
J€ 237,800,000 7T © Z & M0 F EH N HE B
BEMIHEELBERERZBALM-

RELHETERBOKE  REBRFHITHE
75 B O S 75 B2 DA T 5E B RRAR O AR AR I %
HEREIRE MM A2 EB R AR ERZE
Bo# e RHAKESFRE AN AKELE
BB FEA MBI EE B WBRZEXED
MOTPRE tMBEEEERBEEBHRAT -
AEBRENHEPBEAER ([ZBEAX
B2 E B MR EFRERRE Mz EBHR
EE AT FERFIZE -

AEBZEAREEZEB (IREXKDR=-F
“HE/AKETRIBRE WS AFEAEER
HESREXB([EHKRENDESHAERE-
AEBBBINERRICZEB ZRARTE
BEFEREESG -
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Chairman’s Statement

EERE

PROSPECTS

Facing elevated challenges as we step into the year 2025 with the
recovery of the economy as well as the highly volatile financial market in
Hong Kong and globally, the Group will persist to build on its diversified
business portfolio and focus its steps to formulate, evaluate and modify
business strategies of our existing businesses in order to facilitate and
motivate their business development and stabilise any downturn impact.
To cope with the business development of the business segments,
the Group will strive to deploy effective and sufficient capital and
resources allocation in respect of the different business segments, and
actively reallocate its assets, funding and labour force in response to
the changing market and industry conditions and business results. The
Group will conduct constant and dynamic performance appraisals and
assessment to evaluate the ongoing business development. The Group
will also concentrate on maintaining liquidity by effectively managing
working capital and controlling costs, and leveraging operation efficiency
by adhering to its lean organisation structure, in light of any difficulties
which may be encountered under the uncertainties in the economy and

financial market.

Alongside with the continuing evolution and modification of business
strategies to develop our existing businesses, the Group will continue to
seek optimisation of its business portfolio by adjusting it to adapt to the
changing business climate, trend and environment, and at the same time
proactively exploring and exploiting every potentially profitable business
and investment opportunity as well as new growth potentials, with
the ultimate goal of developing its business to generate and maximise
shareholders’ value and return and maintain sustainable growth and

prosperity.

Jia Minghui
Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 March 2025
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Management Discussion and Analysis

RESULTS, BUSINESS REVIEW AND PROSPECTS
Results

The total revenue of the Group increased HK$3.5 million or 10.2%,
from HK$34.3 million last year to HK$37.8 million for the year ended 31
December 2024. Such increase was mainly attributable to the increase
in revenue from sale of medical products and sale of plastic moulding

products.

Gross profit of the Group was HK$13.9 million, representing a decrease
of HK$0.9 million or 6.1% as compared to HK$14.8 million in 2023.
Gross profit margin decreased by 6.2 percentage points to 36.9% (2023:
43.1%), primarily as a result of gross profit margin contributed from the
sale of medical products (“Medical Products”) and provision of money

lending (“Money Lending Business”).

Other income and other gains or losses, during the year under review
recorded loss of HK$1.6 million, decreased from other loss of HK$8.1
million in the corresponding year of 2023, which was mainly attributable
to the net effect of realised and unrealised loss of held-for-trading
investments arising from the business of investment in securities

("Securities Investment”) of HK$1.8 million.

The distribution and administrative expenses amounted to HK$13.7
million, which decreased HK$0.3 million or 2.1% as compared to that of
HK$14.0 million for the corresponding year of 2023, primarily because

the decrease in distribution expense.

Finance costs amounted to HK$1.2 million (2023: HK$2.3 million) for the

year under review, which represented interest on bond payables.

As a result, the overall loss attributable to owners of the Company
was HK$1.2 million, which decreased by HK$1.6 million or 57.1% as
compared to HK$2.8 million loss for the corresponding year of 2023
which was mainly due to the decrease in other income and gains or
losses and net reversal of provision for expected credit loss (“ECL") of
approximately HK$1.3 million (2023: reversal of provision for ECL of
approximately HK$7.9 million) recognised during the year ended 31

December 2024.

EEENWE DM

% CEBOERAR

NEBE 2 B A BT 234,300,000/ TTHE AN
3,500,000/8 T H102% EHE T - MFE+ =

=+—H81-FE 237,800,000 I 7% 1 A
DEEZARNHERREMREESERBREAER
Z WA AN o

NEEEFN A13,900,00008 T W -F - =4
214,800,000/ 7T & 4900,000/% 7T 2£6.1% °

ERETR62EE D E2369% (T ==
Fia431% ) HEZHANEEBEER ([

BERD REBERE ((REEBEEZE
JES S

oAt U A Ko Epth Uy 5 sk B 1R A B B A E AR 1S
81,600,000 0 T = F R BN EME
68,100,000 THE TR HEEHRBSHK
B([BHEREDEBEEZHEEERED
%30 N ok 8 3R B9 181,800,000/8 7T 2 % 2 F
g(o

D NITHEEX A13,700,0008 0 B -
— =R HIH14,000,000% JT & 2300,000/8
TLEK2.1% hEZEHR D HEK AR L -

P [E B F E BB A&1,200,0008 T (=
Z =% :2,300,000/7C) ' JIEMNEFZFE

Eit - RAGHA A (R EEEE /1,200,000
BT =T = = 4 [F) Hi E5482,800,0007% 7T A8
Lt &5 88 421,600,000 7L 557.1% * Ty £ E
REBE-Z_NE+-A=1+—HIEFEHAM
WARW=KEERD AR ERBREEER
([FEEAE BB 1R ) £ & B [0 )% §8 491,300,000
BT (ZEZ=F - REEHEEBREREED
7,900,000/ 7T ) °
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BEEENWE DM

The Group recognises impairment loss allowance for ECL on loan
receivables. The Group engaged an independent professional valuer to
assess the amount of ECL and the amount of ECL is updated at each
reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition.
The Group recognises lifetime ECL for loan receivables. The ECL on these
loan receivables are estimated using a provision matrix based on the
Group's historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are
specific to the debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment
of both the current as well as the forecast direction of conditions at the
reporting date, including time value of money where appropriate. The
Group had liaised with the borrowers and assess their financial status
and the recoverability of each loan. In the course of assessment of the
ECL, the loss rates of the receivables are derived from the probability of
default and loss given default. In view of the global economic condition,
the Group assessed that the probability of default of certain borrowers
were relatively high. As such, the credit loss rate applied for the
assessment is 50.3% (2023: 47.1%) for the year ended 31 December
2024. The increase in the ECL was mainly due to the net effect of the
application of higher credit loss rate for the year ended 31 December
2024 and the lower balance of the loan receivables during the year

ended 31 December 2024 comparing with that of 2023.

Business Review
Medical Products

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Medical Products recorded
revenue of HK$25.6 million, which increased by 16.9% or HK$3.7
million as compared to that of HK$21.9 million in the previous year. This
amount represented 67.6% of the Group's total revenue for the year
under review. In 2024, due to the heightened awareness of health and
wellness, in which consumers willing to invest more in preventive care
and personal protective equipment, causing sales demand and revenue
of the sale of medical products (“Medical Products”) to increase during

the current year.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Segment result of the Medical Products recorded a profit amounted to
HK$4.2 million for the year ended 31 December 2024, as compared to
segment profit of HK$3.3 million in the corresponding year of 2023,
which was caused by the reversal of impairment loss under ECL during
the year. To cope with the challenge of fluctuating sales order, the
Group is persisting to deploy business strategies of streamlining and
outsourcing of business processes, implementing strict cost control and
ensuring effective utilisation of resources with an aim to maintain its
long-term sustainable competitive advantages in the business segment.
In the meantime, the Group is actively exploring and identifying
potential business opportunities to expand its customer base of the
business segment in order to broaden the income streams of the Medical

Products.

Overview

The Group is engaged in the business of manufacturing medical devices,
starting with lancet devices since 2011 and operates a production plant
located in Dongguan, the People’s Republic of China which is fully US
FDA (Food and Drug Administration of the United States) certified. The
production team commence to manufacture high precision and high
cavitations tooling for lancet devices, i.e. plastic piping, since 2008.
The plastic piping in the blood glucose instrument requires very high
precision and specifications in quality and safety because it is in direct
contact with the blood. Our products is comply with relevant medical
device certification and quality standards, such as ISO 15197, which
limited the deviation of the measurement results of the lancet devices,
i.e. for blood glucose levels below or equal to 5.55 mmol/L (100 mg/
dL), the deviation is required to be within #0.83 mmol/L (£ 15 mg/dL),
and for blood glucose levels above 5.55 mmol/L, the deviation of the

measurement results is required to be within £15%.

EEENWE DM

ToNE+_A=T—HIEFE BF
09 B 248 8715 )4 F14,200,0008 T - T =%

—=F R AIS 5 6% 3,300,000 7T - T E
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BEEENWE DM

In recent years, the Group further developed the products and services
portfolio which allow the Group manufacture other parts to be used in
the medical devices, such as the plastic syringes, needles, connection
port and test strip slot. These products are precisely designed and
manufactured to ensure its safety and accuracy. After years of
development, the Group is able to handle one-stop production process
by offering prototyping, sampling, manufacturing and assembling of
medical devices and products in accordance with the specification of the
customers on a mix of original design manufacturer (the “ODM") and

original equipment manufacturer (the “OEM") bases.

With over 10 years of operations in the medical product industry,
the Group offer a range of medical products and parts with different
designs and features to cater for different requirements of the customers
in response to the ever-changing market demand and technology
advancement. The Group have a product development team to develop
prototypes of the medical products and parts of the customers’
requirement and specification. The Board believe that the product
development team possesses the requisite expertise and experience
to facilitate our business development, expand the product portfolio
at the request of the customers and respond quickly to any change in

customers’ preferences.

The Group also place considerable emphasis on the consistent quality of
the products and have therefore implemented a stringent quality control

system to ensure the Group's products meet the quality standards.

The Medical Products Business is mainly conducted through identifying
the demands of the Group's existing and potential customers (including
specification of products, price that the customers can afford, etc.),
supplying medical devices and providing medical device solutions and
sourcing the products from various suppliers. The Group also provides
aftersales services such as testing, installation, training and maintenance
services for the products sold. During the year, the Group mainly sold
the medical devices and products related to prevention of disease, killing

germs and bacteria.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

The Group has been serving our extensive customer base in Hong Kong
and the PRC and a vast sales network associated with the Group's
PRC subsidiaries to identify and discuss with the existing and potential

customers on product specifications and provision of after-sale services.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, most of the customers were
users or distributors in the PRC. The customers mainly include (i) retailers
which operate medical research and development center and sell the
products under their own brand names; (ii) trading companies which
further distribute the medical products to their local consumer market
under their own brand names and/or designated names; and (iii) other
users which mainly include healthcare companies and construction
companies which purchase the products and/or solutions from the

Group.

In order to continue to broaden the customer base, the Group is
continuously looking for new opportunities and identifying potential
customers. While some of the business relationships began from business
events and exhibitions, the Group also establishes business relationships
with the customers via many different ways including referrals from
customers and suppliers, the business network of the director and senior

management in the industry.

For some of the customers, the relationships first began from business
events and exhibitions which the Group participated in. The customers
were introduced with background and products of the Group and would
be invited to visit the production site to inspect the production facilities
and assess the quality of the products. Having ascertained that the
Group were able to comply with their selection standards in relation to
product quality and production process, they started to place purchase
orders with the Group. The Board believe that stable product quality and
ability to deliver a wide range of products to the customers have enabled

the Group to have recurring orders from the customers.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BEEENWE DM

The Group has a team to handle the Medical Products Business which
led by the executive Directors, Mr. Zhang Hengxin and Mr. Jia Minghui,
together with senior management which experienced and dedicated
management with strong industry knowledge and execution capabilities.
Some members of the senior management have more than 10 years of
experience in the manufacturing industry and medical product industry.
The Group believe that the executive Directors and senior management
are important to the Group's success. The in-depth industry, financial
and commercial knowledge which the executive Directors and senior
management possess as well as their business networks have ensured
the Group to sustain business growth by increasing the market share in

future.

Products

Since the commencement of the Medical Products Business in 2011,
sales and manufacturing of high precision and high cavitations tooling
for lancet devices, i.e. plastic piping, has been the key driver of the
revenue in the Medical Products Business. After years of research and
development, the Group expanded the product and services portfolio to

increase the source of income stream.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group provide a wide
range of medical products and solutions which are broadly classified
into (i) lancet piping parts and devices, and (ii) customized parts used in

medical devices.

The table below sets forth the breakdown of the revenue by product

category during the year ended 31 December 2024:

AEBEEE —XANTEEFRTELERER
BAEEENENR AERBEEERES M
ZEGNSREEELREE nnEE AF
LENTEMNBRLBRORNITES - BOBRE
BEKENEEERBEREERITEERAI0F
MR - AEERE RWTESRaRERREY
REENKNEZEREZ - PITESRSREERE
RATE M REETES RS IS
WEBER ATRERAEEARIBBIES TSN

BARBEBER-

Em

B-Z—FHRBEEMEBANR HERH
ERREERNERBENSBELSRANT

A(H2RE) BEREREMEBRANTIE
8 h-LBZ FHE AEBEAERMRE
A B IR AR -

BE_Z_NF+_A=t—BLLFE £&£H
RENBRERIBRTRBRES  RBHA:

(VR MEE M REE: RARBRERENT
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Lancet piping parts and devices

Lancet devices are mainly used by diabetic patients and pregnant
women which used to (i) measure glucose levels in the blood, (ii) helping
diabetics monitor blood glucose levels, (iii) adjust diet and treatment
plans, (iv) control disease progression, and (v) prevention of disease.
Apart from diabetic patients and pregnant women, lancet devices also
commonly used by the people, who is overweight or obesity, have history
of diabetes, history of gestational diabetes or giving birth to a big baby,
physical inactivity and unhealthy diets, to monitor their level of glucose

in the blood.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group manufacture
the lancet piping parts and devices on a mix of OEM and ODM bases.
The specification of the lancet piping parts and devices depends on
the customers’ order. Depends on the orders placed by the customers,

certain parts of the devices may outsource to other manufacturers.

The Group also sell parts of the lancet devices to the customers. The
customers who purchase parts of the lancet devices from the Group can

also use such parts as spare parts for replacement purpose.

Customized parts used in medical devices

Other than lancet piping parts and devices, the customers also placed
order to manufacture certain tooling and parts to be used in their
own medical devices, i.e. blood pressure meter and thermometer. The
Group prepared some samples of medical devices and parts to display
for the customers’ inspection before ordering. The customized parts’
specification depends on customers’ order. Once receive the customers’
order, the product development team commence to develop prototypes
of the parts and send the product sample to the customer to perform

quality checking and confirm before the production.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BEEENRR DM

Business Model ERE

The following diagram shows the major stages and processes of the TEFIREBKEBREEKAE:

business:

BN
2) Product development
2) FEE fh BH E
3) Customer placing orders 1)  Sales and marketing
3K FH — 1) S8 T T4 41

4) Procurement and

production

4) BRI R

4a) Raw materials
procurement

da) JEBRLER I

5)  Quality control

4b) Production (Note i) S) B
BT

4b) L (M iti)

4c) Assembling (Note i)
de) HHE (Mt iti)

6) Packaging (Note ii)
6) Gk (M 7tii)

7) Delivery (Note ii)
7) ZEA (Mt ki)

8) Installation (Note i)
8) L (Mfiki)

Customers

HwH
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Notes:

Management Discussion and Analysis

Certain processes and functions may outsource to third party depends

on the utilisation of resources of the Group.

The processes and functions conducted by third parties.

Sales and Marketing

The sales and marketing department is responsible for liaising
with and handling enquiries from the customers, following
up sales orders, arranging for delivery and exploring potential
customers. Sales staff works closely with the product development
department to enable the team to gain a full understanding of
the requirements of the customers and to effectively cater the

customer’s specifications of the manufacturing of the products.

As soon as sales orders are secured from the customers, the
responsible sales staff will take steps to ensure that the sales
orders are timely handled. They closely liaises with the product
design, production and quality control personnel to ensure that

the finished products will be ready for delivery as planned.

Product Development

The product development department is responsible for
developing new product designs adhering to customers’
specification as well as to improve the production efficiency and
quality of the existing products. Generally, product variations
are initiated by the customers. Sales team approaches and
communicates with the customers of their requirement, including
the product dimensions, shapes, lengths, colours, the use of raw
materials, safety requirements and production budget on the
products. Upon the prototyping/sampling request, the product
development team would put forward the suggestions on the
modification of product specifications according to the practicality

of the production of the tooling and products.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BEEENWE DM

During the product development stage, different departments
will work together and work out an estimated production costs
if such product is to be launched and ensure that the product
samples adhere to the customers’ requirement, satisfy the
required safety standards and quality controls. After producing
the product prototypes for the customers, sales team will then
collect feedbacks from the customers as well as the suggestions
from the production department on different aspects such as
production difficulties and cost estimations. Depends on the
estimated cost of production, certain parts may outsource to

other manufacturers.

Customers Placing Order

Once the customers are satisfied with the samples produced, the
Group will provide quotations to the customers. The customers
will either agree on the price we quoted or request us to provide
a revised quotation. When both customers and the Group have
agreed on the quotations, the customers will normally proceed to

place orders with the Group by issuing a purchase order.

Procurement and Production

Procurement

The procurement department are responsible to monitor the raw
materials consumption and procurement taking into account
factors such as inventory on hand, sales orders received and sales
forecasts on a regular basis. After the plans are reviewed and
approved by the management, such plans would be implemented

by the procurement personnel.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

In view of the current economy conditions and to ensuring
effective utilisation of resources of the Group, in order to
minimize (1) the cost of storage; and (2) the risk of obsolete
stock, upon receiving the customers’ order, the production team
will estimate how many raw materials are required for the orders,
the Group will only procure the raw materials required for the
production and do not keep high inventories level to minimize
the risk of obsolete stock as different products has different
needs of materials. The Board also consider that this just-in-
time production can improve the competitiveness of the Group,
i.e. this arrangement allows the Group to more quickly adjust
production volumes and product mix to meet customer demand.
When the market demand fluctuates, the Group can adjust the
pricing strategy according to the actual demand to ensure the

market competitiveness of the product.

To minimize the risk of obsolete stock, the Group screen suppliers
thoroughly and only use suppliers approved by procurement
department. They select suppliers based on the quality of
raw materials that they supply as well as their experience,
management expertise and reputation in the market. They also
inspect each batch of incoming raw materials on a sampling basis
to ensure that the raw materials are supplied by the approved
suppliers, and that the quality, grade and quantity conform with

the order specifications
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BEEENWE DM

Production

All of the production activities performed at the production
plant located at Ailingkan Village, Dalingshan Town, Dongguan,
Guangdong Province, the PRC. Our factory production maximum
capacity is approximately 5 million units per year, depends on
the production complexity of the products. The Group carry out
inspection of the production facilities and equipment on regular
basis to ensure that the production lines operate smoothly. The
Group currently has 15 full time employees to maintain the
operations of the factory. Depends on the customers’ orders
received, the Group may employ part time employees to assist the
production. The Group provide training to both new and current
employees. The Board believe that the production personnel,
coupled with well-maintained production facilities, will continue

to play a pivotal role in the future of the Group'’s business.

As of 31 December 2024, the carrying amount of the plant and
machinery is approximately HK$Nil (2023: HK$Nil). According
to the accounting policy adopted by the Group, the plant
and machinery are depreciated to write off their cost over
their estimated useful lives, i.e., 5-10 years, on a straight-line
basis. As such, as the Group commence the operation since
2011 as mentioned above, most of the plant and machinery is
fully depreciated as they have been used for longer than their

estimated useful lives.

Assembling

Once the parts has been produced by the Group and those
which produced by third parties, it will undergo three steps
which are done manually before the medical devices is produced.
The manual process involves the following steps: (i) the parts
produced by third parties is first tested by the production team
for its quality including but not limited to whether there are
any size or colour variation; (i) inserting the parts to the shell
of the medical devices (the shapes of which are specified by
the customers) based on the prototypes; and lastly (iii) after
assembling, the production team will undergo testing on the

medical devices before they are being pack.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Quality Control

As mentioned above, the Group place considerable emphasis
on the consistent quality of the products. The Group have
implemented quality assurance measures at different production
stages to ensure the product quality. In general, the customers
would take the responsibility to understand the safety
standards of the countries which they would further sell to and
communicate with the sales team clearly about the details of the
relevant product and product safety requirements that have to be
achieved. According to the agreed terms between the Group and
the customers, the Group only has the responsibility to ensure
the product is able to meet the requirements requested by the

customers.

Packaging

The products will be packaged by third parties according to the
designs provided and agreed by the customers. The packaging
materials are provided by the customers and delivered to the
warehouse. The service provider assigned by the customers will

then package the products and arrange for delivery.

Delivery

The Group are only responsible for the delivery up to the
designated location agreed by the customers. The Group
outsource the delivery of products to third party logistics providers
who are mainly responsible to transport the products from the
warehouse to the locations designated by the customers. These
outsourcing arrangements allow us to minimise the Group's
capital investment. The Group do not take out insurance policy
to cover the risks associated with shipping transportation because
the Group are not responsible for any damage or loss of the

products during the shipment to the customers.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BEEENWE DM

Customers

The following table sets forth for the year ended 31 December 2024, the
breakdown of revenue generated by the major customers in the Medical

Products Business:

EF

TREIBE_ZT_MF+_HA=+—HIF
B REE %Euu%ﬁix%ﬁéiﬁ’]”&)\ﬂﬁiﬂi

HK$'000

FAET

Customer A ZPA 11,025
Customer B %78 1,080
Others Hity 13,461
Total revenue for Medical Products Business BEEDEBBEKA 25,566
Customer A engaged in the e-commerce business, information ZEFEARFENEE TFRESER (E88EMH:

technology consultation, sales of products (including but not limited to

prepaid cards, electronic devices) in the PRC.
Customer B engaged in the retail business in the PRC.

Prospect of the Medical Products Business

According to the survey published by International Diabetes Federation
(the "IDF") in 2021, 10.5% of the adult population (20-79 years)
has diabetes, with almost half unaware that they are living with
the condition. By 2045,
approximately 783 million, will be living with diabetes, an increase of
46%.
million people in the PRC has diabetes in 2021.

IDF projections show that 1 in 8 adults,

IDF also report that they estimate there are approximately 140
As such, the Board
believe that the market demand of lancet piping parts and devices
remain stable. Due to the keen competition in the industry, in terms of
the selling prices, quality and also the credit terms offer by competitors,
the Group should continue to focus on the medical product development
on the quality and increase the products and service portfolio which in
turn to increase the revenue stream of the Medical Products Business.
To be more competitive in the industry, the Board should consider to
expand the service team and upgrade the equipment and moulding to
enhance the quality of the products. As healthcare systems recover from
the impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic, there is likely to be an increased
demand for medical products due to heightened awareness of health
and wellness, the Board considered that the revenue to be generated
from epidemic prevention related products and solutions would remain

stable in coming years.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Plastic Products

The revenue from the Plastic Products increased by 66.7% or HK$0.4
million to HK$1.0 million, as compared to HK$0.6 million in the previous
year, which accounted for 2.7% of the Group’s total revenue for the year
under review. A majority of plastic moulding products have suffered from
declined sales orders as relevant customers’ end products have reached
the end of their product life cycle, causing continuous decline in revenue
of the Plastic Products during the year under review. In view of this,
the Group has ceased the production of the majority of those products
which contributed a relatively low gross profit margin, and has only been
accepting small number of production orders of mould fabrication and

some products, which have a relatively higher gross profit margin.

Segment results of the Plastic Products suffered a loss of approximately
HK$1,546,000 in 2024 which increased by HK$717,000, as compared to
loss of approximately HK$829,000 for the corresponding year of 2023.

Building Contract Works Business

During the year ended 31 December 2023, ACE Engineering Limited (“ACE
Engineering”) suspended the operation. ACE Engineering is a registered
contractor in several government/public organisations and only registered
contractors are eligible to obtain contracts from these government bodies,
the contractor registrations was not able to renewal during the year ended
31 December 2023, therefore the operations had been suspended. The
directors of the Company are in view that the building contract works
business had been abandoned and discontinued during the year ended
31 December 2023. During the year ended 31 December 2024, ACE

Engineering is disposed.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BEEENWE DM

Money Lending

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group recorded loan interest
income of HK$11.2 million from its Money Lending, representing a
decrease of HK$0.6 million or 5.1% as compared to HK$11.8 million
for the previous year, which accounted for 29.7% of the Group’s total
revenue for the year under review. Segment profit of the Money Lending
amounted to HK$7.3 million (2023: profit of HK$14.7 million). The
Group will continue to develop this business by employing prudent
credit control procedures and strategies to hold a balance between the

business growth and the risk management.

The Group’s money lending business is operated by an indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, JS Finance Limited (“JS Finance”)
which is a licensed money lender in Hong Kong under the Money
Lenders Ordinance (Chapter 163 of the Laws of Hong Kong). The Group
earns interest income through providing loans to customers, including
individuals, private and listed companies by using internal resources
of the Group. Customers are usually from referrals from the business
network and connections of the Group, including but not limited to
customers and suppliers. Before granting loans to potential customers,
the Group performs credit assessment process to assess the potential
borrowers’ credit quality individually and defines the credit limits
granted to the borrowers. The credit assessment process encompasses
detailed assessment on the credit history, i.e. any bankruptcy record, and
financial background of the borrowers, such as the repayment ability
as well as the value and characteristics of the collaterals to be pledged,
if any. Collaterals are required if the result of the credit assessment
of the potential borrowers is not satisfactory. The credit limit of loans
successfully granted to the borrowers will be subject to regular credit
review by the management as part of the ongoing loan monitoring
process. The day-to-day operation of the money lending business is
mainly handled by the director of JS Finance, while all loan applications

are subject to final review and approval by the Board.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Under the ongoing economic impacts of COVID-19, in order to lower
default ratio of the loan borrowing, JS Finance has reviewed and flexibly
adjusted the business strategies, which is to enhance the requirements
of the loan granted to the borrowers. For example, the borrowers have
to provide the asset proof or income proof to prove they have the
ability to repay the loan. As the requirements of the loan granted to the
borrowers are higher and the risk for the loan borrowings are lower, the

related interest rate will become lower.

Despite there are difficulties in repayment by customers caused by the
economic impacts of COVID-19 and the Group put efforts to collect the
repayment, there was a net impairment losses arising from expected
credit losses and write-off on loan and interest receivables in the
amount of approximately HK$3.0 million (2023: reversal of impairment
loss recognised of approximately HK$5.5 million) and approximately
HKS$Nil million (2023: HK$Nil million) respectively for the year ended
31 December 2024. Despite such difficulties, the Group will continue
putting efforts in the collection procedure of loan receivables. The
impairment losses recognised for the year ended 31 December 2024 is
the sum of the impairment loss from impairment assessment on principal
and interest calculated by independent professional valuer, which
considered several factors including but not limited to (1) probability of

default; (2) loss given default; and (3) forward looking factor.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group received 71
applications for loan renewals, all of which were successfully approved
and renewed. Among the successful renewed loans, all of it had been
expired during the year and the borrower had expressed its intention to
renew the loan. Based on this, the management of the Group had gone
through the credit assessment procedures before entering into of the

loan renewal agreement.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BEEENWE DM

For the loan portfolio as at 31 December 2024, the principal amount
of the loans ranged from approximately HK$0.1 million to HK$10.0
million with interest rates ranging from 4.0% to 12.0% per annum
and mature within 1 year. During the year ended 31 December 2024,
the loan portfolio has 71 borrowers, which comprised of 69 individual
customers and 2 corporate customers, and all of the Group’s net loan
and interest receivables were unsecured. As at 31 December 2024,
the net amount of loan and interest receivables due from the largest
borrower was approximately HK$4.5 million, being approximately 6%
to the net loan and interest receivables of the Group. The net amount
of loan and interest receivables due from the five largest borrowers (in
aggregation with loans granted to persons connected with each other (if
any)) was approximately 25.9% of the net loan and interest receivables
of the Group. The five largest borrowers were individuals, all of which
were third parties independent of the Company and its connected
persons (as defined in the Listing Rules). Further details of the loan and
interest receivables are set out in Note 22 to the consolidated financial

statements in the Annual Report.

All loans and loan agreements under the Group’s money lending business
have been granted and approved in accordance with the Money Lending
Guidelines (“Guidelines”) and the Money Lending Procedure Manual
("Procedure Manual”) of JS Finance. The Guidelines provide the policies
to be observed by JS Finance for its money lending business, and set out
the objective for the money lending business is to earn interest income
to generate profits for JS Finance whilst avoiding incurrence of bad
debts. The Guidelines also provide references or specific requirements
for setting of interest rates of the loan, the tenure of the loan and
the credit assessment and approval process of each loan. Each loan
application will be considered and approved by the Board on a case by
case basis. The Board will usually take into account of the applicant’s
creditability, reputation, financial status, the value of the security (if any),
the applicant’s past repayment record with JS Finance, and the proposed
tenure, principal amount and interest rate of the loan to consider
whether a loan application will be approved and whether a security/

guarantee is needed or adequate for a loan.

AMCO UNITED HOLDING LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024

BR_ZEZWEF+_A=+—HNEREEM
BHASEN T #1100,000% 7T 210,000,000
BT FEFENT40%E12.0% KRR —F RN
“WE+ZA=+—HILEFE &
REAENRERAN (BEOREANEP K24
RAEP) RAEEMAEWER LT B FTHEY
AEEF R -_T_WF+_A=1+—8 EK
FARBIRA Z U E R FSFFEA) /4,500,000
BT A RAEE BB ER LT SIFERIE%
FEU RIS RA 2 PR E 0 B F B0F 88 (B3R

m||

FTRUEHEEAEBHOALTOER (NE) a0ETE)
MRAEBERKEREAN B FEN259% AKX

ERARBEA 2B RBIRAR R RHEREE

T(EERETRADME=F -BRERR
FEME—SHBIRTFRFOEEFHRE
PisE22 o

AEBBEEB T2 AERRERGHE DR
R EMBONEEES ([ESl) REERFF
MRRFFMDED R E BB EREH
R EWEEBEE TR - B AREEL
B EIZARDA S WAL ARETHELFE
(7] BeF 38 00 AE AR o Wb AN - PRSI T E AR MR
E ERHRREFEERNERTHRERER
RET2ZEHARER - ZSHERBBHILES
EREEEME - EEERT A RBEBAN
ER-BE BBAR BHEE(WE) BHE
ANEEEHBHOHBEENRDS URERNERE
HR ASBERFIRAEEZTUESRAD
REFEHRR BRREEBVERFTR -



Management Discussion and Analysis

The Procedure Manual provides the procedures to be observed by JS
Finance for granting and thereafter monitoring the repayment of the
loans. In brief, the intending borrower first fills in an application form
or the intending borrower communicates in person with the officer of
JS Finance. The officer will then collect documents from the intending
borrower for client identification and verification, and has to confirm/
enquire if the borrower is a connected person of the Group (as defined
in the Listing Rules). The application form will then be reviewed and/or
approved by any one director of JS Finance. The senior management will
draft the loan documents in accordance with the terms specified in the
approved application form. The responsible officer of the loan application
will prepare the Memorandum for Credit Analysis (“Memorandum”)
which contains the proposed terms of the loan application, the
background information of the borrower and the analysis of the
credit risks and security. The draft loan documents together with the
Memorandum will be passed to the Board for final approval. Based on
the information in the Memorandum, the Board makes a conclusion on
the credit risk assessment of the customer. Once the loan is approved
and granted, the responsible officer has to perform ongoing monitoring
review of the loan at least yearly or in a more frequent manner
depending on individual circumstances, i.e. whether repayment on time,
or market condition, i.e. change in economic conditions, and to report
the status of the loan repayment monthly and immediately report to the

Directors if any default repayment is noted.

For secured loan, during the loan monitoring process, where the
responsible officer notice that the value of the collateral is considered
to be insufficient to cover its risk exposure or that the actual loan-to-
value ratio with respect to any loan advanced has reached or exceed an
accepted ratio, JS Finance may require the borrower to deposit additional
collateral and/or security, partially repay the outstanding loan or realise
the value of the collateral in order to bring the loan-to-value ratio back

to an accepted level.

For unsecured loan, the responsible officer should conduct annual review
or in a more frequent manner depending on individual circumstances or
market condition and to report the status of the loan repayment monthly
and immediately report to the Directors if any default repayment is noted
on each loan which remains outstanding and if the responsible officer
notice that there is a material deterioration, in the client’s financial
position i.e. failure to make the repayment on time, JS Finance may
require repayment from its client after reporting to its management who
monitor the risk level.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BEEENWE DM

The Directors became aware that the balances were not collectible when
(i) they were notified by the responsible officer of JS Finance who was
under a duty to report to the Directors whenever there was any default
repayment of a loan; and (ii) reviewing the results of the assessment
of the credit risk of accounts and loan and interest receivables; the
Group has a policy for assessing the credit risk of accounts and loan and
interest receivables, and the assessment was based on a close monitoring
and evaluation of collectability and on management’s judgement,
including the ageing analysis of receivables, the current creditworthiness,
account executives concentration analysis, collateral distribution and

concentration analysis and the past collection history of each client, etc.

Generally, if the debt is overdue for 3 months, JS Finance will issue
reminder letter to the customer and if the debt is overdue for more than

6 months, JS Finance will consider to take legal action, if necessary.

The money lending business is governed by the Money Lenders
Ordinance (Chapter 163 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and JS Finance have

fully complied with the applicable laws and regulations.

Securities Investment

During the year under review, the Group recorded realised and unrealised
loss of HK$1.8 million (2023: loss of HK$8.5 million) arising on change
in fair value of held-for-trading investments of listed equity securities in
Hong Kong for the year ended 31 December 2024. No dividend income
was received from the held-for-trading investments during the year under
review (2023: nil). Segment loss of the Securities Investment amounted

to HK$1.8 million (2023: loss of HK$8.8 million).

As at 31 December 2024, the Group held 29 listed equity securities in
Hong Kong with the fair value of HK$59.4 million. In light of the recent
volatile financial market in Hong Kong, the Group intends to diversify
its investment portfolio in order to reduce the relevant concentration
and investment risks and will closely monitor the performance of this
business. The Group will keep adopting a prudent investment attitude
and develop its investment strategy with the aim to improve the capital
usage efficiency and generate additional investment returns on the idle

funds of the Group.
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EEENWE DM
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Details of the Group’s top investment, in terms of fair value as at 31

December 2024, are as follows:

% of Fair value % of
shareholding loss for the Fair value total assets of
as at year ended as at  the Group as at
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2024 2024 2024 2024
'z HAREE
BR —EBo@mE R-Z-@mE
—Z-@mE +=ZA=t+-H R-Z-@m&E +=-A=t+-H
+=A=+—-AH t¥Ez +=ZA=t-H CEERE
Company Name/Stock Code DRABE BRHERE ZREBDL DNAEEER ZDREE BAk
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FAET
Securities listed in Hong Kong EBLETES
WLS Holdings Limited (“WLS") (8021)  EREZERAEMR AR ([ERE])
(Note (a) and (b)) (8021) (Miat(a) k) 1.4% 394 6,902 4.3%
Notes: B it -
(a) WLS is principally engaged in the provision of scaffolding and  (a) EREFENERMUBERBETRMAES

fitting out services and other services for construction and buildings
work, provision of gondolas, parapet railings and access equipment
installation and maintenance services, money lending business,
securities investment business and assets management business.
As disclosed in the interim report of WLS for the six months ended
31 October 2024, it recorded unaudited net profit from continuing
operations attributable to its owners of HK$30.5 million for the six
months ended 31 October 2024. With regards to the future prospects
of WLS, the Directors noted that WLS remains cautiously optimistic
about overall prospects for its scaffolding sector. WLS will continue
to promote the use of the “Pik Lik"” brand scaffolding system to help
improve overall efficiency while boosting the revenue and market
share of its scaffolding services division. WLS will also continue to
focus on those business segments that generate higher profit margins
and show ample growth potential such as money lending operations.
In the meantime, WLS will strictly adhere to its cost control policy, and
swiftly adjust business strategies to its scaffolding business in response
to ever-changing market dynamics in order to generate better financial

returns for its shareholders.
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The Group's investment strategy is to deliver a diversified and flexible
investment portfolio that will maximize sustained long-term returns
and strive to achieve high growth, while the traditional business of the
Group will continue its stable growth.

The Group's total investment in WLS was approximately HK$45.5
million. As at 31 December 2024, the Group owned 197,200,000
shares of WLS, representing 1.4% equity interests in WLS with a
carrying amount of the Group's interest in WLS of approximately
HK$6.9 million, representing approximately 4.3% of the total assets of
the Company as at 31 December 2024. Up to 31 December 2024, no
dividends was received from WLS. The fair value of WLS is based on
quoted market prices.

Save as disclosed above, none of these investments represented more
than 5% of the total assets of the Group as at 31 December 2024.

Looking ahead, the Directors believe that the future performance of the

above investments held by the Group will be volatile and substantially

affected by overall economic environment, equity market conditions,

investor sentiment and the business performance and development of

the investee companies. Accordingly, the Group will continue to maintain

a diversified portfolio of investment of various industries to minimise

the possible financial risks. Also, the Directors will cautiously assess the

performance progress of the investment portfolio from time to time.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Capital structure

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’'s consolidated net assets was
HK$60.1 million, representing a decrease of HK$1.3 million as compared

to that of HK$61.4 million as at 31 December 2023.

As at 31 December 2024, the Company has 967,551,792 ordinary shares
of HK$0.05 each in issue.

Debt structure

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group's total borrowings
from financial institutions were zero. The Group's total cash and bank
balances amounted to HK$4.6 million as at 31 December 2024, which
decreased HK$3.1 million as compared to that of HK$7.7 million as at

31 December 2023.

As at 31 December 2024, the Company had bond payables of HK$30.9
million which represented unlisted bonds issued to independent third

parties.

The Group's gearing ratio was 43.8% as at 31 December 2024 (31
December 2023: 37.8%). The ratio was determined by net debt, which
was defined as total interest-bearing liabilities comprising bond payables

less cash and cash equivalents, over shareholders’ equity.

Working capital and liquidity

As at 31 December 2024, the Group's current ratio was 2.3 (31
December 2023: 2.2).
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Contingent liabilities and charges

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group had not pledged any
assets to secure bank facilities and other borrowings. The Group had no

material contingent liabilities as at 31 December 2024 and 2023.

Foreign currency exposure

The Group's monetary assets, liabilities and transactions are mainly
denominated in United States dollars, Renminbi and Hong Kong dollars.
Since Hong Kong dollars are pegged to United States dollars and the
exchange rate of Renminbi to Hong Kong dollars was relatively stable
during the year, the Group's exposure to the potential foreign currency

risk was relatively limited.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 December 2024, the Group's employees number was 30 (31
December 2023: 30). The Group’s employees are remunerated largely
based on their performance and experience, alongside with the current
industry practices. Remuneration packages of employees include
salaries, insurance, mandatory provident fund and share option scheme.
Other employee benefits include medical cover, housing allowance and

discretionary bonuses.
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Profile of Directors and Senior Management

DIRECTORS
Executive Directors

Mr. JIA Minghui, aged 34, joined the Company as an Executive Director
on 30 September 2016. He was appointed as the Chairman of the
Company on 5 October 2023. He is the Vice President of Zhongminjinda
Investment Management Limited and also the Vice President and
Executive Director of Zhongminjinda International Investment
Management Limited. He obtained a Master Degree of Development
Economics from the School of Oriental and African Studies, University
of London, United Kingdom in 2013. Mr. Jia has extensive experience
in the international finance and project management. He had been
working in the financial conglomerate in the People's Republic of China
and responsible for client’s project management, projects merger and

acquisition activities.

Mr. ZHANG Hengxin, aged 41, joined the Company as an Executive
Director on 6 September 2016. He was appointed as the Managing
Director of the Company and the chairman of the nomination committee
of the Company (“Nomination Committee”) on 31 January 2017 and a
member of the remuneration committee of the Company (“Remuneration
Committee”) on 1 January 2017. Mr. Zhang is also a director of certain
subsidiaries of the Company. He obtained a Bachelor Degree in Human
Resources Management from Huazhong Agricultural University in
2006 and Master Degree of Arts in Industrial Relations and Personnel
Management from The University of Warwick, United Kingdom in
2007. Mr. Zhang has over 10 years of experience in human resources

management in different industries.
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Profile of Directors and Senior Management

EERSREBRASEHN

DIRECTORS (continued)
Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. AU YEUNG Ming Yin Gordon, aged 49, joined the Company as
an Independent Non-executive Director on 15 March 2018. He was
appointed as the chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of
the Remuneration Committee on 15 March 2018. Mr. Au Yeung is the
company secretary of Values Cultural Investment Limited (stock code:
1740) since June 2019, the company secretary of Dadi International
Group Limited (stock code: 8130) since February 2023, the company
secretary of Fujing Holdings Co., Limited (stock code: 2497) since March
2024. He is also the company secretary of Cocoon Holdings Limited
(stock code: 428) since February 2019. He currently is a partner of a
CPA firm. He was the company secretary of China Finance Investment
Holdings Limited (stock code: 875) from May 2019 to December 2024,
and was the chief financial officer and company secretary of Huge
China Holdings Limited (now known as Cocoon Holdings Limited) since
May 2015 until August 2017. He was also the company secretary of
On Real International Holdings Limited (stock code: 8245) since August
2017 until February 2019, the company secretary of Success Dragon
International Holdings Limited (stock code: 1182) since October 2017
until September 2019, the company secretary of L & A International
Holdings Limited (now known as Legendary Group Limited) (stock
code: 8195) since November 2019 until August 2020. Since May 2000,
Mr. Au Yeung held management positions in an accounting team
in ASR Logistics Holdings Limited (now known as Beijing Sports and
Entertainment Industry Group Limited) (stock code: 1803) until January
2015. He has over 20 years of experience in the areas of accounting,

taxation, finance and auditing.

Mr. Au Yeung is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. He obtained a degree in Bachelor of Business
(Business Administration) from the RMIT University in Australia and a
post-graduate diploma in Professional Accounting from the Hong Kong

Baptist University.
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Profile of Directors and Senior Management

DIRECTORS (continued)
Independent Non-executive Directors (continued)

Mr. GUO Zhenhui, aged 61, joined the Company as an Independent
Non-executive Director on 15 March 2018. He was appointed as a
member of each of the Audit Committee and Nomination Committee
on 15 March 2018. Mr. Guo held managerial positions of companies
incorporated in the People’s Republic of China which engage in
manufacturing electronic parts. He has over 35 years of experience in

manufacturing and management.

Ms. YE Mengmei, aged 34, joined the Company as an Independent
Non-executive Director on 27 June 2023. She is currently an operating
director of a sizable e-commerce corporation in the People’s Republic
of China. She obtained a degree in Bachelor of Business English from
Shanghai Jian Qiao University. Ms. Ye has solid business networks and
years of management experience in the e-commerce, marketing and

public relationship business.
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Corporate Governance Report

ERERRE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The board of Directors (the “Board”) has always recognised the importance
of shareholders’ accountability and transparency and is committed to
maintaining high standards of corporate governance. The Company has
complied with all code provisions of the Corporate Governance Code ("CG
Code”) throughout the year ended 31 December 2024 as set out in Appendix
14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”), except

for certain deviations disclosed herein.

DIRECTORS' SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code”) set out in Appendix 10 to the
Listing Rules as the code of conduct regarding securities transactions by
its Directors. Having made specific enquiry, all Directors have confirmed
that they have fully complied with the required standard set out in the
Model Code during the year ended 31 December 2024.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of the Group and
oversees the Group's businesses, strategic decisions and performance.
The Board has delegated the day-to-day responsibility to the Executive
Directors and senior management who perform their duties under the

leadership of the Managing Director.

The Board currently consists of two Executive Directors, namely, Mr. Jia
Minghui (Chairman of the Company) and Mr. Zhang Hengxin (Managing
Director of the Company); and three Independent Non-executive
Directors, namely, Ms. Ye Mengmei, Mr. Au Yeung Ming Yin Gordon and

Mr. Guo Zhenhui.
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Corporate Governance Report

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

The Board schedules at least four regular meetings a year and also meets
as and when required. During the year, the Board held five meetings.
The company secretary of the Company (“Company Secretary”) assisted
the Chairman and the Executive Directors in establishing the meeting
agenda, and each Director was able to request inclusion of items in
the agenda. All such meetings were convened in accordance with
the bye-laws of the Company (“Bye-laws”). During the year, notice
of at least 14 days should be given of a regular board meeting to
give all directors an opportunity to attend. Adequate and appropriate
information are circulated to the Directors normally three days in
advance of Board meetings or such period accepted by them. In addition
to regular Board meetings, the Chairman of the Board held a meeting
with the Independent Non-executive Directors without the presence of

other Director during the year.

Minutes of all Board and committees meetings are kept by the Company
Secretary and are open for inspection by the Directors. Draft minutes
of all Board and committees meetings are circulated to all Directors and
committees members for comments within the period accepted by them

after each meeting.
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ERERRE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

During the year, the Board at all times met the requirements under
Rule 3.10 of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of at least
three independent non-executive directors with at least one of them
possessing appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or

related financial management expertise.
All Independent Non-executive Directors are appointed for specific term.

The Company has received annual confirmations of independence from
each of the Independent Non-executive Directors pursuant to Rule 3.13

of the Listing Rules and considers them to be independent.

Given the nature and business objective of the Company, the Board
has a balance of skill and experience appropriate for the requirements
of the business of the Company. The list of current Directors and their
respective biographies are set out on pages 31 to 33 of this annual

report.

Pursuant to Bye-law 87 of the Bye-laws, one-third of the Directors
shall retire by rotation at each annual general meeting of the Company
("AGM") provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement at
the AGM at least once every three years. All retiring Directors shall be

eligible for re-election.

The Board members have no financial, business, family or other material/
relevant relationships with each other. Such balanced Board composition
is formed to ensure strong independence exists across the Board and has
more than one-third in number of its members comprising Independent

Non-executive Directors.

All Directors have given sufficient time and attention to the affairs of the
Group. Each Executive Director is suitably qualified for his position, and
has sufficient experience to hold the position so as to carry out his duties

effectively and efficiently.
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TEEREE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued) %%g(%)

The attendance of each individual Director at the Board meetings, and &EARIEEHFEEESEZ LN T _MEX
the general meeting held on 24 June 2024 are as follow: AZTHBETZRERGZIERAT

Attended/Eligible to attend

HE/SERLE

Board meetings  General meeting
Executive Directors HITES BEEEE; RRXE
Mr. Jia Minghui (Chairman) BRELELE (FE) 5/5 11
Mr. Zhang Hengxin (Managing Director) — RS &5 (E FARACHE) 5/5 1/1
Independent Non-executive Directors BUFBHITES
Mr. Au Yeung Ming Yin Gordon BRFS 88 B T A& 5/5 1/1
Mr. Guo Zhenhui WHEELE 5/5 171
Ms. Ye Mengmei E2xut 5/5 1/1
Directors’ Training and Continuous Professional EERIIRGESERRE

Development

The Company provides regular updates on the business performance ARREHMEZFHAEE 2 EHREER -
FERGAR ETRAREMEREER

HBERER AERNTAREFRIFEZE

7N
of the Group to the Directors. The Directors are continually updated on E %
the latest development regarding the Listing Rules and other applicable &2
statutory requirements to ensure compliance and upkeeping of good

corporate governance practices.

The Directors are encouraged to participate in continuing professional ZAAFIEEEELRMEFEHEERRE  UBREL T
development to develop and refresh knowledge and skills. The Company i H &zt & 5L AE o AN A &R 17 55 7)1 50 85 B LA #37 B
has maintained a training record in order to assist the Directors to record = B8k SHMARE 2 23| WE BKEHIRF
the training that they have undertaken and they are asked to submit a RZANA AR FIFEE% -

training record to the Company on annual basis.
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TEEREE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Directors’ Training and Continuous Professional
Development (continued)

During the year, each of the individual Directors has attended training
courses or seminars or read materials relevant to his professional and/or

duties as Director.

The individual training record of each Director received for the year

ended 31 December 2024 is summarised below:

BEE®(s)
BEERIINEESERE &)

G SENEFOSNEREER REAE
%20 E ARG 2 R AR ST T & o B AT
B

BEWIEEERE_Z_NFE+_A=+—8H
IEFE 2 ERIEHI SR T -

Course/Seminar
provided/

accredited by Reading
professional body materials
HERBRMGE

Executive Directors HTES RAZRE g BEER
Mr. Jia Minghui (Chairman) BERELELE (FE) - v
Mr. Zhang Hengxin REBEE - v
Independent Non-executive Directors BIYIFHTES
Ms. Ye Mengmei E2EXxut - v
Mr. Au Yeung Ming Yin Gordon B 5 65 B e v -
Mr. Guo Zhenhui P % - v
All Directors also understand the importance of continuous professional ZREEZNABEEHEERR 2 EZN  YHH
development and they are committed to participating any suitable A2 E{E R4 B 15 DA B R I 3 3116 5 2 Aa
training to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. &I
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)
Corporate Governance Functions

The Board is also responsible for performing the corporate governance

duties as set out below:

(@) To develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on

corporate governance,

(b) To review and monitor the training and continuous professional

development of Directors and senior management;

(c) To review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on

compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(d) To develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to Directors and employees;

and

(e) To review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and

disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

Directors’ and Officers’ Liability Insurance and
Indemnity

To indemnify Directors and officers of the Company against all costs,
charges, losses, expenses and liabilities incurred by them in the execution
of and discharge of their duties or in relation thereto, the Company has

arranged insurance cover for this purpose.

TRERRE

EEE (2
TEERRAE

EEeNEERTUTHEZCERERRE:
(@) HIERBIARBZEEEOBRRER:
b) BAREREERSREBAEZEIR

FEEXER:
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TEEREE

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee was established with a specific written
terms of reference. The terms of reference of the Remuneration
Committee are available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the

Company.

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for making
recommendations to the Board on, among other things, the Company’s
policy and structure for the remuneration of all Directors and senior
management of the Company. No individual director is involved
in decisions relating to his own remuneration. The Remuneration
Committee has adopted the model under code provision B.1.2(c)(ii)
of the CG Code to make recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration packages of individual Executive Directors and senior

management.

The Remuneration Committee comprises three Directors, a majority of
whom are Independent Non-executive Directors. During the year, the

Remuneration Committee held one meeting.

The members of the Remuneration Committee and the attendance of

each member during the year are as follows:

yMWEES

ARABRUFMEER YRHUKEER
B 0L - N B O B TR
RAR T BHEN -

YMEZEgRENESEREAE (AP B
BIRARRMAEERRBREBAEBTMZ
AARBREREBEZEZZ HEANES2H
ETHEAFZFH FMEEEERMNCEE
A SF B2 SFRIMESTEB. . 2() (Pt 2 R = -
HRERRTEERSREEABZFHEER
EreRNEH-

YHMEEeh=—REFER BERAZBABY
FRTEE-FN FMNERESET - RE&H-

FR FHEEEXNEREKB 2HERRNAT

Attended/
Eligible to attend
Independent Non-executive Directors BUFHITES HE/ EEEEE
Mr. Au Yeung Ming Yin Gordon (Chairman) BB B L () ”n
Ms. Ye Mengmei HEaExat 11
Executive Director HITES
Mr. Zhang Hengxin RF&EE 71

During the year, the Remuneration Committee performed the following

duties:
—  reviewed and recommended the remuneration packages of the

Executive Directors and senior management for the year ended

31 December 2024.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee was established with a specific written terms
of reference in compliance with the CG Code. The terms of reference of
the Nomination Committee are available on the websites of the Stock

Exchange and the Company.

The Nomination Committee is responsible for reviewing the structure,
size and diversity of the Board at least annually and making
recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board to complement
the Company’s corporate strategy, identifying individuals suitably
qualified to become Board members and assessing the independence of

Independent Non-executive Directors.

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy (“Board Diversity Policy”)
which set outs the approach to achieve diversity on the Board. The
Company recognises and embraces the benefits of having a diverse
Board to enhance the quality of its performance. In designing the Board's
composition, Board diversity is considered from a number of aspects with
reference to the Company’s business model and specific needs, including
but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background,
ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service.
All Board appointments will be based on meritocracy, and candidates
will be considered against objective criteria, having due regard for the

benefits of diversity on the Board.
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TEEREE

NOMINATION COMMITTEE (continued)

The Board has also adopted a Directors’ nomination policy (“Nomination
Policy”) which sets out the criteria and nomination procedures on the
appointment of Directors. According to the Nomination Policy, the
ultimate responsibility for selection and appointment of Directors rests
with the entire Board or Shareholders in general meeting, as the case
may be. The Board has delegated the relevant screening and evaluation
process to the Nomination Committee, which identifies suitably qualified
candidates and recommends them to the Board. In assessing the
suitability of the proposed candidate, the Nomination Committee takes
into consideration the candidate’s character and integrity, qualifications
including professional qualifications, skills, knowledge and experience
relevant to the Company's business and corporate strategy, willingness
and ability to devote sufficient time and attention to the Board,
fulfilment of the independence requirements as set out in the Listing
Rules (for Independent Non-executive Directors) and diversity on the
Board under the Board Diversity Policy. After reaching its decision, the
Nomination Committee nominates relevant Director candidates to the
Board for approval or for consideration and recommendation in respect
of re-appointment of retiring Directors, for the proposed candidates
to stand for re-election at a general meeting. The Board will have the
final decision relating to its appointment of candidates as Directors or
recommendation of candidates to stand for re-election as Directors at

general meeting.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE (continued)

The Nomination Committee comprises three Directors, a majority of
whom are Independent Non-executive Directors. During the year, the

Nomination Committee held one meeting.

The members of the Nomination Committee and the attendance of each

member during the year are as follows:

TRERRE

RBREZEES (2

REZESH-REFAEK ETARZERBYL
FRTEF-FR RLEZBERT - REH-

REZEERBREKEZHEBRAT

Attended/
Eligible to attend
Executive Director HITES HE BB HE
Mr. Zhang Hengxin (Chairman) KREEEE (FE) 171
Independent Non-executive Directors BUFHITES
Mr. Guo Zhenhui SMEA B 5L A 1/1
Ms. Ye Mengmei ¥2xut 1/1

During the year, the Nomination Committee performed the following

duties:

(@) reviewed the structure, size and diversity (including without
limitation, gender, age, cultural and educational background,
ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of

service) of the Board;

(b) assessed the independence of the Independent Non-executive

Directors;

(c) reviewed the Nomination Policy and the Board Diversity Policy and

monitored their implementation; and

(d) made recommendations to the Board on the retiring Directors for

re-election at the AGM for 2024.
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ERERRE

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee was established with a specific written terms of
reference. The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are available

on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

The Audit Committee is responsible for reviewing and supervising the
financial reporting process and risk management and internal control

systems of the Group and providing advice and comments to the Board.

The Audit Committee comprises three Independent Non-executive
Directors,

Ms. Ye Mengmei and Mr. Guo Zhenhui.

namely Mr. Au Yeung Ming Yin Gordon (Chairman),
During the year, the Audit

Committee held two meetings.

The members of the Audit Committee and the attendance of each

member during the year are as follows:

BEREES

ARRERVEZZRG YCAIVEFEEER
BEE BLZEEZBEKEAIRNBR

AR EMBUER -

f

palll}

ERZERRERN RERAERZHBRE
BrEEEAREZENRABEESE YRAEEE
RUEBER M-

VA TESZERG
Tt RFBEELE

B oW

FERIT -

Attended/
Eligible to attend
Independent Non-executive Directors BYEHITES HE EEEHE
Mr. Au Yeung Ming Yin Gordon (Chairman) BifZ 888 Sk (£/7) 2/2
Mr. Guo Zhenhui SRSENE ST A 2/2
Ms. Ye Mengmei HE2xL+ 2/2
During the year, the Audit Committee performed the following duties: FN - BEREZEGERITUTERE:
(@) reviewed with the auditor the audited financial statements for the (a) EZHBMEAREREEE T =+ A

year ended 31 December 2023 and reviewed the unaudited interim
financial statements for the six months ended 30 June 2024, with

recommendations to the Board for approval;

(b) reviewed report on risk management and internal control systems

covering financial, operational and compliance controls;

(c) reviewed the compliance issues with the regulatory and statutory

requirements;
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AUDIT COMMITTEE (continued)

(d) reviewed with the management of the Company the accounting

principles and practices adopted by the Group;

(e) considered the independent auditor's independence and fees in
relation to the audited financial statements for the year ended

31 December 2023; and

(fy reviewed and recommended to the Board the auditor’s

re-appointment and remuneration.

Mr. Au Yeung Ming Yin Gordon, chairman of the Audit Committee,
possesses appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise as required under Rule 3.21 of the

Listing Rules.

INVESTMENT AND MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

The investment and management committee of the Company
("Investment and Management Committee”) was established by the
Board with written terms of reference. The terms of reference are

available on the website of the Company.

The Investment and Management Committee is responsible for
managing and supervising daily operation of the Company, reviewing
and evaluating any proposed investment activities of the Company and
making recommendation to the Board on the transactions which the
percentage ratio equal to or higher than 5% according to the testing
result of the Listing Rules. It also monitors the investments of the Group.
The Investment and Management Committee comprises two Executive

Directors, namely Mr. Zhang Hengxin (Chairman) and Mr. Jia Minghui.

During the year, the Investment and Management Committee performed

the following duties:

— managed and supervised daily operation of the Company and

monitored investments of the Group.
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ERERRE

AUDITOR’'S REMUNERATION

The Group incurred fees and charges by the auditor, CCTH CPA Limited,

in respect of audit services during the year as follows:

REET I &

FA AKRERZERBAZBMPERES
AEAERARSNZER AT

Fees paid/payable

ot ENER
HK$'000
Services rendered REH R FHET
Audit services % EUR 75 440
ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT BEMREX
The Directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial ZEZAERBERAEIFMNEETHEHEEMHES

statements of the Group for the relevant accounting periods under
applicable statutory and regulatory requirements which give a true and
fair view of the state of affairs, the results of operations and the cash
flows of the Group.

months ended 30 June 2024 and for the year ended 31 December 2024,

In preparing the financial statements for the six

the Directors have adopted suitable accounting policies and applied them
in conformity with all applicable accounting standards and requirements.
The Directors have prepared the accounts for the reporting year on a
going concern basis.

The responsibility of the Company's external auditor, CCTH CPA
Limited, with respect to these financial statements are set out in the

“Independent Auditor’s Report” on pages 70 to 77 of this annual report.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board acknowledges its overall responsibility for the risk
management and internal control systems of the Group and reviewing
their effectiveness. Management is responsible for the design,
implementation and monitoring of such systems, while the Board which
delegated such duties and responsibilities to the Audit Committee,
oversees management in performing its duties on an ongoing basis. The
risk management and internal control systems are designed to assist in
the achievement of business objectives of the Group, safeguard assets
against unauthorised use or disposition, ensure proper maintenance of
accounting records for the provision of reliable financial information
for internal use or publication and ensure compliance with relevant
legislation and regulation. The risk management and internal control
systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure
to achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable, but not

absolute, assurance against material misstatement or loss.

Main Features of Risk Management and Internal
Control Systems

Risk Management System

The Group adopts a risk management system which manages the risk
associated with its business and operations. The system comprises risk

identification, risk evaluation and risk management.

The management is entrusted with duties to identify and communicate
risks associated with any activity, function or process within its scope
of responsibility and authority. Risks are evaluated by the Board and
management based on (i) the severity of the impact of the risks on the
Company'’s financial results; (ii) the probability that the risks will occur;

and (iii) the velocity or speed at which risks could occur.
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TEEREE

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

(continued)

Main Features of Risk Management and Internal
Control Systems (continued)

Risk Management System (continued)

BEEERANIPEEE 2

EREERABEERGAZIERH
(%)

EEEZEZRE (B)

Based on the risk evaluation, the Group will manage the risk as follows:

Risk elimination — management may identify and implement certain

changes or controls that in effect eliminate the risk entirely.

Risk mitigation — management may implement risk mitigation plan
designed to reduce the likelihood, velocity or severity of the risk to

an acceptable level.

Risk monitoring — accidents and other situations involving material
loss or near-loss will be investigated and properly documented as

part of the effort to manage risks.

Risk retention — management may decide that the risk rating is
low enough that the risk is at acceptable level and no action is
required. The risk will continue to be monitored as part of the risk
management program to ensure the level of risk does not increase

to an unacceptable level.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

(continued)

Main Features of Risk Management and Internal
Control Systems (continued)

Internal Control System

The Company has in place an internal control system which enables
the Group to achieve objectives regarding effectiveness and efficiency
of operations, reliability of financial reporting and compliance with
applicable laws and regulations. The key components of the internal

control system are shown as follow:

. Control environment — A set of standards, processes and structures
are established to provide the basis for carrying out internal control

across the Group.

o Risk assessment — A dynamic and iterative process is conducted for
identifying and analysing risks to achieve the Group’s objectives,

forming a basis for determining how risks should be managed.

e Control activities — Actions established by policies and procedures
to help ensure management mitigates risks in the achievement of

objectives of the Group are carried out.

o Information and communication - Internal and external
communication are made to provide the Group with the information

needed to carry out day-to-day controls.

o Monitoring - Ongoing and separate evaluations are conducted to
ascertain whether each component of internal control is present

and functioning.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

(continued)

Main Features of Risk Management and Internal
Control Systems (continued)

Internal Control System (continued)

In addition, the Company regulates the handling and dissemination of
inside information to ensure inside information remains confidential until
the disclosure of such information is appropriately approved, and the
dissemination of such information is efficiently and consistently made.
The Company has taken various procedures and measures to prevent
a breach of disclosure requirement, including arousing the awareness
to the Directors and employees to preserve confidentiality of inside
information and disseminating information to specified persons on a

need-to-know basis.

Internal Audit

The Company has not established an internal audit department and the
Directors are of the view that given the size, nature and complexity of
the business of the Group, it would be more cost effective to appoint an
independent internal control review advisor (“Internal Control Advisor”),
which is independent of the Group's daily operation and consists of
professional staff with relevant expertise, to perform the review on risk
management and internal control systems of the Group in order to meet

its needs.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

(continued)
Risk Management and Internal Control Review

The Board itself and through the Audit Committee and the Internal
Control Advisor has conducted an annual review on the effectiveness of
risk management and internal control systems of the Group, which cover
all material controls including financial, operational and compliance

controls.

The Internal Control Advisor has conducted interviews with relevant
staff members, reviewed relevant documentation of risk management
and internal control systems of the Group, evaluated findings of
any deficiencies in the systems and provided recommendations for
improvement. The scope and findings of review on the systems have
been reported to and reviewed by the Audit Committee, who has further

reported to the Board for its review at Board meeting.

In addition to the work of the Internal Control Advisor and review by the
Audit Committee, several areas have been considered during the Board’s
review, which include but not limited to (i) adequacy of resources, staff
qualifications and experience, training programmes and budget of the
Company's accounting and financial reporting functions; (ii) the changes
in the nature and extent of significant risks since the last annual review,
and the Group’s ability to respond to changes in its business and the
external environment; and (iii) the scope and quality of management’s

ongoing monitoring of risks and of the internal control systems.

As a result of the above review, the Board considers that the Group's risk
management and internal control systems are effective and adequate for

the year ended 31 December 2024.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Board recognises the importance of good communication with all
Shareholders. The AGM is a valuable avenue for the Board to enter
into direct dialogue with Shareholders. The Chairman of the Board and
the chairman of Board committees will attend the AGM to answer any
guestion. In addition, the Company will convene special general meeting
("SGM") to approve transaction and/or matter in accordance with the
Listing Rules and the corporate governance procedures of the Company.
These will provide further opportunities for Shareholders to comment

and vote on specific transaction and/or matter.

The interim and annual reports of the Company are despatched to
Shareholders in a timely manner before the time limits laid by statutory
and Listing Rules requirements to ensure effective communication with

Shareholders.

All the Shareholders are given at least 20 clear business days’ notice
before the date of AGM and at least 10 clear business days’ notice for

all other general meetings.

All the annual and interim reports, circulars, announcements and notices
of Shareholders’ meetings as required under the Listing Rules will be

available on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

The Company has also complied with the requirements concerning voting
by poll under the Listing Rules. Details of the poll voting procedures and
the rights of Shareholders to demand a poll are included in circulars to
Shareholders despatched by the Company and explained by the chairman
of general meeting at the meeting. All resolutions proposed at general

meeting are voted separately.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

(continued)
Procedures for Convening a SGM

Shareholders shall have the right to request the Board to convene a
SGM. Shareholders holding in aggregate of not less than one-tenth of
the paid up capital of the Company may send a written request to the

Board to request for a SGM.

The written requisition, duly signed by the Shareholders concerned,
must state the purposes of the meeting and must be deposited at the
Company's principal place of business in Hong Kong at Unit 1104,
Crawford House, 70 Queen’s Road Central, Central, Hong Kong or at
the Company's branch share registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong,
Tricor Investor Services Limited, at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16

Harcourt Road, Hong Kong.

The Company would take appropriate actions and make necessary
arrangements, and the Shareholders concerned would be responsible
for the expenses incurred in giving effect thereto in accordance with the
requirements under Section 74 of the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda

("Companies Act”) once a valid requisition is received.

Procedures for Shareholders to Put Forward
Proposals at General Meetings

The following Shareholders are entitled to put forward a proposal (which
may properly be put to the meeting) for consideration at a general

meeting of the Company:
(@) any number of members representing not less than one-twentieth
of the total voting rights of the Company on the date of the

requisition; or

(b) not less than 100 members holding shares in the Company.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

(continued)

Procedures for Shareholders to Put Forward
Proposals at General Meetings (continued)

The requisition specifying the proposal, duly signed by the Shareholders
concerned, together with a statement of not more than 1,000 words
with respect to the matter referred to in the proposal must be deposited
at the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong at Unit
1104, Crawford House, 70 Queen's Road Central, Central, Hong Kong
or at the Company’s branch share registrar and transfer office in Hong
Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited, at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre,
16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong. The Company would take appropriate
actions and make necessary arrangements, and the Shareholders
concerned would be responsible for the expenses incurred in giving
effect thereto in accordance with the requirements under Sections 79

and 80 of the Companies Act once valid documents are received.

If a Shareholder wishes to propose a person other than a retiring Director
for election as a Director at a general meeting, the Shareholder should
follow the “Procedures for Shareholders to Propose a Person for Election

as a Director”, which can be found on the website of the Company.

Procedures for Directing Shareholders’ Enquiries to
the Board

Shareholders may at any time send their enquires and concerns to the

Board in writing via the following channel:

The Board of Directors/Company Secretary
AMCO United Holding Limited

Unit 1104, Crawford House

70 Queen’s Road Central, Central

Hong Kong

E-mail: info@amco-united.com

Telephone: (852) 2961 4871

Facsimile: (852) 2125 7001

Shareholders may also make enquiries with the Board at the general

meetings of the Company.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

(continued)
Dividend Policy

The Company has adopted a dividend policy (“Dividend Policy”) which
sets out the principles and guidelines that the Company intends to apply
in relation to the recommendation, declaration or payment of dividends
to the Shareholders. Under the Dividend Policy, when considering the
recommendation, declaration or payment of dividends, the Board shall
take into account, among others, the Group's financial results, retained
earnings and distributable reserves, liquidity and cash flow positions,
business conditions and strategies, future operations and earnings,
capital expenditure requirements and plans, general economic conditions,
Shareholders’ interests, any restrictions on payment of dividends and
other factors that the Board deems appropriate. The Company does
not have any pre-determined dividend payout ratio. The dividend to be
proposed, declared or paid shall be determined at the sole discretion of
the Board, subject to compliance with the Bye-laws, the Companies Act

and all applicable laws and regulations.

COMPANY SECRETARY

According to Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules, Ms. Chan Lok Yin, the
Company Secretary of the Company, has taken no less than 15 hours of

relevant professional training during the year ended 31 December 2024.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

There was no significant change in the Company’s constitutional

documents during the year ended 31 December 2024.
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EEEHRE

The Directors submit herewith their report together with the audited

consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in Note 31 to the

consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024
is set out in the “Chairman’s Statement” and “Management Discussion
and Analysis” on pages 5 to 6 and pages 7 to 30 respectively of this

annual report.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024 are
set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other

comprehensive income on pages 78 to 79 of this annual report.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a dividend.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group
for the past five financial years is set out on page 180 of this annual

report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements during the year in the property, plant and
equipment of the Group are set out in Note 16 to the consolidated

financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements during the year in the share capital are set out in

Note 27 to the consolidated financial statements.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

In the opinion of the Directors, there is no reserve of the Company
which is available for distribution to Shareholders at 31 December 2024

and 31 December 2023.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Jia Minghui (Chairman)
Mr. Zhang Hengxin (Managing Director)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Au Yeung Ming Yin Gordon
Mr. Guo Zhenhui
Ms. Ye Mengmei

In accordance with Bye-law 87 of the Bye-laws, Mr. Zhang Hengxin and
Mr. Guo Zhenhui shall retire by rotation from office at the forthcoming

AGM, and being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election.
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DIRECTORS' SERVICE CONTRACTS

Mr. Au Yeung Ming Yin Gordon, an Independent Non-executive Director,
has entered into a letter of appointment with the Company for a term of
three years commencing from 15 March 2018, which may be terminated
by one month’s notice in writing served by the Company on
Mr. Au Yeung or by instant notice in writing served by Mr. Au Yeung on

the Company.

Mr. Guo Zhenhui, an Independent Non-executive Director, has entered
into a letter of appointment with the Company for a term of three
years commencing from 15 March 2018, which may be terminated by
one month’s notice in writing served by the Company on Mr. Guo or by

instant notice in writing served by Mr. Guo on the Company.

Ms. Ye Mengmei, an Independent Non-executive Director, has entered
into a letter of appointment with the Company for a term of three years
commencing from 27 June 2023, which may be terminated by one
month’s notice in writing served by the Company on Ms. Ye or by instant

notice in writing served by Ms. Ye on the Company.

Apart from the foregoing, no Director proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming AGM has a service contract which is not determinable by
the Group within one year without payment of compensation (other

than statutory compensation).
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DIRECTORS' AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE
COMPANY AND ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 31 December 2024, the interests or short positions of the Directors
and the chief executive of the Company in the shares, underlying shares
and debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance
(“SFO")) as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
under Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company
and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)
pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of

Listed Issuers (“Model Code”) were as follows.
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Approximate
percentage of
Number of the issued
underlying share capital
Name of Director Capacity shares held of the Company
(Note 1)
HARDRE BT
EEHE g4 FiEEBEROEE RAZHMOBIL
(HI&ED)
Mr. Zhang Hengxin Beneficial owner 3,724,000 0.38%
(Note 2)
REFBRE EnEAA (M$5E2)
Mr. Jia Minghui Beneficial owner 3,724,000 0.38%
(Note 2)
B AR 5 & EnfEB A (H$5E2)
Mr. Au Yeung Ming Yin Gordon Beneficial owner 3,724,000 0.38%
(Note 2)
B [5 55 B St A EHREAA (Hi3E2)
Notes: B o -

1. The calculation of percentage figures is based on the relevant number of
shares as a percentage of the number of shares of the Company in issue

as at 31 December 2024.

2. These underlying shares are share options granted by the Company on
4 May 2020 under the share option scheme of the Company at the
exercise price of HK$0.435 per share (after adjustment).
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SHARE OPTIONS

Share Option Scheme

The share option scheme of the Company (the “Share Option Scheme”)

was adopted by the Company on 30 June 2015.

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to enable the Group to

grant share options to the eligible participants as incentives or rewards

for their contributions to the Group. The eligible participants (”Eligible

Participants”) to whom the Directors may in their discretion make an

offer for grant of share options pursuant to the Share Option Scheme

belong to the following classes of participants.

(1

(6)

any employee (whether full time or part time, including any
executive director but excluding any non-executive director) of the
Company, any subsidiary of the Company or any entity in which any

member of the Group holds any equity interest (“Invested Entity"”);

any non-executive directors (including independent non-executive
directors) of the Company, any subsidiary of the Company or any

Invested Entity;

any supplier of goods or services to any member of the Group or

any Invested Entity;

any customer of any member of the Group or any Invested Entity;

any person or entity that provides research, development or other
technical support to any member of the Group or any Invested

Entity;

any shareholder of any member of the Group or any Invested Entity
or any holder of any securities issued by any member of the Group

or any Invested Entity;
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(7) any adviser (professional or otherwise) or consultant to any area of
business or business development of any member of the Group or

any Invested Entity;

(8) any other group or classes of participants who have contributed
or may contribute by way of joint venture, business alliance or
other business arrangement to the development and growth of the

Group; and

(9) any company wholly owned by one or more Eligible Participants.

As at 31 December 2024, the total number of shares available for
issue under share options granted under the Share Option Scheme was
85,600,000. Movement of share options during the year ended 31

December 2024 as below:
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21 April 2022 0.373 From 21 April 2022 to 20 April 2027  No 48,360,000 = = = 48,360,000
= i 0373 ZE--f@A=1+—-HZ b
MA=+—H “E-rEMA-TH
85,600,000 = = = 85,600,000
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ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Other than the share option holdings disclosed above, at no time during
the year was the Company or any of its subsidiaries, a party to any
arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of
the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other

body corporate.

DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Apart from the transactions disclosed under the heading “RELATED
PARTY TRANSACTIONS” as set out in Note 33 to the consolidated
financial statements, there were no other contracts of significance in
relation to the Group's business, to which the Company, its holding
company, any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party and in
which a Director had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,

subsisting at the end of the year or at anytime during the year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

Save for service contracts, no contracts concerning the management and
administration of the whole or any substantial part of the business of
the Company were entered into or subsisting during the year ended

31 December 2024.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The significant related party transactions entered into by the Group
during the year are set out in Note 33 to the consolidated financial
statements. None of these related party transactions during the year
constitutes a connected transaction under Chapter 14A of the

Listing Rules.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS
IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE
COMPANY

As at 31 December 2024, so far as is known to the Directors and the
chief executive of the Company, no persons or corporations (other than
Directors or chief executive of the Company) had, or deemed or taken
to have, interests or short positions in the shares or underlying shares
of the Company as recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO, or who were directly or
indirectly, interested in 5% or more of the number of any class of shares
in issue of the Company, carrying the rights to vote in all circumstances

at general meetings of the Company.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 December 2024, sales attributable to the Group's
largest customer accounted for approximately 29.2% of the Group's
consolidated revenue and aggregate revenue attributable to the five
largest customers of the Group accounted for approximately 79.1% of

the Group’s consolidated revenue.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, purchases attributable to the
Group's largest supplier accounted for approximately 49.4% of the
Group's total purchases and aggregate purchases attributable to the five
largest suppliers of the Group accounted for approximately 100.0% of

the Group’s total purchases.

To the knowledge of the Directors, none of the Directors, or their
respective associates, or Shareholders owning more than 5% of the
Company’s number of shares in issue had any beneficial interests in any

of the five largest customers or suppliers.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENT NON-
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received, from each of the Independent Non-executive
Directors, an annual confirmation of his independence pursuant to
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers all of the

Independent Non-executive Directors are independent.
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EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is set up by the
Remuneration Committee on the basis of their merit, qualifications and

competence.

The emoluments of the Directors are reviewed and recommended by the
Remuneration Committee, having regard to the Company’s operating

results, individual performance and comparable market statistics.

The Company has adopted a share option scheme as an incentive to
Directors and eligible employees, details of the scheme is set out in

Note 29 to the consolidated financial statements.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company has complied with all code provisions of the Corporate
Governance Code (“CG Code"”) throughout the year ended 31 December
2024 as set out in Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing

Rules”).
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES

The Group is committed to reducing its carbon footprint and
consumption of natural resources in all possible aspects of business
operations. Our environmental strategy is to achieve a balance between
the quality and efficiency of our services and the minimisation of
greenhouse gas emissions and environmental degradation. Accordingly,
the Group has taken a proactive approach to effect internal and external
communications by means of telephone, emails and conferences or such
other communication means which are efficient yet environmentally
friendly. Also, the Group are able to minimise physical travelling and

printing.

The Group endeavors to monitor and minimize impact to the

environment. For further details, please refer to the Company’s
Environmental Social and Governance Report published on the same date

as this annual report.

RELATIONSHIP WITH EMPLOYEES

The employees of the Group are one of the most important assets and
stakeholders of the Group and their contribution and support are values
at all times. The Group regularly reviews compensation and benefit
policies accordingly to industry benchmark as well as the individual
performance of employees. Other fringe benefits, mandatory provident
fund and share options are provided to retain loyal employees with the
aim to form a professional staff and management team that can bring

the Group to different levels of success.
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RELATIONSHIP WITH CUSTOMERS AND
SUPPLIERS

The Directors believe that maintaining good relationships with customers
has been one of the critical reasons for the Group's success. Our business
model is to maintain and build on our strong relationships within our
client base. Our mission is to provide the finest service to our customers
and the Group is constantly looking ways to improve customer relations
through enhanced services. Regarding Money Lending Business and
Securities Investment, the Group has no major suppliers. Whereas
regarding the other principal businesses, the Group has maintained good
relationship with the suppliers to ensure their continued support to the

Group in the foreseeable future.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group include strategic,

operational and financial risks.

Strategic Risks

The Directors maintain a strategic plan based on the knowledge to the
external environments. The Group will invest in projects and investments
based on the strategic plan in order to cope with the market demand
and expectation. Given the rapid change of unforeseeable external
environments in the financial and equity markets, the Group is facing
significant strategic risks on its investments when changing the strategic

plans to adopt the unexpected changes of external environments.

Operational Risks

Management regularly reviews the Group's operations to ensure that
the Group’s risk of losses, whether financial or otherwise, resulting from
fraud, errors, omissions and other operational and compliance matters,

are adequately managed.

Financial Risks

The principal financial risks are set out in Note 36 to the consolidated

financial statements headed “FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT".
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for disclosed in the section headed "SHARE OPTIONS” on pages
159 to 163 of this annual report, the Company has not entered into any

equity-linked agreements during the year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Bye-laws, the Directors, secretary and other officers and
every auditor for the time being of the Company shall be entitled to be
indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets and profits of the
Company from and against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages
and expenses which they or any of them, shall or may incur or sustain
by or by reasons of any act done, concurred in or omitted in or about
the execution of their duties in their respective offices or otherwise in

relation thereto.

The Company has taken out insurance against all losses and liabilities
associated with defending any proceedings which may be brought

against Directors and other officers of the Company.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

During the year, the Company was not aware of any non-compliance
with any relevant laws and regulations that had a significant impact on

it.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code”) set out in Appendix 10 to the
Listing Rules as the code of conduct regarding securities transactions by
its Directors. Having made specific enquiry, all Directors have confirmed
that they have fully complied with the required standard set out in the
Model Code during the year ended 31 December 2024.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee comprises three Independent Non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Au Yeung Ming Yin Gordon (Chairman), Ms. Ye
Mengmei and Mr. Guo Zhenhui. The Audit Committee has reviewed with
the management the accounting principles and practices adopted by the
Group, and discussed internal controls and financial reporting matters
including the review of the audited results for the year ended 31 December

2024.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES

During the year, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries

purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Bye-laws, or the
laws of Bermuda, which would oblige the Company to offer new shares

on a pro-rata basis to existing Shareholders of the Company.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

The Company has maintained a sufficient public float throughout the

year ended 31 December 2024.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

There is no significant event after the end of the reporting period.
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AUDITOR

The financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2022 were

audited by Elite Partners CPA Limited.

Elite Partners CPA Limited resigned as auditors of the Company with
effective from 28 December 2023 and Privatco CPA Limited was
appointed as the new auditors to fill the causal vacancy with effective
from 28 December 2023. The financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2023 was audited by Privatco CPA Limited. Privatco CPA
Limited resigned as auditors of the Company with effective from 17
December 2024 and CCTH CPA Limited was appointed as the new
auditors to fill the causal vacancy with effective from 17 December 2024.
The financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024 was
audited by CCTH CPA Limited whose term of office will be expired upon

the forthcoming annual general meeting.

A resolution will be submitted to the forthcoming AGM to re-appoint

CCTH CPA Limited as the auditor of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Jia Minghui

Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 March 2025
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CCTH CPA LIMITED
REXEEMERLA

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF AMCO UNITED HOLDING LIMITED

(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of AMCO United
Holding Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as “the Group”) set out on pages 78 to 179, which comprise
the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December
2024, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity
and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary

of material accounting policy information and other explanatory

information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at
31 December 2024, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA") and have
been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements

of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for
the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and

appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Independent Auditor’s Report
B B RS

RREEZER

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, RIEBESNHEHE BREZSEATSER
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial AHMKNGEAMERETEZEENER - BSHHE
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the BEREBEGAFBRRLMNLENE RFERIE
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, HEEHE MASRILSEEEFERER -
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate

opinion on these matters.

Key audit matter

BREREH

Impairment assessment on loan and interest receivables

FEW B 7% R FIE A9 BT

Refer to Note 21 to the consolidated financial statements.

2GR MBIRERME21 -

As at 31 December 2024, the Group's loan and interest
receivables with the carrying amount of approximately
HK$74,385,000 (2023: HK$81,269,000) (net of allowance of
credit losses).

RZEZNF+_A=+—H EBESENEREREFEEE
E#) /74,385,000 7T (ZZF = =4 :81,269,0008 7T) (EMK
BEEEBERE) -

Management performed the impairment assessment of the loan
receivables based on the information including but not limited
to the credit profile of different borrowers, the aging profiles,
their knowledge about the borrowers, market conditions and
past settlement patterns and with reference to the assessment
of the expected credit loss conducted by an external valuer.
Management also considered forward-looking information that
may impact the borrowers’ ability to repay the outstanding
balances in order to estimate the expected credit losses for the
impairment assessment.

ERERE (BHEETRRY) PTRERANEERR RiK1ER
HRERAB R 5 KB4 %*ﬁ‘tﬁﬁ*ﬂwﬁﬁ%%%ﬁﬁ
HEMETHEREEBETHEEBREFETREN G B
[BIRE BRI sk B E RAEREREEGERD UJE’\JHIJE%IEQM'
A e ER RS EEEE -

How the matter was addressed in our audit

EEEBERPNMEEEXRSE

Our audit procedures in relation to the impairment
assessment on loan and interest receivables included:
EERERERENSRENEETONEZE T BE
A T&IE:

o Understood the modelling methodologies for
expected credit losses measurement, assessed
the reasonableness of the key measurement
parameters determination;
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter
BEREREE

Impairment assessment on loan and interest receivables

JE W B 3% R F 2 9 6 1B A1

We identified the impairment assessment of loan and interest
receivables as a key audit matter due to the magnitude of the
aggregate loan receivables and the impairment assessment
involved the use of significant management judgment and
estimates.
EECKRBEWERERMENFAENGHNAEREZEFE  RE
REWEFRRERFEREEXN BRENESIREREELD
BRAE R AkETe
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How the matter was addressed in our audit

EEEERPUMEEEREE

Discussed with management to understand
the management’s identification of significant
increase in credit risk, defaults and credit-
impaired loans, corroborated management’s
explanation with supporting evidence;
HEEENRATREEELHEERAR EHR
EEREBEEFRBREZLENNZM UXHEBREER
BB

Evaluated competence, capabilities and objectivity
of the independent external valuer who carried
out the assessment of the expected credit loss
("ECL") of the loan receivables;

MR EWERESREEEE ((TRMEEEE])
EITA OB UL EMNER N REE
5

Inquired the external valuer regarding the bases
and assumptions adopted on the assessment of
the ECL of the loan receivables;

MM BRI S AT A R E RTE R EE IR
TR ) B R R AR

Assessed the reasonableness of economic
indicators selection and assessed the
reasonableness of the estimation;

A ER ISR ENS BN R G EETRE RN

Checked to major data inputs used in the
expected credit losses model; and
BREHEREEEAREFMANEZEERE A
K

Assessed the adequacy of the Group's disclosures
in relation to loan and interest receivables
included in the consolidated financial statements.
Al BERBERARS MWK AT R W E SRR A
BHHEBERERRE-



OTHER MATTER

The consolidated financial statements of the Company for the year ended
31 December 2023 were audited by another auditor who expressed an

unmodified opinion on those statements on 28 March 2024.

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises the information included in the annual report, but
does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s

report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance

conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that

fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS AND
THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that are free from material

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS AND
THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(continued)

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic

alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance is responsible for overseeing the Group’s

financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's
report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance
with Section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act 1981, and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to
any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is
a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted
in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users

taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

AMCO UNITED HOLDING LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024

BEERAEEMRGSMKEHRRE
EEWNET 2

EREEaMBEHRRE EFRABANE &%
ESEKENRE) TIRERSBKERBNE
H(MER) BRIFEEHRKE BESEBFRAE
1238 - SR I 2 SN B E A BRI A TT R0 -
BRIERANFELEREARNGHE-

REEREEE BEEEMNMBRERRE-

BBEN B R S M RMR AR
EHEE

EENERRAAERELSGAMBEMRER
METEFEARKFRBRMEBNBEAH
R WEHBEAESERNREENRE IR
BERE-NN-FRBEEFOGRZRE EF
Zm ET(ERER) FL®RE BRibzIh &K
BENMEEMA R - BEE TR ARENARR
EREMALTE EXARET A EREESE
R HERBEB AR EAETHNERIIE
THERBERERBAFEMNEARHRRAL - 552
B PT RS AR E A - M (E R KBRS 12
BHEATAXEEREREFSMBHRRIE
H AR ER TE B - RIARAR A E RS RR R -



AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We

also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional

omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on

the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures

made by the directors.

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going

concern.

Independent Auditor’s Report
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B B R

AUDITOR’'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair

presentation.

e  Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate
audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business units within the Group as a basis for forming an opinion
on the group financial statements. We are responsible for the
direction, supervision and review of the audit work performed for
purposes of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our

audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control

that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence,
and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards

applied.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B B RS

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE REMMBXGSMBHRR AR
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL EWEE 2

STATEMENTS (continued)

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, WHERIEEEBRMNEEFT TEETYHAHEN
we determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit 4APUBHRENBAFEZEEENEE  AMBK
of the consolidated financial statements for the current period and BREXREHE BEEREMBREPHLZES
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our 1B BRIEEERSERTIAFAFRWELZSEE
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about — SFEMmKZERMIERT  HAEBRBRESSHE
the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that HFEBEEHEKRMNEBAZRBHEENAR
a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse — F|z5 - QI B HRAE T EARE R EELEE-
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh

the public interest benefits of such communication.

CCTH CPA Limited RIERBESRERA A
Certified Public Accountants HEZE AN

Lam Man Chi MIE

Practising Certificate Number: P05324 WMEBERS - P05324

Hong Kong, 28 March 2025 B —E_RF=-A=+N\H
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
REeBEakEMEERE K

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HBE_-_Z_NE+_-_A=+—-HLEE

2024 2023
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
—E-ME —Eo=F
B 7 FHEx FET
Continuing operations BEREEK
Revenue WA 7 37,792 34,333
Cost of sales SHE R AR (23,852) (19,525)
Gross profit EF 13,940 14,808
Other income and other gains or losses £ b Ug A K E b Uy %5 5k /&5 18 8 (1,554) (8,115)
Distribution expenses 3 RN (3,207) (4,095)
Administrative expenses TH (10,512) (9,938)
Reversal of impairment losses recognised TR #E & FE R T HR
under expected credit loss model, net U {EE B D - F 5 1,300 7,934
Finance cost WisE R 9 (1,200) (2,307)
Loss before income tax MRS HATER 10 (1,233) (1,713)
Income tax expense e 1 = -
Loss for the year from BEREERZ2FERE
continuing operations (1,233) (1,713)
Discontinued operation ERIELEER
Loss for the year from ERIEEEEB 2 FEER
discontinued operation 16 - (1,040)
Loss for the year FEEFE (1,233) (2,753)
Other comprehensive loss Hit 2 HEEE
Item that may be reclassified HEE DL Em s B -
subsequently to profit or loss:
Reclassification of translation HEMBARIKEHN»E
reserve upon disposal of a subsidiary VE X G - (2,069)
Total comprehensive loss for the year X2 A HE A BEFE
attributable to owners of THEEEAE
the Company (1,233) (4,822)
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
REBEEREMEZERER

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HBEZE_-_ZE_NE+_-_A=+—-HLEE

Note 2024 2023
[ihg=3 —E-NFE —E==F
LOSS PER SHARE FROM CONTINUING HEREXBRERIL
AND DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS REXEEREBR
— Basic and diluted —HAR N EEE
(HK$ cents per share) (FREE) 12 (0.13) (0.30)
LOSS PER SHARE FROM CONTINUING ¥ ERKEEBERER
OPERATIONS
- Basic and diluted - gD
(HK$ cents per share) (FREBAL) 12 (0.13) (0.18)
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
e b S O

As at 31 December 2024 R-ZB-OWE+=-HB=+—H

2024 2023
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
—E-WmF —TZ=F
B &E FET FAET
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERAE
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment W WEKREE 17 - -
Goodwill EES 18 = -
Current assets REBEE
Inventories FE 19 11,409 7,262
Held-for-trading investments BIEEERE 20 59,373 45,468
Trade and other receivables H 5 & EAth E W GKIA 21 83,965 108,272
Cash and cash equivalents RekREEEY 22 4,583 7,716
159,330 168,718
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade and other payables B 5 I H th fE - 5RIE 23 68,302 76,457
Net current assets RBEERE 91,028 92,261
Total assets less current liabilities EEHAERABER 91,028 92,261
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

a B AR R R

As at 31 December 2024 R-ZE-_OmFE+=-A=+—H

2024 2023
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
—E-WmF ZTZ=F
B FHExT FAT

Non-current liabilities kRBEE
Bond payables EE S 24 30,900 30,900
Net assets EEFE 60,128 61,361

EQUITY EE

Share capital A& < 25 48,378 48,378
Reserves & 11,750 12,983
Total equity ERER 60,128 61,361

The consolidated financial statements were approved and authorised for A K BELEETEe R ST -_AF = A

issue by the Board of Directors on 28 March 2025 and are signed on its

behalf by:

Zhang Hengxin
RFE
Director

EF

BxE:

“TNBARERRETE WHNLTALTRE

Jia Minghui
H A E
Director

EF

EREZEREMRDT 2024F R
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

REERBER

For the year ended 31 December 2024

BE-_Z_-_NF+-A=+—HLFE

Share
Share Share option  Translation  Accumulated
capital premium reserve reserve losses Total
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(Note a) (Note b) (Note c)
& ROBEE BRERSE ERERE RitEE At
FHT FHT FAHET FAEL FHT FHT
(Hiita) (HtiFh) (Biztc)

As at 1 January 2023 RZZE-=F—H—H 24,189 457,234 14,277 2,069 (479,180) 18,589

Loss for the year FEERE - - - - (2,753) (2,753)

Other comprehensive loss for the year: FEEMZEERE:

Reclassification of translation reserve HEWBARRER
upon disposal of subsidiary DR R - - - (2,069) - (2,069)

Total comprehensive loss for the year FERHEBRAE - - - (2,069) (2,753) (4,822)

Issue of shares, net BT FE 24,189 23,405 - - - 47,594

As at 31 December 2023 and RZZEZ=F+-R=+—H

as at 1 January 2024 RRZZ-MF—A—8 48,378 480,639 14,277 - (481,933) 61,361

Loss for the year FEEBR - - - - (1,233) (1,233)

Total comprehensive loss for the year FEXABEAS - - - - (1,233) (1,233)

As at 31 December 2024 R-ZB-M&+=-A=+-H 48,378 480,639 14,277 - (483,166) 60,128

Notes: Bt &t -

a)  The application of share premium account is governed by Section 40 of a) B GEERZERIEZRE—NL\—F2Qa
the Bermuda Companies Act 1981. EBAOGIRE -

b)  Share option reserve represents the fair value of services estimated to b) HBEREREEREKEBEREBHREEBER
be received in exchange for the grant of the relevant share options EMARBRE NG BEEZRB 2 ARE
over the relevant vesting periods, the total of which is based on the fair B HEEDEREREANZLEBBHZAR
value of the share options at grant date. The amount for each period BEH REREH2ENEREEHRER
is determined by spreading the fair value of the share options over H(MB)ESBEREAAEBETUEE I
the relevant vesting period (if any) and is recognised in administrative AT B 7 S R - T AR B 3 A0 & A B AR A
expenses with a corresponding increase in the share option reserve. =K

c) Translation reserve represents exchange differences relating to the ¢ [EREENEAEBGIINER 2 EEFER

translation of the net assets of the Group’s foreign operations from
their functional currencies to the Group's presentation currency (i.e.
Hong Kong dollar ("HK$")) which are recognised directly in other
comprehensive income. Such exchange differences are reclassified to
profit or loss on the disposal of the foreign operations.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

RERTMER

BE-_FE_MFE+-A=+—-HLHEE

2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
—E-EF —T=%F
TER FHT
Cash flows from operating activities REKETH2HERE
Loss before income tax BRETS BRI ET 1B
— Continuing operations —HEREER (1,233) (1,713)
- Discontinued operation —ERIEEEER - (1,040)
(1,233) (2,753)
Adjustments for: HTINEBEL ZAE:
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 1% B K& (B35 E A E
(including right-of-use assets) BE)NE - 480
Reversal of impairment losses recognised under  FEHA{Z EEBE X TR
expected credit loss model, net BEEERE  JFE (1,300) (6,896)
Impairment loss recognised on property, Y RERERBEERZ
plant and equipment A EE - 594
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—RFRB ARz & (100) (567)
Loss on early repayment of bond payables REEBENESZER - 5,831
Gain on termination of lease BLIEEE 2 W = (438)
Realised and unrealised loss in held-for-trading  #H{EEEXREZEEE K
investments, net REWBEE F58 1,801 8,545
Interest income ME WA (9) (14)
Interest expenses B R 1,200 2,307
Operating cash flows before working EEESRBA 2KE
capital changes BERE 359 7,089
Change in inventories FEZ#% (4,147) (7,260)
Change in trade and other receivables B 5 I H fth fE U 5k IE 2 & 22,603 18,411
Change in held-for-trading investments BEEEERECED (15,706) (17,984)
Change in trade and other payables B 5 I HAth FE 1 R IE 2 & &) (7.751) (9,028)
Net cash used in operating activities ST E T T2 FR (4,642) (8,772)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
HEHERER

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HBE_-_Z_NE+_-_A=+—-HLEE

2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
—E-mF —E-=F
FTER FHET
Cash from investing activity REREFTEZES
Interest received B B 9 14
Consideration received from disposal FELENBRAR ZERRE
of subsidiaries in prior year 1,500 -
Net cash generated from investing activities REEHEEA RS FHE 1,509 14
Cash flows from financing activities REMETHZRERE
Issue of shares BEITIR D - 48,376
Expenses on issue of shares BITRID2AX - (782)
Interest paid SXRRAESS - (5,109)
Repayment of bond payables BREENES = (29,733)
Net cash generated from financing activities BETEELEZHEFHE - 12,752
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and HERBESZEY ORD)
cash equivalents HEE (3,133) 3,994
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning RBEHIZRHER
of the reporting period ReEEY 7,716 3,722
Cash and cash equivalents at the end RBEEHARZEER
of the reporting period (Note 22) REeZEEY (HaE22) 4,583 7,716
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2024

GENERAL INFORMATION

AMCO United Holding Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated
in Bermuda with limited liability on 19 August 1994 as an exempted
company under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda with its shares
listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”). The addresses of the registered office and the principal
place of business of the Company are disclosed in the corporation

information section to the annual report.

The Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the
“Group”) are principally engaged in (i) sale of medical products; (ii)
sale of plastic moulding products; (iii) provision of money lending;

and (iv) investment in securities.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group discontinued
its operation in provision of construction services in building
construction, building maintenance and improvement works, project
management, renovation and decoration works (the “Discontinued

operation”). Details are set out in note 16.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in HK$, or
thousands of units of HK$ (“HK$'000"), which is the same as the

functional currency of the Company.

A M WAR MR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MR M R

For the year ended 31 December 2024

BE-_Z_-_NF+-A=+—HLFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION

When preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Group's
ability to continue as a going concern has been assessed. These
consolidated financial statements have been prepared by the
directors of the Company on a going concern basis notwithstanding
that the Group incurred a net loss of approximately HK$1,233,000
for the year ended 31 December 2024. The directors of the
Company are of the opinion that the Group will have sufficient
funds to meet its financial obligations when they fall due in the

foreseeable future taking into account the following:

(i) The Group is currently engaged in sales of medical products
and sales of plastic moulding products. One of the key focuses

is to expand its operation through difference channels.

(i)  The Group will closely monitor the collection of loans and

receivables to ensure timely payments are made.

(iii) The Group remains committed to implementing stringent
expense controls as a continuous effort to manage costs
effectively and optimize operational efficiency. By closely
monitoring and scrutinizing expenses, the Group aims to
identify areas for potential savings and ensure that resources

are allocated.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with all applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (the “HKICPA"). In addition, the consolidated
financial statements include applicable disclosures required by the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange and

by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the
historical cost basis except for certain financial instruments which
are measured at their fair value at the end of the reporting period,

as explained in the accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the

consideration given in exchange for goods and services.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2024

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that
price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation
technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability,
the Group takes into account the characteristics of the asset or
liability if market participants would take those characteristics into
account when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement
date. Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in
these consolidated financial statements is determined on such a
basis, except for share-based payment transactions that are within
the scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment, leasing transactions
that are accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 16 Leases, and
measurements that have some similarities to fair value but are not
fair value, such as net realisable value in HKAS 2 /nventories or

value in use in HKAS 36 /mpairment of Assets.

For financial instruments which are transacted at fair value and
a valuation technique that unobservable inputs are to be used to
measure fair value in subsequent periods, the valuation technique is
calibrated so that at initial recognition the results of the valuation

technique equals the transaction price.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the
degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are
observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair value

measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

e Llevel 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can access at

the measurement date;
o Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included
within Level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability,

either directly or indirectly; and

o Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e B ISR R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HBE_-_Z_NE+_-_A=+—-HLEE

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HKFRSs

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following

amendments to HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA for the first time,

which are mandatorily effective for the annual periods beginning

on 1 January 2024 for the preparation of the consolidated financial

statements:

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and
related amendments to Hong
Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants

Amendments to HKAS 7
and HKFRS 7

Supplier Finance Arrangements

The application of the amendments to HKFRSs in the current year
has had no material impact on the Group's financial positions
and performance for the current and prior years and/or on the

disclosures set out in these consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2024

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HKFRSs

(continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but

not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet

effective:

Amendments to HKFRS 9
and HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKFRS 9
and HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28

Annual Improvements to
HKFRS Accounting
Standards — Volume 11

Amendments to HKAS 21

HKFRS 18

HKFRS 19

Amendments to the Classification
and Measurement of Financial
Instruments?

Contracts Referencing Nature-
dependent Electricity?

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and
its Associate or Joint Venture'

Amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 7,
HKFRS 9, HKFRS 10 and HKAS 73

Lack of Exchangeability?

Presentation and Disclosure
in Financial Statements*

Subsidiaries without Public
Accountability: Disclosures*

i Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be

determined.

p Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2026.

< Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027.

Except as described below, the directors anticipate that the
application of all new and amendments to HKFRSs will have no
material impact on the consolidated financial statements in the

foreseeable future.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e B ISR R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HBE_-_Z_NE+_-_A=+—-HLEE

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HKFRSs

(continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but
not yet effective (continuea)

HKFRS 18 "Presentation and Disclosure in Financial
Statements”

HKFRS 18 “Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements"”,
which sets out requirements on presentation and disclosures
in financial statements, will replace HKAS 1 "Presentation of
Financial Statements". This new HKFRS Accounting Standard, while
carrying forward many of the requirements in HKAS 1, introduces
new requirements to present specified categories and defined
subtotals in the statement of profit or loss; provide disclosures on
management-defined performance measures in the notes to the
financial statements and improve aggregation and disaggregation of
information to be disclosed in the financial statements, in addition,
some HKAS 1 paragraphs have been moved to HKAS 8 and HKFRS
7. Minor amendments to HKAS 7 “Statement of Cash Flows" and

HKAS 33 “Earnings per Share" are also made.

HKFRS 18, and amendments to other standards, will be effective
for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027, with
early application permitted. The application of the new standard
is expected to affect the presentation of the statement of profit or
loss and disclosures in the future financial statements. The Groups
are in the process of assessing the detailed impact of HKFRS 18 on

the Groups' consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2024

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICY INFORMATION

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the Company

and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the Company:
o has power over the investee;
to variable returns from its

e is exposed, or has rights,

involvement with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts
and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more

of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control
of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary
acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income from the date the Group gains control until the date when

the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements
of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in line with the

Group's accounting policies.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and
cash flows relating to transactions between members of the Group

are eliminated in full on consolidation.

4.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024

BE-_Z_-_NF+-A=+—HLFE

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at
cost as established at the date of acquisition of the business less

accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to each
of the Group's cash-generating units (“CGUs") (or groups of CGUs)
that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination,
which represent the lowest level at which the goodwill is monitored
for internal management purposes and not larger than an operating

segment.

A CGU (or group of CGUs) to which goodwill has been allocated
is tested for impairment annually or more frequently when there is
indication that the unit may be impaired. For goodwill arising on an
acquisition in a reporting period, the CGU (or group of CGUs) to
which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment before
the end of that reporting period. If the recoverable amount is less
than its carrying amount, the impairment loss is allocated first to
reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill and then to the other
assets on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of each

asset in the unit (or group of CGUs).

On disposal of the relevant CGU or any of the CGU within the
group of CGUs, the attributable amount of goodwill is included
in the determination of the amount of profit or loss on disposal.
When the Group disposes of an operation within the CGU (or a
CGU within a group of CGUs), the amount of goodwill disposed of
is measured on the basis of the relative values of the operation (or
the CGU) disposed of and the portion of the CGU (or the group of
CGUs) retained.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2024

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that are held
for use in the production or supply of goods or services, or for
administrative purposes. Property, plant and equipment are stated
in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost less
subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated

impairment losses, if any.

The cost of an asset comprises its purchase price and any directly
attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working condition
and location for its intended use. Expenditure incurred after the
property, plant and equipment have been put into operation, such
as repairs and maintenance, is normally charged to the profit or
loss in the period in which it is incurred. In situations where it can
be clearly demonstrated that the expenditure has resulted in an
increase in the future economic benefits expected to be obtained
from the use of the property, plant and equipment, the expenditure

is capitalised as an additional cost of that asset.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets less
their residual values over their estimated useful lives, using the
straight-line method. The estimated useful lives, residual values and
depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting
period, with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on

a prospective basis.

Plant, machinery and office equipment 5 - 10 years
Furniture and fixtures 5 years
Motor vehicles 3 -5 years

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise
from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the
disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment
is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the

carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

4.
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A MR M R

For the year ended 31 December 2024

BE-_Z_-_NF+-A=+—HLFE

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

Leasing
Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right
to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in

exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the date of initial
application of HKFRS 16, the Group assesses whether a contract
is or contains a lease based on the definition under HKFRS 16 at
inception, modification date or acquisition date, as appropriate.
Such contract will not be reassessed unless the terms and conditions

of the contract are subsequently changed.

The Group as lessee
Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or more
additional lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to each lease component on the basis
of the relative stand-alone price of the lease component and the

aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease components.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption
to leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the
commencement date and do not contain a purchase option. It also
applies the recognition exemption for lease of low-value assets.
Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-value assets
are recognised as expense on a straight-line basis over the lease

term.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A M WAR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HBEZE_-_ZE_NE+_-_A=+—-HLEE

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 4. EEETHRERBE &)

POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

Leasing (continued) HE 2

The Group as lessee (continued) KEBERZAHAA ()

Right-of-use assets EHEEE

The cost of right-of-use assets includes: EREEERAELE:

e the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability; o HEABEMUMBITESHE:

e any lease payments made at or before the commencement o R A BISk 2 ATVE L AU E R &
date, less any lease incentives received:; BRERNEREEES:

e any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and o  AEBEAMEMIEEERA: &

e an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in o AEBRFHEBHREBEE RE
dismantling and removing the underlying assets, restoring the e B A E EMEEHE K
site on which it is located or restoring the underlying asset TR G A BT 38 5E K B8 IR EE A B K AR A
to the condition required by the terms and conditions of the it
lease.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated A ERKAREM REITE KRE

depreciation and impairment losses. R E-

The Group presents right-of-use assets in “property, plant and REEREREEERN W% BE R&HE]

equipment”, the same line item within which the corresponding (BREERBEEBATZ25AEAEE

underlying assets would be presented if they were owned. ENE—2FEE)NET]-
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SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets
are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets
that require delivery of assets within the time frame established by

regulation or convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value except for trade receivables arising from contracts with
customers which are initially measured in accordance with HKFRS
15. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition
or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than
financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit
or loss (“FVTPL")) are added to or deducted from the fair value of
the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial
recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition
of financial assets at FVTPL are recognised immediately in profit or

loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability and of
allocating interest income and interest expense over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts
estimated future cash receipts and payments (including all fees and
points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective
interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the financial asset or financial liability,
or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount

on initial recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2024

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Loan interests income which are derived from the Group’s ordinary

course of business are presented as revenue.

Financial assets
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently

measured at amortised cost:

. the financial asset is held within a business model whose

objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

e the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the

principal amount outstanding.

A financial asset is held for trading if:

o it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling in

the near term; or

o on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of identified
financial instruments that the Group manages together and

has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

e it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a

hedging instrument.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MR M R

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HBE_-_Z_NE+_-_A=+—-HLEE

4. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets

(continued)

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial asset
that are required to be measured at the amortised cost or fair value
through other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI") as measured at
FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting

mismatch.

(i)  Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently at
amortised cost and. Interest income is calculated by applying
the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount
of a financial asset, except for financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired. For financial assets that
have subsequently become credit-impaired, interest income
is recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the
amortised cost of the financial asset from the next reporting
period. If the credit risk on the credit-impaired financial
instrument improves so that the financial asset is no longer
credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of the
financial asset from the beginning of the reporting period
following the determination that the asset is no longer credit-

impaired.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2024

4. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 4.

POLICY INFORMATION (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets

(continued)

(i) Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or designated as

FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the end
of each reporting period, with any fair value gains or losses
recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in
profit or loss excludes any dividend or interest earned on the
financial asset and is included in the “other income and other

gains or losses” line item.

Impairment of financial assets and other item subject to impairment

assessment under HKFRS 9

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected
credit loss (“"ECL”) model on financial assets (including trade
receivables, loan receivables, other receivables, deposits and cash
and cash equivalents) and retention receivables which are subject
to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL is
updated at the end of each reporting period to reflect changes in

credit risk since initial recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MR M R

For the year ended 31 December 2024

BE-_Z_-_NF+-A=+—HLFE

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other item subject to impairment

assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible
default events over the expected life of the relevant instrument.
In contrast, 12-month ECL ("12m ECL") represents the portion of
lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default events that are
possible within 12 months after the reporting date. Assessments
are done based on the Group's historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, general
economic conditions and an assessment of both the current
conditions at the end of the reporting period as well as the forecast

of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables and

retention receivables.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss allowance
equal to 12m ECL, unless there has been a significant increase
in credit risk since initial recognition, in which case the Group
recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL
should be recognised is based on significant increases in the

likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2024

4. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other item subject to impairment

assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)
(i)  Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument
has increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the end of the reporting period with the
risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at
the date of initial recognition. In making this assessment, the
Group considers both quantitative and qualitative information
that is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is available

without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into account
when assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly

since initial recognition:

— an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal

credit rating;

—  significant deterioration in external market indicators of
credit risk, e.g. significant increase in credit spread, the

credit default swap prices for the debtor;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MR M R

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HBE_-_Z_NE+_-_A=+—-HLEE

4. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other item subject to impairment

assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)
(i)  Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

—  existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial
or economic conditions that are expected to cause a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its

debt obligations;

— an actual or expected significant deterioration in the

operating results of the debtor;

— an actual or expected significant adverse change in the
regulatory, economic, or technological environment of
the debtor that results in a significant decrease in the

debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the
Group presumes that the credit risk on a financial asset
has increased significantly since initial recognition when
contractual payments are more than 90 days past due, unless
the Group has reasonable and supportable information that

demonstrates otherwise.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2024

4. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other item subject to impairment

assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)
(i)  Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria
used to identify whether there has been a significant increase
in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that
the criteria are capable of identifying significant increase in

credit risk before the amount becomes past due.

(i)  Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers
an event of default occurs when information developed
internally or obtained from external sources indicates that the
debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Group, in
full (without taking into account any collaterals held by the

Group).

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group considers that
default has occurred when a financial asset is more than
180 days past due, unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information to demonstrate that a more lagging

default criterion is appropriate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MR M R

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HBE_-_Z_NE+_-_A=+—-HLEE

4. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other item subject to impairment

assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)
(iii) Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events
that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash
flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a
financial asset is credit-impaired includes observable data

about the following events:

(a) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the

borrower;
(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event;
(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual
reasons relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty,
having granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the

lender(s) would not otherwise consider;

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter

bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

(e) the disappearance of an active market for that financial

asset because of financial difficulties.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2024

4. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other item subject to impairment

assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

(iv)

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery,
for example, when the counterparty has been placed under
liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings.
Financial assets written off may still be subject to enforcement
activities under the Group's recovery procedures, taking into
account legal advice where appropriate. A write-off constitutes
a derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries are

recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of
default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if
there is a default) and the exposure at default. The assessment
of the probability of default and loss given default is based on
historical data and forward-looking information. Estimation of
ECL reflects an unbiased and probability-weighted amount that
is determined with the respective risks of default occurring
as the weights. The Group uses a practical expedient in
estimating ECL on trade receivables and retention receivables
(which are not significant balances or credit-impaired) using a
provision matrix taking into consideration historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for forward-looking information that is

available without undue cost or effort.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MR M R

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HBE_-_Z_NE+_-_A=+—-HLEE

4. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other item subject to impairment

assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)
(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL (continued)

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual
cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance with the
contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to receive,
discounted at the effective interest rate determined at initial

recognition.

Lifetime ECL for certain trade receivables and retention
receivables (which are not significant balances or credit-
impaired) are considered on a collective basis taking into
consideration past due information and relevant credit
information such as forward-looking macroeconomic

information.

For collective assessment, the Group takes into consideration

the following characteristics when formulating the grouping:

. Past-due status;

. Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

e  External credit ratings where available.
The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to ensure

the constituents of each group continue to share similar credit

risk characteristics.

1 06 AMCO UNITED HOLDING LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024

4.

EESTHRERNEE 2

B TR &)
BIBEE (&)

ARIEE B 58 ER FEIR LT (E
e BFEEERAMEBR ZHE (&)

(v EHEEBEENERER (F)

—BmE RHEEERRRESN
RENAEENMEAENRESRERA
% [ 78 HA 5 W HR A% ) 4 HE AR B B TE Y
BRFNEBENRSRE MHER

ETEVESRFAMERRE R (X
BEEREHRAEERE) N HEY
SEEEDNEEARERKAEE
EEH (fImaTE it RBOBER) &

EELRE-

RETERFNG AKRE AR
BIA T8

o  AHIER:

o EBANME REKAEITE:
)53

o SMNEMEERAR (fWE) -
EIREE e o8 AREREER

PO B 5 B L e S B R
Hefo



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2024

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other item subject to impairment

assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)
(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL (continued)

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset is
credit-impaired, in which case interest income is calculated

based on amortised cost of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or
loss for all financial instruments by adjusting their carrying
amount, with the exception of trade receivables, retention
receivables and loan receivables where the corresponding

adjustment is recognised through a loss allowance account.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual
rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when it transfers
the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of

ownership of the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost,
the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of
the consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or

loss.

Financial liabilities and equity
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial
liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the
contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability

and an equity instrument.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e B ISR R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HBE_-_Z_NE+_-_A=+—-HLEE

4. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 4. EEETHRERME &)
POLICY INFORMATION (continued)
Financial instruments (continued) MBEITHA®)
Financial liabilities and equity (continued) BBEBRKRE (&)
Equity instruments RATA
An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual BATERERBRETERNEEFIR
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities. Fﬁﬁfﬁ%?ﬁﬁﬂﬁ?ﬁ?%ﬁuﬂ’]ﬁcﬂ#\i@ °
Equity instruments issued by the Company are recognised at the RRABEITHRATEZE WATERIEN
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs. MR E BB AITROATER
Financial liabilities HEEE
All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost FrEMBEEERRAERMNEEZREH
using the effective interest method or at FVTPL. AR EBRERRAABEIRTZ -
Financial liabilities at FVTPL BEBIEANIEBEIFRZAEEE
Financial liabilities are classified as at FVTPL when the financial BB BEEEREBBRERAANBEIR
liability is designated as at FVTPL. F-UBaE BAERERKAAEE
BB o
A financial liability may be designated as at FVTPL upon initial M B ER R TIIER TR L HREE
recognition if: ERBBEZZANEEBEYE:
e such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a e ZETHEHBRIABRLAIEGHEN
measurement or recognition inconsistency that would FrEXHER T EM T — I %k

otherwise arise; or

e the financial liability forms part of a group of financial assets s ZUMBABEBK—HEVBEENMBE
or financial liabilities or both, which is managed and its BRIV BEELRVBEEREHES
performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance B — &0 - AR #5875 [ i 5 29 & f
with the Group’s documented risk management or investment BENRERE ZEYBEBENE
strategy, and information about the grouping is provided BREMEIARADBERSERE
internally on that basis; or T -BEBBEOHEZER R ELER

MEBER AL 2K

e it forms part of a contract containing one or more embedded e HENXNBE - HEXZEBARITEL
derivatives, and HKFRS 9 permits the entire combined contract EMENN—En mMEBSHBRE
to be designated as at FVTPL. HRIERE A HEMAEE S NIRE

BB BIEREAREBENE-
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2024

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial liabilities and equity (continued)
Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities at amortised cost including trade and other
payables (excluded contract liabilities) and bond payables, are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective

interest method.

Derecognition and modification of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when,
the Group's obligations are discharged, cancelled or have expired.
The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability
derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is recognised

in profit or loss.

When the contractual terms of a financial liability are modified,
the Group assess whether the revised terms result in a substantial
modification from original terms taking into account all relevant
facts and circumstances including qualitative factors. If qualitative
assessment is not conclusive, the Group considers that the terms
are substantially different if the discounted present value of the
cash flows under the new terms, including any fees paid net of
any fees received, and discounted using the original effective
interest rate, is at least 10 per cent different from the discounted
present value of the remaining cash flows of the original financial
liability. Accordingly, such modification of terms is accounted for
as an extinguishment, any costs or fees incurred are recognised as
part of the gain or loss on the extinguishment. The exchange or
modification is considered as non-substantial modification when

such difference is less than 10 per cent.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MR M R

For the year ended 31 December 2024

BEZ

EoNFEF A=t -HLEFE

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial liabilities and equity (continued)
Derecognition and modification of financial liabilities (continued)

For non-substantial modifications of financial liabilities that do not
result in derecognition, the carrying amount of the relevant financial
liabilities will be calculated at the present value of the modified
contractual cash flows discounted at the financial liabilities” original
effective interest rate. Transaction costs or fees incurred are
adjusted to the carrying amount of the modified financial liabilities
and are amortised over the remaining term. Any adjustment to the
carrying amount of the financial liability is recognised in profit or

loss at the date of modification.

Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date
when derivative contracts are entered into and are subsequently
remeasured to their fair value at the end of the reporting period.

The resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.

Embedded derivatives

Derivatives embedded in hybrid contracts that contain financial
asset hosts within the scope of HKFRS 9 are not separated. The
entire hybrid contract is classified and subsequently measured in its

entirety as either amortised cost or fair value as appropriate.

Derivatives embedded in non-derivative host contracts that are not
financial assets within the scope of HKFRS 9 are treated as separate
derivatives when they meet the definition of a derivative, their
risks and characteristics are not closely related to those of the host

contracts and the host contracts are not measured at FVTPL.

Generally, multiple embedded derivatives in a single instrument
that are separated from the host contracts are treated as a single
compound embedded derivative unless those derivatives relate to
different risk exposures and are readily separable and independent

of each other.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2024

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Costs of inventories are determined on a weighted average
method. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price
for inventories less all estimated costs of completion and costs

necessary to make the sale.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents presented on the consolidated statement

of financial position include:

(a) cash, which comprises of cash on hand and demand deposits,
excluding bank balances that are subject to regulatory
restrictions that result in such balances no longer meeting the

definition of cash; and

(b) cash equivalents, which comprises of short-term (generally
with original maturity of three months or less), highly liquid
investments that are readily convertible to a known amount of
cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes
in value. Cash equivalents are held for the purpose of meeting
short-term cash commitments rather than for investment or

other purposes.

For the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and cash equivalents as

defined above.

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or services
underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred to

the customer.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e B ISR R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HBE_-_Z_NE+_-_A=+—-HLEE

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a bundle
of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of distinct goods or

services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over time
by reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of the
relevant performance obligation if one of the following criteria is

met:

e the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the Group

performs;

e the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset that the

customer controls as the Group performs; or

o the Group's performance does not create an asset with an
alternative use to the Group and the Group has an enforceable

right to payment for performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the

customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

A contract asset represents the Group's right to consideration in
exchange for goods or services that the Group has transferred to a

customer that is not yet unconditional. It is assessed for impairment
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in accordance with HKFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable represents the 95k AT {d R 1B ° 4B IR - FE UK SRIB 48 7N & B Uk
Group's unconditional right to consideration, i.e. only the passage MRENEEGEN R FAEEBE

of time is required before payment of that consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer

RERAZ T

BHEBEEAKERD B EPIHRAKE (X

goods or services to a customer for which the Group has received REFIERNE) mMAEEEERIRESE TR
consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the PzER-

customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to the same HE-EHNEMNEHNEERENBEN

contract are accounted for and presented on a net basis.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2024

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of tax currently payable and

deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from loss before income tax because of
income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and
items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for
current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or

substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets
are generally recognised for all deductible temporary differences to
the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available
against which those deductible temporary differences can be
utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised
if the temporary difference arises from the initial recognition
(other than in a business combination) of assets and liabilities in a
transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting
profit. In addition, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if the

temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of goodwill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with interests in subsidiaries, except
where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary
difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not
reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from
deductible temporary differences associated with such interests
are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will
be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of
the temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the

foreseeable future.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e B ISR R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HBE_-_Z_NE+_-_A=+—-HLEE

4. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 4. EEEHBRRERBE »)
POLICY INFORMATION (continued)
Taxation (continued) BB (®)
The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end REREHROIERNEERIEEENR
of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no HE WHBRENA 2B A B HERD &
longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to Flal e 2 EpekFB R EE R L -

allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that RLEHRIBEERBEIARREARER
are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled MABEERM 2 ME(RBUE) REE &
or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have BHRABFENEEZRBMANZER
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting MEHE-

period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the REREEEREEZFERBAEER
tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the MERRABHKESEREEERERE
Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or BREECHAREE 2 RIEAE

settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss. BVER RGEIER TE R IE 2 TE AR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2024

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional currency
of that entity (foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of
exchanges prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At the end
of the reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-
monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date
when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not

retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items,
and on the translation of monetary items, are recognised in profit

or loss in the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s operations are
translated into the presentation currency of the Group (i.e. HK$)
using exchange rates prevailing at the end of each reporting period.
Income and expenses items are translated at the average exchange
rates for the period, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly
during that period, in which case the exchange rates at the date
of transactions are used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in

equity under the heading of translation reserve.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MR M R

For the year ended 31 December 2024

BE-_Z_-_NF+-A=+—HLFE

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

Employee benefits
Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the undiscounted
amount of the benefits expected to be paid as and when employees
rendered the services. All short-term employee benefits are
recognised as an expense unless another HKFRS requires or permits

the inclusion of the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees (such as
wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave) after deducting any

amount already paid.

Retirement benefits scheme contribution

The Group contributes to a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefits scheme (the “MPF Scheme”)
under the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme Ordinance for all
employees in Hong Kong. Contributions are made based on a
percentage of the employees’ relevant income and are charged
to profit or loss as they become payable in accordance with the
rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are
held separately from those of the Group in an independently
administered fund. The Group’s employer contributions vest fully
with the employees when contributed in the MPF Scheme. Under
the MPF Scheme, the employer and its employees are each required
to make contribution to the MPF Scheme at 5% of the employees’
relevant income subject to a cap of monthly relevant income of

HK$30,000. Contributions to the MPF Scheme vest immediately.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e B ISR R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HBEZE_-_ZE_NE+_-_A=+—-HLEE

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 4. EEETHRERBE &)
POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

Share-based payments DR AERZTR
Equity-settled share-based payments transactions URAZERGHIHKE

Share options granted to employees KTESZBRE

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and others e 8 RIEHBELURS 2 EMmATELH 2
providing similar services are measured at the fair value of the AR AN &S E R A S B BRIR IR AT
equity instruments at the grant date. B RAAREEHE

For share options that vest immediately at the date of grant, the RRAELEAHANEREECBRENS 2
fair value of the share options granted is expensed immediately to BHERE AABERSREBRYER
profit or loss. X

When share options are exercised, the amount previously recognised REREREITER SRR EBRERER
in share option reserve will be transferred to share premium. When RZcBERBERERMNDEE -WERER
the share options are forfeited after the vesting date or are still not 5B BB RSB BRDARITE:
exercised at the expiry date, the amount previously recognised in AR ERERERER B RERS
share option reserve will be transferred to accumulated losses. REtEsE-

sxppEmAE 202458m 117



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MR M R

For the year ended 31 December 2024

BE-_Z_-_NF+-A=+—HLFE

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its property, plant and equipment to determine
whether there is any indication that these assets have suffered
an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable
amount of the relevant asset is estimated in order to determine
the extent of the impairment loss (if any). Intangible assets with
indefinite useful lives are tested for impairment at least annually,

and whenever there is an indication that they may be impaired.

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment
are estimated individually. When it is not possible to estimate
the recoverable amount individually, the Group estimates the

recoverable amount of the CGU to which the asset belongs.

In testing a CGU for impairment, corporate assets are allocated
to the relevant CGU when a reasonable and consistent basis of
allocation can be established, or otherwise they are allocated to
the smallest group of CGUs for which a reasonable and consistent
allocation basis can be established. The recoverable amount is
determined for the CGU or group of CGUs to which the corporate
asset belongs, and is compared with the carrying amount of the

relevant CGU or group of CGUs.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal
and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future
cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the asset (or a CGU) for

which the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2024

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment

(continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a CGU) is estimated to
be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset
(or a CGU) is reduced to its recoverable amount. For corporate
assets or portion of corporate assets which cannot be allocated on
a reasonable and consistent basis to a CGU, the Group compares
the carrying amount of a group of CGUs, including the carrying
amounts of the corporate assets or portion of corporate assets
allocated to that group of CGUs, with the recoverable amount
of the group of CGUs. In allocating the impairment loss, the
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount
of any goodwill (if applicable) and then to the other assets on a
pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in the
unit or the group of CGUs. The carrying amount of an asset is not
reduced below the highest of its fair value less costs of disposal (if
measurable), its value in use (if determinable) and zero. The amount
of the impairment loss that would otherwise have been allocated to
the asset is allocated pro rata to the other assets of the unit or the
group of CGUs. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in

profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or CGU or a group of CGUs) is increased to
the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the
increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount
that would have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset (or a CGU or a group of CGUs) in prior
years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in

profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e B ISR R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HBE_-_Z_NE+_-_A=+—-HLEE

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation

4.

EESTHRERNEE 2

4
AR ERBEFHMARERNEE CX

(legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that ERMEE)MASEERAEGEERTEHEAR
the Group will be required to settle that obligation, and a reliable TEE@EEEM Pz BRI EMEE I
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. TR

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the WRABEBz YN REHRETR

consideration required to settle the present obligation at the end of
the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties
surrounding the obligation. When a provision is measured using the
cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying
amount is the present value of those cash flows (where the effect

of the time value of money is material).

KEEMEREMEZREMT LEE
BEeAREETZRARRTHEL -ERE
TREBEIMBZGEARSREERE
K mEEzKEEEZEEXN AER@EE
TRZFREREZBRE

sm

Segment reporting D EEHE
Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item KEDH KRGV BREMZWEH A
reported in the consolidated financial statements, are identified B2zag DHitmAsEEIEERLiE

from the financial information provided regularly to the Group’s
most senior executive management for the purposes of allocating
resources to, and assessing the performance of, the Group’s various

lines of business and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated for
financial reporting purposes unless the segments have similar
economic characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature
of products and services, the nature of production processes, the
type or class of customers, the methods used to distribute the
products or provide the services, and the nature of the regulatory
environment. Operating segments which are not individually
material may be aggregated if they share a majority of these

criteria.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2024

4. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

Related party

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a)

(b)

A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is related

to the Group if that person:

(i)  has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of the

Group or the Group's parent.

An entity is related to the Group if any of the following

conditions applies:

(i)  The entity and the Group are members of the same group
(which means that each parent, subsidiary and fellow

subsidiary is related to the others).
(i) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other

entity (or an associate or joint venture of a member of a

group of which the other entity is a member).

(iii) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

A M WAR MR

BE-Z_-_NF+=-A=+—HLFE
EESTHRERBE »)

BAHE S
K5 T OB RIS 3 B 4 [ A

(@ MM—BALFTATIER EsHA
HREE A B B B £R (5] F R B

() 8 AR SKE A 4 K KR R )
T

(i) HAEEEEAFES X

(i) BAEEXAEEFARTIEE
BABKE-

(b) NETIEAIGRENERAEAREE
B RAE

() ZERBEREESR—SBENK
B8 RR HEBAF
RRZEMB AR ZEARE) -

(i) —ERAZBERNBLERFRN
BELE(IRZ—ERMEE
EETHKERRMNBEARRE
BRE)-

(i) MERBHBRA-F=ZITHWALD

EREZEREMRDT 2024F R

121



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MR M R

For the year ended 31 December 2024

4. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING

B=

—E-_NE+=-BA=+—HIEE

4, EESTHEREREE 2

POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

Related party (continued)

BT ()

(b)  (continued) (b) (%)

(iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the vy —BEA—XFE=-ZFEEMNEES

other entity is an associate of the third entity. ¥ ME—BRBRAZE=FE
RN NG

(v)  The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the ) BEEDRNEESASE AR
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity ERNESEMNMENEEEZRE
related to the Group. MEtEl -

(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person (vi) ZEBXQ@BATEATEH T
identified in (a). EEH]

(viiy A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence (vi) @OEBEFTIEATHZEEZBEEKXN
over the entity or is a member of the key management HENLGRZER (HNZES
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity). F)EEEEABKE -

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a (vii) ZEREIHMBEENEAKE
part, provides key management personnel services to the NEMAEEELAEET QAR
Group or to the Group's parent. HEFEEBAERE

A related party transaction is a transfer of resources, services or BB A RS RAKEEEN S CMEEE

obligations between the Group and a related party, regardless of

whether a price is charged.

B RBREE M TwmetKE -

Close family members of a person are those family members who BRAANTHAERRGEXEEEZSKE R
may be expected to influence, or be influenced by, that person in ERETRINTAHRAHZALEKZE
their dealings with the entity. RZEFENRIRKE °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2024

5. KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION

UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies which are
described in Note 4, the directors are required to make judgments,
estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.
The estimates and underlying assumptions are based on historical
experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant.

Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-
going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the
period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only
that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if

the revision affects both current and future periods.

The followings are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of
the reporting period that may have a significant risk of causing a
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities

within the next financial year.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MR M R

For the year ended 31 December 2024

BE-_Z_-_NF+-A=+—HLFE

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Provision for expected credit losses on trade
and other receivables

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate expected credit
losses for trade and other receivables, by applying expected credit
loss rates to different ageing groups of debtors. The expected credit
loss rate of each ageing group is determined by the Group based
on the average of historical incurred credit loss experience on each
ageing group in the past years and, where material, adjusted for
forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic

environment.

The Group’s historical credit loss experience and forecast of
economic conditions related to customers may significantly differ
from the customer’s actual outcome in the future and significant
management estimates are required in the estimates. When the
actual outcome or expectation in future is different from the
original estimates, such differences will impact on the carrying
amounts of trade and other receivables and the amount of
expected credit losses provided or reversed in the periods in which
such estimates have been changed. Details of the expected credit
losses on the Group’s trade and other receivables are disclosed in

note 35 to the consolidated financial statements.

Estimated impairment on loan and interest
receivables

The management periodically reviews its loan and interest
receivables to assess whether impairment by taking into
consideration the credit profile of different customers, the aging
profiles, their knowledge about the customers, market conditions
and past settlement patterns. At each reporting date, the historical
observed default rates are reassessed, with reference to the market
default rates and changes in the forward-looking information are
considered. In addition, the Group’s loan and interest receivables
with significant balances and credit impaired are assessed for
expected credit loss individually. The provision for expected credit
loss is sensitive to changes in estimates. Details of the impairment
on the Group's loan and interest receivables are disclosed in note

35 to the consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2024

SEGMENT REPORTING

The Group determines its operating segments based on the reports
reviewed by the executive directors, being the chief operating
decision-maker (the “CODM"), that are used to make strategic

decisions.

The segments are managed separately as each business offers
different products and services and requires different business
strategies. The following summary describes the operations in each

of the Group's reportable segments:

Continuing operations

(1) Sale of medical products (“Medical Products Business”);

(2) Sale of plastic moulding products (“Plastic Products Business”);

(3) Provision of money lending (“Money Lending Business”); and

(4) Investment in securities (“Securities Investment Business”).

Discontinued operation

(1) Provision of construction services in building construction,
building maintenance and improvement works, project
management, renovation and decoration works (“Building

Contract Works Business”).

The Group discontinued Building Contract Works Business segment
which was accounted for as a discontinued operation in respect of
the year ended 31 December 2023. Details about the Discontinued

operation are set out in Note 16.

Corporate revenue and expenses are not allocated to the operating
segments as they are not included in the measure of the segment
results that is used by the CODM for assessment of segment

performance.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e B ISR R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HBE_-_Z_NE+_-_A=+—-HLEE

6. SEGMENT REPORTING (continued) 6. DEHE (&)
The following is an analysis of the Group's revenue and results by T AREERRAREDBE D 2 WA R
reportable segments: KED:
(a) Segment revenue and results (a) PEBUMARELE
For the year ended 31 December 2024 BE-Z-MNEF+-A=+—HLF
E
Discontinued
Continuing operations operation
BALE
RESELE X%
Building
Medical Plastic Money Securities Contract
Products Products lending  Investment Works
Business Business Business Business Business Total
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000
BRER BBER #5RE : E4)
% % HEXH % IBEE 4g
T T T T T T
Revenue from external customers RENBERHA 25,566 1,007 11,219 - - 37,792
Timing of revenue recognition A ONe 3|
At a point in time £-BfE% 25,566 1,007 - - - 26,573
Reportable segment profit/(loss) ARESPER/ (BB 4,225 (1,546) 7,250 (1,807) - 8,122
Reportable seqment assets RENPEE 18,983 51 74,865 59,374 - 153,273
Reportable segment liabilities TREIPEE 44,265 13,348 1,147 - - 58,760
Amounts included in the measure of SENBEES
segment results or segment assets ARBEHALEE
Interest income MEHA - 1) = ®) = (9)
(Reversal of impairment losses)impaiment ~ EHIE S BREX THA
losses recognised under expected credit loss  (REFEEE),/
model, net REBR FE (4.267) - 2,967 - = (1,300)
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For the year ended 31 December 2024

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

6. SEGMENT REPORTING (continued)

(a) Segment revenue and results (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

A MWK

BE-T-_MF+-A=+—-HLFE

6. DEHE (&)
(@) DEPWMARESE &)
BHE_ZT-_=F+-_A=+—HI1F

I3
Discontinued
Continuing operations operation
BAILE
BEOEER EXK
Building
Medical Plastic Money Securities Contract
Products Products Lending Investment Works
Business Business Business Business Business Total
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BEED ZBER EHRE BTAR
5% 5% HEEE x5 IR%E 2
TR TAL TETL TEn TEn TEn
Revenue from external customers REMBEFRA 21,938 635 11,760 - - 34,333
Timing of revenue recognition BB A ER
At a point in time E-REE 21,938 635 - - - 2,573
Reportable seqment profit/(loss) AREL PR/ (FB) 3,262 (829) 14,744 (8,795) (1,040) 7,342
Reportable segment assets TRENPEE 25,455 327 81,806 50,407 104 158,099
Reportable segment liabilities TRESPERE 54,965 11,779 1,132 = 1,604 69,480
Amounts included in the measure of SEAHEES
seqment results or segment assets PPEEFAZER
Interest income MEKA = = @) (12) = (14)
Depreciation of property, plant and % BER&E(RERA
equipment (including right-of-use assets) ~ EZE )& - - 480 - - 480
(Reversal of impairment losses)impairment  BEEEBRERET (H(E
losses recognised under expected credit  BEEME) /R ZEE
loss model, net BR 78 (2,386) - (5,548) = 1,038 (6,896)
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HBE_-_Z_NE+_-_A=+—-HLEE

D EBIRE ()

(b) THREDHBA -BFE -BE

6. SEGMENT REPORTING (continued) 6.

(b) Reconciliation of reportable segment

revenue, profit or loss, assets and liabilities REEZHR
2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
—EC-NME —E-=F
FHET FET
Revenue from continuing operations BERSEEBHBA
Reportable segment revenue BECEoR-I S ON 37,792 34,333
Reportable segment profit A] 5 & 5 & A 8,122 8,382
Finance cost BT 7% A AR (1,200) (2,307)
Unallocated corporate expenses ROB X (8,155) (7,788)
Loss before income tax from HEKEEBN
continuing operations MRATEBATES (1,233) (1,713)
Assets BE
Segment assets DEEE 153,273 157,995
Cash and cash equivalents ReERREEEY 4,583 7,716
Unallocated corporate assets ROBEEEE 1,474 2,903
Consolidated assets from continuing HEQSEEBN
operations REEE 159,330 168,614
Liabilities af\
Segment liabilities SEEE 58,760 67,876
Bond payables JE - & 55 30,900 30,900
Unallocated corporate liabilities AOEEEBEE 9,542 6,977
Consolidated liabilities from continuing FHEKE KM
operations mEaE 99,202 105,753
Revenue from a discontinued operation B #& 1E&& EK KU A
Reportable segment revenue CIEER- 8 ON - -
Reportable segment loss Al RE D ERE R - (1,040)
Loss before income tax from ERIEREERN
discontinued operation MRATEBAIER - (1,040)
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HBEZE_-_ZE_NE+_-_A=+—-HLEE

6. SEGMENT REPORTING (continued) 6. /]-J\%Bﬁ%(%g)

(b) Reconciliation of reportable segment

revenue, profit or loss, assets and liabilities

(continued)

Reportable segment results represents the profit/(loss)
attributable to each segment without allocation of central
administrative expenses, corporate directors’ emoluments
under the heading of “unallocated corporate expenses” and
finance costs. This is the measure reported to the CODM
for the purposes of resource allocation and performance

assessment.

All assets from continuing operations are allocated to
reportable segments other than cash and cash equivalents,
partial deposits, prepayment and other receivables included in

corporate assets.

All liabilities from continuing operations are allocated to
reportable segments other than bond payables and partial

other payables included in corporate liabilities.

(b) AIHREDHWA B -BE

REBEzHKR &)

AT H A S HEA 2
CB51R) - 8 P S S B eR RATHBE -
RHEZBAZIET 22 BEEH
ERMBRAEH DB - TIAER
ERRRERENETARSERE
R 2 %

SEREEBOMBEEEADEER
BEOHM HELTEERRE LRSS
B it AzRBEENSIRE T
EREYSE T e

SEREEBNMEREIDEEA
HE D L BB E S KA
AZBABENID EMENKIE-
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HBE_-_Z_NE+_-_A=+—-HLEE

6. SEGMENT REPORTING (continued) 6. DEEE (#)
(c) Geographic information (c) HEEHR
All of the Group’s non-current assets (excluded financial AEEHIFERDEE (RMBILE
instruments) were located in Hong Kong. AN IR EE -
Information about the Group's revenue from external BEASERANINTEF ZBAE
customers, presented based on geographical location of the BOAEPZHBMEZY] 51BN
customers are detailed below: N
2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
—EZNF —T=F
FERT FHET
From continuing operations REFELEED
Hong Kong BE 11,219 11,760
People's Republic of China (the “PRC") pEARLAME ([FE]) 25,566 21,938
Others HAt 1,007 635
37,792 34,333
(d) Information about major customers d xEEFEH
Revenue from customers contributing over 10% of the total REEMAEEBRABBIONZE
revenue of the Group are set out below: PZWAHRTX:
2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
ZEINF —EC-=F
FHERT FET
From continuing operations REFELE XD
Customer A — Medical Products Business EPA-—BEEMmES 11,025 8,268
Customer B — Medical Products Business EFB—BEEMER 1,080 10,130
Except for disclosed above, no other customers contributed BRENFEBEEN TEEMEPR
10% or more to the Group's revenue for both years from W E 4 AN R B A A TS U
continuing operations. ABRBR10%3IA £ o
No customers contributed 10% or more to the Group's MEXPRMEFESARNEEB &L
revenue for both years from discontinued operation. BEEBHBRABTRI10%IA L
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REVENUE 7. WA
2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
—EB_MmE —F-=F
FERT FHET
Revenue from contracts with customers ZEEMEREERFEISHEEER
within the scope of HKFRS 15: ZREEFEHZWA:
From continuing operations REFFELEEB
Sale of medical products HEBEED 25,566 21,938
Sale of plastic moulding products HELBRBERER 1,007 635
26,573 22,573
Revenue from other source: REHMWHRZWA :
Loan interest income BERFEHA 11,219 11,760
37,792 34,333
Transaction allocated to the remaining PTEHREREFENRTENEREN
performance obligation for contracts with 5
customers
The Group has applied the practical expedient in paragraph AEBEEKEAMBREERNEISHKE
121 of HKFRS 15 to its sales contracts for medical products and NIBMNERER S ZEBREEREER
plastic moulding products such that the Group does not disclose LREBEAEEREEESL UBRAKEL
information about revenue that the Group will be entitled to when EREARAEERBEITERER SR
it satisfies the remaining performance obligations under the sales RAERHEEAHN (REAHRA—FK
contracts of medical products and plastic moulding products that LA B9 82 T B 49 & (F 5 % B A M ER 2 IR
had an original expected duration of one year or less. wmH)E K o
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8. OTHER INCOME AND OTHER GAINS OR 8. HtWAREMKBHNER
LOSSES
2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
—ECNF —To=F
FERT FET
From continuing operations REFECELE
Exchange gain, net P % - 58 - 1
Realised and unrealised loss in HIEFEERECVEER NARER
held-for-trading investments, net E518 - F R (1,801) (8,545)
Interest income MEWKA 9 14
Impairment loss recognised on property, M- BERREER ZREEE
plant and equipment = (594)
Gain on termination of lease RIEESE 2 W = 438
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—FERBAR 2 & 100 567
Others Hh 138 4
(1,554) (8,115)
FINANCE COST 9. BBEH
2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
—EC-MmEF —FE-=F
FAL FAE
From continuing operations REFESEER
Interest on bond payables JE& 1~ 18 25 F& 1,200 2,307
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HBEZE_-_ZE_NE+_-_A=+—-HLEE

10. LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX 10.BRFT BB AIE B

AEBEZBRAEHAIERE NG (GFA)

The Group’s loss before income tax is arrived at after charging/

(crediting): IR
2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
—E-ME —E=F
FHERT FHET
From continuing operations REBELSEER
Staff costs (including directors’ emoluments) E LKA (BEEZ=ET)
— Salaries, wages and benefits in kind —Fe ILEREYEA 3,470 3,612
— Retirement benefits scheme contributions ~— — 3R /K48 F 5T 2 4L 2% 56 142
3,526 3,754
Depreciation of property, plant and ME - BEREE
equipment (including right-of-use assets) (BEFRBEEE)TE - 480
Auditor’s remuneration 1% BRI B & 360 440
Expenses relating to short-term leases FREHEEREEREEY
and low-value assets 3 324 793
Loss on early repayment of bond payables REEERENESFZEIE - 5,831
Impairment losses recognised on property, W BERRERRZBEESE
plant and equipment - 594
Reversal of impairment losses recognised BHEEEEREA THR
under expected credit loss model on: A R R A
— trade receivables - & 5K A (4,267) (2,386)
— loan receivables - IR E 2,967 (5,548)
(1,300) (7,934)
Cost of inventories sold BEEFERA
(included in cost of sales) (G ASHERA) 23,852 19,525
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11. INCOME TAX EXPENSE M. FEHAX

Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% of the estimated
assessable profits for both years.

No Hong Kong Profits Tax was provided for both years as the Group
did not derive any estimated assessable profits.

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT Law")
and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax rate of the
PRC subsidiaries is 25% for both years.

No PRC Enterprise Income Tax was provided for both years as the
Group did not derive any estimated assessable profits.

The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to the loss
before income tax per the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income as follows:

EEMNESH IR EEE 2 G ERE0E
F|216.5%E & o

R A E I |EUSEM (G5 ERBE )
BN M 3 EAE L BB RS A

RBHFBECEMERZE ([REMEHE]D)
REERBBEBRGN  RMEFE 5
BB ARZHER25% °

AR AN S B I B ES R {4 5 IERR B 7 -
A P 8] 6 2 30 M E AP B b 3R AT 1S A B
=R

AEEMEHAXEFEEGEMER
Was R Z RIS BRI E R RMT

2024 2023
HK$"000 HK$'000
—ENF —Eo=F
FERT FHET
Loss before income tax BRETS R AT AR
- Continuing operations — BT (1,233) (1,713)
- Discontinued operation — BRI = (1,040)
(1,233) (2,753)
Tax at the domestic income tax rate ZEAREHRREAE Zf)‘%lﬁ 203 (454)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for PRI B 2 2 B 7S 7
tax purpose 540 1,640
Tax effect of income not taxable for Bt WA 2 IS 8
tax purpose (720) (1,879)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised AERTEBB BB & 935 741
Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses AR A BRI IBEE 2
previously not recognised MR E (958) (48)
Income tax expense iR - -

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused tax
losses of approximately HK$405,758,000 (2023: HK$416,522,000).
No deferred tax asset in respect of tax losses have been recognised
as at 31 December 2024 and 2023 as management considers it
is unlikely that future taxable profits against which the losses can
be utilised will be available in the foreseeable future. All of the
tax losses as at 31 December 2024 and 2023 will not expire under
current tax legislation.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HBEZE_-_ZE_NE+_-_A=+—-HLEE

12.LOSS PER SHARE 12. BIREE

The computation of the basic and diluted loss per share is based on BREARREEEEDERUTEEE

the following data:

Continuing and

discontinued operations Continuing operations
BHESERCRIEREER FREREXEE
2024 2023 2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
ZE_MF —E-=% —ECoQmE —To=F
FERT FHET FET FH&T
Loss B8
Loss for the purpose of basic loss ARG EEREREER
per share B8
Loss for the year attributable to AARIRERA ARG
equity holders of the Company FEEIE (1,233) (2,753) (6,008) (1,713)
2024 2023 2024 2023
‘000 '000 ‘000 '000
—E_OmF —E-=F —ECo@mE —F-=F
TR’ F A% TR’ T &
Number of shares ROHE
Weighted average number of AR EERERER
ordinary shares for the purpose VAR i T
of basic loss per share 967,552 930,510 967,552 930,510
The weighted average number of share for the year ended 31 HE-_Z-_=F+-A=+—RHLFE"
December 2023 for the purpose of the calculation of basic loss per RAEEREAREEMS 2 RH 2 mEFE
share has been adjusted after taking into account of the rights issue HEYME KA RRZFERNLRESFE —
on the basis of one right share for every one existing shares made (%38 B M 0 3 — IR AR AR (0 Ay B 4B 1T
during that year. B AR 17 5
As the Company’s outstanding share options where applicable had AR El M ARITEE 2 EARAE (E R ) ¥
an anti-dilutive effect to the basic loss per share calculation, the BREABEZGFEEARESYE W
exercise of the above potential dilutive shares is not assumed in the EMEFEz BREFTEERRHK
calculation of diluted loss per share for both years and the diluted ‘}gﬁiﬁﬁﬁﬁf’ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ BEHEMESF
loss per share for both years ended are the same as basic loss per ENERETEEEABAFENBRER
share for the respective years. E AR -
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13. DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS 13.EE <€
Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant to The KEZRBBMIMEFSFLMAM -BER
Rules Governing The Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange, A B 85383(1)(a) ~ (b) * () R (D& & (A&
section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of the Hong Kong Companies (BREEMNZER) RO 2B HENE
Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of Information EHBOT

about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

For the year ended 31 December 2024 BE-Z-_WNF+-A=+t—HLEE
Salaries, Retirement
allowances benefits
Directors’ and benefits scheme
fees in kind contributions Total
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
e 2K RINEF
EEHE BUA & sHEIHR @zt
FEx FER FER FEx
Executive directors HTES
Zhang Hengxin* RTH* 240 = = 240
Jia Minghui EE 240 - - 240

Independent non-executive BUFHTES

directors
Au Yeung Ming Yin Gordon B 5 88 B 180 - - 180
Guo Zhenhui BB 96 - - 96
Ye Mengmei' Z2x 9 - - 96
Total #Et 852 - - 852
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13. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

A M WAR MR

BE-T-_MF+-A=+—-HLFE

13.EEM<E 2

BE-F-=4#+-A=t-ALEE

Salaries, Retirement
allowances benefits
Directors’ and benefits scheme
fees in kind contributions Total
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
e 2R RIKEF
EEHS EWAE HEGEA Bt
FAT FHT FHET FAT
Executive directors HITES
Zhang Hengxin* RFE&* 240 - - 240
Jia Minghui EHE 240 - - 240
Independent non-executive BYFHTES
directors
Chan Tsz Keung? BR B 542 29 - - 29
Au Yeung Ming Yin Gordon BG4 E 180 - - 180
Guo Zhenhui FhEmE 9 - - 9%
Ye Mengmei' Z2x 49 - - 49
Total mEt 834 - - 834

1. Appointed on 27 June 2023
2. Resigned on 27 March 2023
i Chief executive officer

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for their
services in connection with the management of the affairs of the
Company and the Group.

The independent non-executive directors’ emoluments shown above
were for their services as the directors.

No emoluments were paid by the Group to the directors, as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation
for loss of office for both years. None of the directors waived or
agreed to waive any emoluments for both years.

Except disclosed in Note 32 to the consolidated financial
statements, no other transactions, arrangements and contracts
in relation to the Group’s business to which the Company or any
subsidiaries of the Company was a party and in which a director
had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at
the end of the reporting period or at any time during the years.

1. RZZBEZ_=FA=-+tRHEZHF
2. R-ZE-_=F=ZA-++HHAF
TR

A EMBATESTME DR REHERE
ARRIRAEEEHIEG 2 RS -

A EREBYLIFATESEME DR KNS
ERESZ RS-

R EFE AEBEYEAE S ER
M EREEMARNEEINIMARE
B2 BB SE AR E -RREFE
BEEENRXATRREAME -

BRI mR M 32K E & 5N R
EHRRLFAEMER AR EREEM
MEARME VESEXXHERERE
ANSENEAREXBERNEMR S
RHERAH -

EREZEREMRDT 2024F R
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14. FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS 4 EEBEHFMAL
Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the Group, rEBEREERTMzALTH FOF (=
four of them (2023: three) were the directors whose emoluments T ZR)EZ - ZEEE2HMER
are included in the disclosure in Note 13 above. The emoluments of EXMFBHEE - BT —RAT(ZT ==
the remaining one (2023: two) individuals were as follows: F-MB)zHMEHT:
2024 2023
HK$"000 HK$'000
“EZNEF —T-=F
FHERT FET
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind Fre RMEEDNR 960 1,030
Retirement benefits scheme contributions RRAE B ET B 3R 18 15
978 1,045
Their emoluments were within the following bands: BEZMENFTIIEE:
2024 2023
Number of Number of
individuals individuals
—EZEFE —E-=F
A AH
Nil to HK$1,000,000 £ 21,000,000/ 7T 1 2
No emoluments were paid by the Group to the five highest paid RWEFEERN  ANEBIWESSEANMHE
individuals, as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or THEERHTM 2 AT ERESIMAR
as compensation for loss of office for both years. 8 B 350 N A AN 55 [ I 2 B2 3k 1 7 Tl A
fifE
15. DIVIDENDS 15. R &
No dividend was paid or proposed for shareholders of the Company EESWERTEZARBE_T_MOF
during the year ended 31 December 2024, nor has any dividend TZA=+—BIEFERAR B RFIKE
been proposed subsequent to the end of the reporting period % B 3 DR S B R 18 IR IR S
(2023: nil). ZE=F )
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16. DISCONTINUED OPERATION 16. BRI REEK
During the year ended 31 December 2023, one of the subsidiaries NBE_ZT_=F+_A=+—HILFE"
of the Group, ACE Engineering Limited (“ACE Engineering”) AEBHEF-—RHMBARILEIREGRA
suspended the operation. ACE Engineering was a registered A([REIRDELEEEE -TBTIE
contractor in several government/public organisations which was ABETHN/ARX#EFMEAER &

pu
o3
=
i‘{ljt
4H1

BT BESAN NEFE

eligible to obtain contracts from these government bodies. During

that year, ACE Engineering was not able to obtain renewal of LB TR RGBS AEMTMER Bt
the contractor registration, therefore the operations had been EREREEHK - o T RFEERM
suspended. ACE Engineering was principally engaged in provision of BFgsE.

BFHEELRNETIRE HBEE
=

construction services in building construction, building maintenance BREREMTEAE EERS 25
and improvement works, project management, renovation and EBRAEEMREERPBINERRA
decoration works, which represented a separate business line of Al AAREERA REBE_ZT_=F
the Group's operations. The directors of the Company are in view TZA=T—RLFE EFEABIEE
that the building contract works business had been abandoned TEE R MR L& -

and discontinued at the beginning of the year ended 31 December

2023.
The loss for the year ended 31 December 2023 from the discontinued BHE_ZT_=F+_A=+—HILFERD
operation is set out below: RIS E E R EEN BRI T
2023
HK$'000
—E-=F
FHET
Loss of discontinued operation for the year HFRERIFELERNEIR (1,040)
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16. DISCONTINUED OPERATION (continued) 16.ERLREXK 2
The results of the discontinued operations for the period from 1 ERIEEEBR T _=F—H—HE
January 2023 to respective date of discontinuation of the respective ZHEBEEBE BRIEEE BB AR E
operations, which have been included in the consolidated statement E (Bt AR EakEmemliizER)m
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, were as follows: ™
2023
HK$'000
—EC=F
FHT
Administrative expenses THAXZ (1,040)
Loss before income tax BRFT1S BRI &R (1,040)
Income tax expense PR 5 %5 B 2 -
Loss for the year FAEE (1,040)
2023
HK$ cents
—Eo=F
A
Loss per share from discontinued ERIEKEEBNER
operation B
Basic and diluted ERREE (0.11)
During the year ended 31 December 2023, the discontinued HE_T_=F+_A=+—RHLLFE"
operations contributed approximately HK$884,000 to the Group's BRI LA 375 7m A SR (B 75 2R 40884,00078
net operating cash outflows. TCHVAS IR & HFEE -
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17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 17.9% - BERKE
Plant,
Furniture machinery
and and office Motor  Right-of-use
fixtures equipment vehicles assets Total
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BE #ER
BRREE BRARE RE  RAREEE @t
FET THET TR TR TR
Cost B
As at 1 January 2023 RZE-=F—H—H 5,709 3,093 1,129 666 10,597
Termination of lease arrangement REAERE - - - (666) (666)

As at 31 December 2023, 1 January ~ RZT_=%+ZRA=+—-H"

2024 and 31 December 2024 —ZME-RA-BK
T NF+ZRA=1+—H 5,709 3,093 1,129 - 9,931

Accumulated depreciation R MERAE

and impairment
As at 1 January 2023 RZZZ=%£—-f—H 5,709 2,019 1,129 666 9,523
Depreciation for the year RRFEENE - 480 - - 480
Termination of lease arrangement RIETHERH - - - (666) (666)
Impairment loss REEE - 594 - - 594
As at 31 December 2023, 1 January ~ RZE==F+=-A=+—H"

2024 and 31 December 2024 —Z-WE-RA-BK

—E-NFE+ZA=1+—H 5,709 3,093 1,129 - 9,931

Carrying amounts BEE
As at 31 December 2024 RZB-WE+=A=1+—-H - - - - -
As at 31 December 2023 RZE-_=%+=A=+—H - - - - -
The Group regularly entered into short-term leases for office. As at AEBTEHETNAZTRPRN - R
31 December 2024 and 2023, the portfolio of short-term leases is —WEN—E_=F+_A=+—H'8E
similar to the portfolio of short-term leases to which the short-term HAMH E w4 & B E th 3 75 B BR A K2 ER AR
lease expense disclosed elsewhere. As at 31 December 2024 and EEANESHEU - RZTE_MERZE
2023, no outstanding lease commitments relating to short-term —=F+-A=+—H8 TEHESHAE
leases. BB RERSHGE-
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18. GOODWILL 18. W&
2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$'000
—E-MF —E=F
FET F&T
Cost 28N
As at 1 January Wn—H—H 77,558 77,558
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—MKE QR (10,196) -
As at 31 December WN+ZA=+—8 67,362 77,558
Accumulated impairment losses ZitREFE
As at 1 January n—H—H 77,558 77,558
Disposal of a subsidiary HE - B AR (10,196) -
As at 31 December Wn+=—A=+—8 67,362 77,558
Carrying amount as at 31 December Rt+tZA=+—BZEHEE = -
Notes: Hiat:
(i) Building Contract Works Business (i) BFEABIEED

Goodwill of approximately HK$10,196,000 relates to the Building
Contract Works Business unit, a CGU, acquired as part of the
acquisition of ACE Engineering. The goodwill of approximately
HK$10,196,000 had been fully impaired in prior years. During the
year ended 31 December 2024, the ACE Engineering was disposed
and relevant goodwill is released.

(i)  Medical Devices Business

Goodwill of approximately HK$67,362,000 relates to the Medical
Devices Business unit acquired as part of the acquisition of the
Titron Group in 2011, as defined and detailed in the Company’s
circular dated 12 August 2011. Owing to the significant and
continuous losses incurred by this business unit in prior years, the
goodwill of approximately HK$67,362,000 had been fully impaired

in prior years.
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#)10,196,000/% 7T 2 P& Jh B VE RIS
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e B ISR R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HBEZE_-_ZE_NE+_-_A=+—-HLEE

19.INVENTORIES 19. 78
2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
—E-MF T =F
FExT FAT
Raw materials R R - 2
Finished goods BIAL 11,409 7,260
11,409 7,262
20. HELD-FOR-TRADING INVESTMENTS 20 EEERE
2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
—E-MEF —E=F
TET FET
Equity securities listed in Hong Kong, REBLETZRAES
at fair value BAREEB 59,373 45,468
The fair values of these investments are determined with reference ZEREZRARBETIZRBEZATATRK
to the quoted market closing prices on the Stock Exchange. MEET-
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e B ISR R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HBE_-_Z_NE+_-_A=+—-HLEE

21. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 1. EGREMEWRIE
2024 2023
HK$°000 HK$'000
—E-ME —T-=F
FET FAT
Trade receivables from contracts with RERFAHNZE S RWIEA
customers (Note (i) (W) 26,910 45,294
Less: Allowance for credit losses W EEEREE (19,335) (27,101)
7,575 18,193
Retention receivables from contracts with REBEFPEAZEBRES
customers (Note (i) (HaEdi)) = 272
Less: Allowance for credit losses B EEBIERE - (272)
Loan receivables (Note (iv)) fEWRE R (Katdv)) 149,617 153,534
Less: Allowance for credit losses W EEEERE (75,232) (72,265)
74,385 81,269
Deposits, prepayment and other receivables &% * T8 3B & E b fE UL B
(Note (v)) (Kratw)) 2,005 8,810
Total trade and other receivables B 5 R E AR GRIB B 83,965 108,272
As at 1 January 2023, trade receivables and retention receivables R-E_=F—A—HB BFAYELEN
arising from contracts with customers (before allowance for B5RWRERERRES (NBKREE
credit losses) amounted to approximately HK$63,765,000 and BB BRI 9 5l 49 /63,765,000 7T K&

HK$272,000 respectively. 272,000/ JT °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2024

21. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

Notes:

(i)

The Group allows credit period up to 90 to 180 days to its trade
customers. The aging analysis of trade receivables (net of allowance
for credit losses), based on earliest of the invoice date or revenue

recognition date is, as follows:

A M WAR MR

BE-T-_MF+-A=+—-HLFE

1. EFREMEWRE )
it -

)

REBGETEESEFPZEERES
/R90E 180K - & 5 fE W K IE (MR 1E
EFEBRE) REEAMNKARRA
MUEREERE)E D ZERES TN
T

2024 2023

HK$'000 HK$'000

—ECME —E-=F

FET FET

Within 3 months 3AAR - 3,558
Over 3 months but within 6 months 3EAN EEREARA - -
Over 6 months 618 A LA L 7,575 14,635
7,575 18,193

Retention receivables are derived from the Building Contract Works
Business and are interest-free and recoverable at the end of the
retention period of individual construction contracts ranging from
3 months to 1 year. As at 31 December 2023, retention receivables

were considered as credit impaired.

(if)

ERRES D RAEFT A IRER
TRRERNRERESGOFREH (N
FZEAAE-F)RATH@R-R_F
T=FtZA=t+—H EERESE
WRBEERE-
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MR M R

For the year ended 31 December 2024

21. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

Notes. (continued)

(iii)

As at 31 December 2024, included in the Group trade receivables
(net of allowance for credit losses) balance are debtors with
aggregates carrying amounts of approximately HK$7,575,000
(2023: HK$14,635,000), which are past due at the end of the
reporting period. Out of the past due balances, HK$7,575,000
(2023: HK$14,635,000) (net of allowance for credit losses) has
been past due 180 days or more and is not considered as in default
because of no recent history of default and the directors are in

opinion of these balances are still considered as collectible.

Trade receivables are assessed based on provision matrix, except
for trade receivables with gross carrying amounts of approximately
HK$16,590,000 (2023: approximately HK$25,356,000), which
are classified as credit-impaired, that are assessed individually.
The Group performed impairment assessment for the other trade
receivables equal to lifetime ECLs, which is calculated using a
provision matrix. As the Group's historical credit loss experience
does not indicate significantly different loss patterns for different
customer, the loss allowance based on past due status is not
further distinguished between the Group's different customer bases

as at the end of the reporting period.

The following table provides information about the Group's
exposure to credit risk for trade receivables and retention
receivables which are assessed collectively based on provision
matrix exclude for those who are assessed individually or credit-

impaired:
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BE-_Z_-_NF+-A=+—HLFE

1. EFREMEWRE &)
Hiat: (&)

(iii)

RZZEZWFE+=ZA=+—H A%H
BHRWFE(MREEBERER) N
HEHRBPEER AKREER7,575,000
BT (ZFZ=%:14,635,000/%
) ERBEBHREAR BB
gRH - 7,575,000 T (Z T =4
14,635,000 7C) (MBREEEERE)
B 18 #1180 8 3k LA b - 1 (A3 HA 0 4 &
W EFRARSEHRNAI T
B I REAREDEL

B RNFBRBHEERTE KRES
JE L2 5% T8 B TH 48 5B 916,590,000 T
(ZZ = =% :4925,356,000/% 7x) (£
BENEREERE)EBITMINKE
EZBREZREHENEEBFENS
BEITEME 5B IER R AT
WA BEEEATE - RIBEAEENBE
EEBEBER TRARFEAEBENE
RRAEBEEZR RURBEHRER
Ba sk R R ERERSRE 5
EOARNEBTRNESHE-

TREHEBASERERBERES
BB ZEZEREFRERERERES
FEERBNER EBFERNEERE
EERON



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e B ISR R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HBEZE_-_ZE_NE+_-_A=+—-HLEE

21.TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued) 21. EZ REMEWRFE 2
Notes: (continued) MeE: (&)
(iii)  (continued) (iiiy (#&)
2024
—EBONF
Gross
carrying
amounts —
Expected loss Trade Loss
rate receivables allowance
H 5 EWRRIE
EHEER BERTH(E BiERE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Over 6 months past due EHANE A A £ 26.6% 10,320 2,745
Total st 10,320 2,745
2023
—E-=F
Gross
carrying
amounts —
Expected loss Trade Loss
rate receivables allowance
E 5 W RIE
TEE RS IR % WREREE EEEE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FAT
Not past due SR8 HR - 1,600 -
Less than 3 months past due wE R =1EA 4.7% 1,958 92
Over 6 months past due EHEASE A A £ 10.1% 16,380 1,653
18,338 1,745
Total #ast 19,938 1,745
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e B ISR R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HBE_-_Z_NE+_-_A=+—-HLEE

21. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

Notes: (continued)

21. EZRHEMEBWRIE &)
Bet: (48)
(iii)  (continued) (i (4&)

TREINEELEZERNE 5B K
HEHEMEEBERZHIE N

The following table shows the movement in lifetime ECL of trade
receivables that has been recognised under the simplified approach:

Lifetime ECL Lifetime

(not credit- ECL (credit-
impaired) impaired) Total

2HEY 2HEY

EEFE EEER
(RIEERME) (EERE) gt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHEL FHEL FHEL
As at 1 January 2023 RWZZE_=F—H—H 2,883 26,167 29,050
Impairment losses recognised BRAREESE 588 8,360 8,948
Impairment losses reversed BREEIREEE (1,726) 9,171) (10,897)

As at 31 December 2023 and RZFZ=F+ZRA=+—HEK

as at 1 January 2024 —E-NF—-HA—H 1,745 25,356 27,101
Impairment losses recognised ERAREESE 1,000 3,262 4,262
Impairment losses reversed BEREREEE - (8,529) (8,529)
Impairment losses recognised (reversed), net %2 (B [E) G {EEE  FE 1,000 (5,267) (4,267)
Written-off i€ - (3,499) (3,499)
As at 31 December 2024 R-B-_m&+=-A=+-—AH 2,745 16,590 19,335

The following table shows the movement in lifetime ECL of
retention receivables that has been recognised under the simplified

TREIZGOEER N EUWRRE S
2HFRMEESEREZFHBENR:

approach:
Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
(not credit- (credit-
impaired) impaired) Total
ZHEH 2HES
FEBE FEBE
(REEERE) (FERE) wst
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET THET FHET
As at 1 January 2023 R-—ZE-_=%—H—H 2 - 2
Impairment losses recognised EHAREEER - 272 272
Impairment losses reversed BEREREEE () = )
Impairment losses (reversed) (R BRAMERE FE
recognised, net (2) 272 270
As at 31 December 2023 and RZFZ=F+-A=+—-HEK
as at 1 January 2024 —ZT-_ME—-H—H - 272 272
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—HHBAR = (272) (272)

As at 31 December 2024

R-Z-ME+=-A=+—-A
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2024

21. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(iv)

Loan receivables represent outstanding principals and interest
receivables arising from the Money Lending Business of the Group.
All of the loan receivables are entered with contractual maturity
within 12 months. The Group seeks to maintain strict control over
its loan receivables in order to minimise credit risk by reviewing the
borrowers’ financial positions.

The loan receivables are interest-bearing at fixed rates mutually
agreed between the contracting parties, ranging from 4% to
12% per annum (2022: 4% to 12% per annum). All of the loan
receivables were unsecured as at 31 December 2024 and 2023.

Loss allowance for ECL has been made on an individual basis under
general approach. The movement in ECL for loan receivables is as
follows:

1. EGREMEWE

BE=

A M WAR MR

o NFEFZRA=FT—HILEFE

RIH (&)

Hiet - (&)

(iv)

fEWE 3 ?EZIS’EIE&E%?&E$25K
giazliﬁ)iifﬂﬂlﬂg il FE M E TR

WEMAARI2EAR- $%@§5{7}
BREERA 2B BN R E
FEME R 2 BB S BB EERER
BERE-

BRERDZAHNHAERBTEZET
*'%ﬁ‘l‘g'i%”}:fl\:}‘l%i12%(_
T F FFNENTFT4%E12%) °
R-E-—_mMER-_ZT-_ZF+=A
=+—B FTAERKRERE AERKIT-

HHEEBRZBREBEBEE —RE
i 2 fE Bl 2 AR - RF R E R
ZHEBEREEZEHTIHIRMT

31 December 2024

—®-mE+=A=+-A

Lifetime ECL Lifetime
(not credit- ECL (credit-
12m ECL impaired) impaired) Total
+=@A ZHESH ZHES
HHEE FEEF#E EEER
BR (KEERE) (EERE) @gt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FEr T FHER FTERT
As at 1 January 2024 R—ZE-_mW&—HF—H 2 1,593 70,670 72,265
Impairment losses recognised B RERBREEE - 2,688 279 2,967
Transfer to lifetime ECL ERE2HESREEES
(not credit-impaired) (RfEERE) ) 2 - -
Transfer to lifetime ECL ERE2HEREEES
(credit-impaired) (EERE) = (451) 451 -
As at 31 December 2024 R-ZZE-_WF+=-A=+—H = 3,832 71,400 75,232
Expected loss rate T EE X - 11.53% 61.35% 50.28%
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MR M R

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HBE_-_Z_NE+_-_A=+—-HLEE

21. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(iv)  (continued)

1. EFREMEWRE &)
Bist: (#)
(ivy (#&)

31 December 2023
—E-_=F+-A=+—H

Lifetime ECL Lifetime
(not credit- ECL (credit-
12m ECL impaired) impaired) Total
+=f@A 2 HiTE HA 2 HiTE A1
EHEE FEER FEEE
BB (KEERE) (EERE) ey
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAET FAT FHET
As at 1 January 2023 RZZE=Z=4—-H—H 585 2,598 74,630 77,813
Impairment losses recognised B HRRERE 1 969 11,933 12,903
Impairment losses reversed BERRERE (476) (708) (17,267) (18,451)
Impairment losses (reversed) (BE)EAREEE  F8
recognised, net (475) 261 (5,334) (5,548)
Transfer to lifetime ECL HEEHESEEEE
(not credit-impaired) (REERE) (108) 108 - -
Transfer to lifetime ECL BRE>HBHEERE
(credit-impaired) (E8RE) - (1,374) 1,374 -
As at 31 December 2023 RZZE-_=F+-A=+—H 2 1,593 70,670 72,265
Expected loss rate BHEEX 0.24% 3.95% 62.91% 47.07%
(v)  The Group's deposits, prepayment and other receivables () AEBZEE - FBRHRIERE M E WK
represented the following amounts as at the end of the reporting HIERMEBRR 2 TYIFHIE -
period.
2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
—E-NFE —ET-=F
FHET FHET
Prepayments TET IR 354 891
Deposits paid BfES 49 1,590
Other receivables HAth pE U R IE 1,602 6,329
2,005 8,810
Included in other receivables at 31 December 2024 is consideration RZE-_NF+-_A=+—HzHEM
receivables for the disposal of a subsidiary amounted to BEREFRELE —HRNBARZ
HK$1,500,000 (2023: HK$3,000,000). Included in the Group's EU K {E 1,500,000 L (—FE - =
deposits paid at 31 December 2023 is deposit placed with 3,000,000 7L) cAEER T =4
securities broker for the trading of investment securities amounted T A=+t —HAZENEREHRBER

to approximately HK$1,526,000.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e B ISR R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HBEZE_-_ZE_NE+_-_A=+—-HLEE

21. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued) 21. ES R HEMBWRIE )
Notes: (continued) Miat: (&)
(v) (continued) () (%)
The following table show reconciliation on ECL of deposits and TREIIE-—REERNERSREM
other receivables under general approach: FEWRIEREREEBBEEK:
Lifetime ECL
12m ECL  (credit-impaired) Total
2HEH
tZEAES EEBR
FEFR (EERE) st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHET
As at 1 January 2023 RZZ=Z=%—HF—H 33 - 33
Impairment loss recognised ERAREEE - 364 364
Impairment loss reversed BREREEE (33) - (33)
Impairment losses (reversed) (B[R ERRAERBE FH
recognised, net (33) 364 331
As at 31 December 2023, R-E-=F+-fA=+—H"
1 January 2024 and “Z-_mWFE-A—HK
31 December 2024 —E_mEF=HA=+—H = 364 364
22.CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 2. BeRAEEEY
2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
“E_ImF —E-=F
FER T
Cash at bank and on hand RITRFHERAS 4,583 7,716
Cash and cash equivalents comprise bank balances and cash held ReERREEBYBRREAEBRIFE 2RTT
by the Group. The bank balances carry interest at floating rates RN © RITAERIRE ARITERN
based on daily bank deposit rates. KT ERZEFEETE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e B ISR R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 &HZZ—

23. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

EoNFEF A=t -HLEFE

23. BEZ REMENRE

2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
—EZ@mEF —E-=F
FTER FET
Trade payables Z 5 FE /I8 45,477 53,665
Retention payables FERT R E & - 958
Contract liabilities SHEE - 5
Amount due to Titron Group &~ Titron Group Holdings Limited
Holdings Limited 2 RIE 1,700 1,700
Amounts due to the vendors BNEH 258 7,500 7,500
Interest payables JE 1 1) 2, 2,690 1,490
Amount due to a director of ERETHBARESE ZHIE
certain subsidiaries 7,375 6,912
Accruals and other payables JE &t 5K I8 N2 H M FE A~ k8 3,560 4,227
68,302 76,457
The following is an aging analysis of trade payables presented RMERR EHENFIBREZAHE
based on invoice date at the end of the reporting period: ﬁllzﬁﬁ BT
2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
“B-OF —EF=F
FERT FHET
Within 3 months =@EARA - 3,203
Over 3 months but within 6 months BB =EAERASEAR - 1,291
Over 6 months = Epa ! 45,477 49,171
45,477 53,665

The average credit period granted by suppliers up to 90 days.

Contract liabilities represented payments received in advance that
were related to sales of goods not yet delivered to customers arising
from the Medical Products Business. The Group recognises this
amount as revenue when the goods are delivered to the customers.

contract liabilities amounted to

HERHE T2 FIEEHRS RIOK -

BHEBEREBREREBL ZHARR
BmiHE AR BER
RN TEFE NEBEE

P2

T

15 8 i

B ZREREA -

As at 1 January 2023,
HK$5,007,000.
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23.

24.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2024

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (continued)

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, included in the Group's accruals
and other payables are an amount due to Titron Group Holdings
Limited (“TGHL") of approximately HK$1,700,000 and the cash
consideration of HK$7,500,000 payable to the vendors of Titron
Group (as defined and detailed in the Company’s circular dated 12
August 2011) arising from the acquisition of Titron Group in 2011.
TGHL was one of the vendors of Titron Group. Titron Group is
principally engaged in the Medical Products Business and the Plastic
Moulding Business. One of the shareholders of TGHL, Mr. Yip Wai
Lun, Alvin, was a former shareholder and the former chairman and
managing director of the Company. The amounts were unsecured,
interest-free and repayable on demand.

23.

A M WAR MR

BE-_FE_MFE+-A=+—-HLHEE

ESRHEMENRE &)

R-B_WMER_ZT-_=%F+-A=+—

B AEEZEFEREEMNSRIERS
FE—Z JESTitron Group Holdings Limited
([TGHLJ) z 7B 491,700,000 7T K 7> —
T —FREEREE(TERFRBAR
ARIBSAE-_TE——FN\A+=-_HZA
HIEACZENEEEEES 2 ReNRE
7,500,000 70 TGHLAEESE 2 Hp —
NMER - EREEZTENREEREMED
MEBEAER - TGHLZ — AR FEER
EEBARRNBRERAIERRESHL
B-ZERBRERR RERBARERE
Bo

The amount due to a director of certain subsidiaries was unsecured, ERNETHBARIES 2 RIBAEER
interest-free and repayable on demand. RERBRERER-
BOND PAYABLES 24 Bt &S
2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
ZE_MF —EZ=F
FERT FHET
Unsecured bond issued in 2022, measured  1RE R AAER T - —F
at amortised cost: BITHEERES:
Principal amounts of bond payables EREHATE 30,000 30,000
Interest payables JE £ F &2 3,590 2,390
33,590 32,390
Less: Interest payables included in trade and & : 5T A B 5 K& H th fE {5 FRIE A
other payables FEAH R B (2,690) (1,490)
30,900 30,900
Unlisted bonds issued in 2022 R-B-_FRITWILHES
During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Company newly HE-_T-_—_F+-A=+—HLEFE"
issued unlisted bonds to certain independent third parties with total ARBIRETEBLIE=TFETAEHER

principal amounts of HK$30,000,000. The bonds are unsecured,
interest bearing ranging from 5% to 6.5% and will be matured on
the date falling on the ranging from 36 months to 96 months after
the respective date of issue of the bonds. As at 31 December 2024,

the bond payables remain outstanding.

7$30,000,000/8 T IE E & 55 - % B 55 AR
IR R IAZN F5%E6.5% B0 W E 5
TEEMBER36MEAZ%EA%ER
FH-RZZTEMF+—_A=+—08 EN
BEFIIRER

EREZEREMRDT 2024F R
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MR M R

For the year ended 31 December 2024

24. BOND PAYABLES (continued)

BEZ

EoNFEF A=t -HLEFE

24 FERH B % (2)

Unlisted bonds issued in 2018

On 12 October 2018, the Company issued unlisted bonds to an
independent third party with an aggregate principal amount of
HK$30,000,000. The bonds are unsecured,
10% per annum and will be matured on the date falling on the 36

interest bearing at

months after the date of issue of the bonds. Interest payables of
the bonds were included in the bond payables in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

On 1 December 2020, the Company entered into extension
agreement to further extend 3 months from the original maturity
date. All the other terms and conditions of the bonds remain
unchanged.

On 3 January 2022, the Company entered into extension agreement
with bond holder of bond payables with principal amounts of
HK$30,000,000 issued in 2018 to further extend 5 years from
12 January 2022 to 12 January 2027 and interest rate will be
"Extended Bond Payables”).
The Company has the rights to further extend 5 years from 12

adjusted to 10.5% per annum (the

January 2027 (the "Extension Option”) subject to settlement of all
outstanding interest.

The Extension Option is not closely related to the host contract
and regarded as embedded derivatives in the host contract. The
Company designated the Extended Bond Payables and the Extension
Option as a whole in accordance with HKFRS 9 and classified as
financial liabilities at FVTPL.

REZB-NFRITHWIELDES
RZE-NEFE+TATZB K2AA—%
TR = 75 BT A& 4856 7330,000,000%
T EMES ZEFABEERREFF
E10%:T 8 WA &S5 1T H B 36
EREZEANH -BEHEEMFEALLGE
SRR KA Z R ES -

R-B-TF+-F—8 AAFTILE
B A R A — ST E3EA
K FTA AL R R T

R-ZZE-_—_F—AF=ZH AQAE_-F
— J\4F 8 97 H) ZX & E430,000,0007% 7T H fE
NEFNESFFHEARILESHEZE B
T F—A+-RE—SPEHAFE—
T LFE—A+-H MEMNXREARZA
10.5% ([EEENESR]) -RBEEMEB
MAEEFNBSE ARAEEE STt
F-—A+—ARE—PEHAF ([EHE
#iE]) -

JEHE Y IFE T A M EZ A M RR
REGHOBRAXNTETLR - AR ARRE
BAMBRE LR FOFN LB ELTN
ENEZREHEEERDBREBER
BARBEIGZMBRE

HK$'000

FHET

As at 1 January 2023 R-ZEBE_=F—HF—H 23,902

Interest payables JE A 7 2 (517)

Repayment of bond payables BEEMNES (29,216)

Loss on early repayment RATER Z B8 5,831
As at 31 December 2023, as at 1 January 2024 A= = = 4 - —WE[IEEEE

and 31 December 2024 RZZTZmNE—HA—H &
ZEMETZR=+— =

The bond payables with Extension Option were early settled during
the year ended 31 December 2023. As at 31 December 2023, there
were no financial liabilities at FVTPL.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e B ISR R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HBEZE_-_ZE_NE+_-_A=+—-HLEE

25.SHARE CAPITAL 25. iR 7
Number of shares Amount
HK$'000
BB EE &%
FET
Ordinary shares of HK$0.05 BREEGEBIL (ZE=_=F:
(2023: HK$0.05) each 0.0587T) 2EER
Authorised: ERE
As at 1 January 2023, R-—EB-=%—-A—8"
31 December 2023, —E-=f+=ZH=+-—-8H"
1 January 2024 and “E-ME-A-BR
31 December 2024 —E-_mFE+=-A=+-—H 8,000,000,000 400,000
Issued and fully paid: ERITRAR:
As at 1 January 2023 RZZE-_=ZF—A—H 483,775,896 24,189
Issue of shares pursuant to RIR AR EITRAD (H7E)
rights issue (Note) 483,775,896 24,189
As at 31 December 2023, R-B-=%+-A=+—-8"
1 January 2024 and “E-ME-A-BR
31 December 2024 —B-mE+=-A=+-—H 967,551,792 48,378
Note: Hat -
On 30 December 2022, the Company announced that it proposed to RZEZ—F+_RA=+TH ARAEME
raise approximately HK$48.40 million, before share issue expenses by Ui HBHERE —RRERMHE—RHE
issuing 483,775,986 rights shares (the “Rights Shares”) by way of Rights AR AR D AEZLE - A AR 7 R R EE TR #
Issue at the subscription price of HK$0.1 per Rights Share, on the basis A% A& £2.0.17% 7T 3% 17483,775,986% 1 A% % 9
of one Rights Share for every one existing Shares held on the record (TR AR 10 ] ) « & & 4948,400,0007% 7T (F
date. Completion of the Rights Issue took place on 2 February 2023. ARBEHETRE) HER T Z=F—
AZHZERK-
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26.DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES 26. HEME AT
(a) During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group disposed (@ REZE-_Z-_mW&F+-_A=+—H1
of 100% equity interest of ACE Engineering to independent FE - AEERBYFE=FHELH
third party at a consideration of HK$1. IR - RERIET
HK$'000
FHERT
Net liabilities disposed of: EREEEFRE:
Other receivable H A fE R IE 1,504
Accruals and other payables FE ST FRIE I H b FE S /18 (1,604)
(100)
Consideration receivable FEYARAB =
Net liabilities disposed of: BEHEBEFE: (100)
Gain on disposal & W 100
* less than HK$1,000 * L 3A1,0007 7T
There have been no cash inflow to or outflow from the Group 2N 55 [0 M R I S B BB 8 B A AR
arising from the disposal of the subsidiary. BERALRML
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26. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

(b)

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group disposed
of 100% equity interest of a subsidiary, Venture Million
Holdings Limited (“Venture Million”), to an independent third
party at a consideration of HK$3,000,000. The disposal of

Venture Million was completed on 21 December 2023.

S

A M WAR MR

—E-_NE+-B=+—HILEE

26. HEMB D& (#)

(b)

REBEZE_ZT_=F+-_F=+—HIt
FE-AEERMBCIE=THENES
‘A m]Venture Million Holdings Limited
(['Venture Million | ) #y 2 ERA% #E - (B
733,000,000/ 7T © 1 & Venture Million
ERZF_=F+=-A=+—Hxmie"

HK$"000
FHERT

Net assets disposed of: BEREEESFE:
Equity instrument at FVTPL FREREAANEENERZERTA 5,272
Accruals and other payables FE ST FRIA N H b FE A~ 508 (770)
4,502
Consideration receivable FERARE 3,000
Net assets of subsidiary disposed of BEHENBRARZEEFE (4,502)
Cumulative exchange differences RETENERE 2,069
Gain on disposal & U a 567

There have been no cash inflow to or outflow from the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2023 arising from the

disposal.

The consideration receivable of HK$3,000,000 was not settled
as at 31 December 2023 and was included in other receivables

at that date.

This consideration receivable to the extent of HK$1,500,000
was received by the Group during the year ended 31 December

2024.

BEZ-_=F+ZA=+—HIHF
B AEETERZEESEEEME
fAl38 &R AR o

RZEZ=F+=-A=+—H EK
A {E3,000,000/%8 7T s & &5 W B 5T A
#% B 2 HAth R UERIE -

BHE_Z-_ME+=-RA=+—HILHF

B A& EE WEE # 1,500,000/ 7T
2R E-

EREZEREMRDT 2024F R
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27.

28.

EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT BENEFITS

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (“MPF
Scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance for employees employed under the jurisdiction
of the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance. The MPF Scheme is a
defined contribution retirement plan administered by independent
trustees. Under the MPF Scheme, the employer and its employees
are each required to make contributions to the plan at 5% of the
employees’ relevant income, subject to a cap of monthly relevant

income of HK$30,000. Contributions to the plan vest immediately.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group made
retirement benefits scheme contributions totalling approximately
HK$56,000 (2023: HK$142,000). During the year ended
31 December 2023 and 2024, no contributions was forfeited.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

On 30 June 2015, the Company adopted a share option scheme
(“Share Option Scheme”), which was approved by the shareholders
of the Company (“Shareholders”) at the annual general meeting of

the Company held on the same date.

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to enable the Group
to grant share options to the eligible participants as incentives or

rewards for their contributions to the Group.

According to the Share Option Scheme, the board of directors may
grant share options to the eligible participants as defined in the
Share Option Scheme to subscribe for such number of shares as the

Board may determine.

The eligible participants (“Eligible Participants”) to whom the
directors may in their discretion make an offer for grant of share
options pursuant to the Share Option Scheme belong to the

following classes of participants.
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27.

28.

BE-_Z_-_NF+-A=+—HLFE

EERKEF
AEBEREBEFERGMERERFEE
RETBERBGIAIEREAREZEE
e —EARt Mt ABEEHE ([REEE
&) BEEFETHBIEEAETELZ
EREFRARGE -RIERESFE BE
MHEREEAARRERZABRALZS%MA
sHEIE SR HEPAS A B BIUA30,00078
TeR LR - M EEL 2 KB R -

REZE-Z-NF+-_A=+—HIEFE"
REBBELBRKERTEHEREHY
56,0000 7T ( — & — = 4F : 142,000 7T ) ©
REBEE_E_=FR_ZFT_NF+=A
=+—RIEFE SEERELU -

B ESTE

RZE-—RFERA=ZTH ETRAAHEMN—
EER RS ([BRES]) AL
ARBBER (R NE BRITZARF
BRERBERE Lt

BREFISERASETAAER2HE
ERLBERE ERREHAKEER
Bl 22 = B ¥

=
=]
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28.SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

M

(2)

3)

4)

(5)

(6)

@)

(8)

)

any employee (whether full time or part time, including any
executive director but excluding any non-executive director)
of the Company, any subsidiary of the Company or any entity
in which any member of the Group holds any equity interest

(“Invested Entity”);

any non-executive directors (including independent non-
executive directors) of the Company, any subsidiary of the

Company or any Invested Entity;

any supplier of goods or services to any member of the Group

or any Invested Entity;

any customer of any member of the Group or any Invested

Entity;

any person or entity that provides research, development or
other technical support to any member of the Group or any

Invested Entity;

any shareholder of any member of the Group or any Invested
Entity or any holder of any securities issued by any member of

the Group or any Invested Entity;

any adviser (professional or otherwise) or consultant to any
area of business or business development of any member of

the Group or any Invested Entity;

any other group or classes of participants who have
contributed or may contribute by way of joint venture,
business alliance or other business arrangement to the

development and growth of the Group; and

any company wholly owned by one or more Eligible

Participants.

28.

)

S

A M WAR MR

—E-_NE+-B=+—HILEE

BIRAESTE (2

ARBARAFEMMBRARALE
BB AR E E R R T
R ((MREER)WEIMEE (1T
WEBRIRR BERETRTES
BETBREAFRTES)

AR R AR R MER B QR AR
PR EERNERERTES (B
BIUFMITES)

REBEFKE RARSEFMAEREE
M SRS e

AEBEAKBERBAREAMEEER
BOEMES:

RAEBERKE RRHERAIKRE
EREHAR REIEMEM R
B EMALTRER:

REBEEFKE RARHEFMAREE
BOEMBRRAAEEERKE QA
HAEMPTIRE BRABITEMNESFHN
ERRFAA:

AREBEMKE RARHEFMAREE
BETAXBHEBREFERNER
ARAATLT (FEXIEMAL) HERH:

BBEERE FHEHBRAEMER
RHUAEEBRIIEREFELERA
ERELRERAEAEMSEEREX
Bh R

H—ARSRAARBREREHA
WAERAR -

EREZEREMRDT 2024F R
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28.SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) 28. IR RESTEl (=)

Share options granted should be accepted within 28 days from
the date of the letter of grant. Upon acceptance of the share
options, the grantee shall pay HK$1.00 to the Company by way
of consideration for the grant. Subject to the terms of the Share
Option Scheme and all applicable laws, the Board has the power to
determine the period within which payments or calls must or may
be made.

The exercise price of share options shall be determined by the
board, which shall be at least the highest of (i) the closing price
of the shares as stated in the daily quotations sheet of the Stock
Exchange on the date of the grant, which must be a business day;
(ii) the average closing price of the shares as stated in the daily
quotations sheets of the Stock Exchange for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of the grant; and (iii) the nominal
value of a share.

The maximum number of shares which may be issued upon the
exercise of all share options to be granted under the Share Option
Scheme and any other share option scheme(s) of the Company
must not exceed 10% of the issued share capital of the Company
on the date of approval and adoption of the Share Option Scheme
provided that the Company may at any time seek approval from the
Shareholders to refresh the limit to 10% of the shares in issue as at
the date of approval by the Shareholders in general meeting where
such limit is refreshed. Share options previously granted under any
share option schemes of the Company (including those outstanding,
cancelled, lapsed in accordance with such schemes or exercised
options) will not be counted for the purpose of calculating the limit
as refreshed.

The total number of shares issued and may fall to be issued upon
exercise of the share options granted under the Share Option
Scheme and any other share option scheme(s) of the Company
(including exercised, cancelled and outstanding options) to each
eligible participant in any 12-month period up to and including
the date of grant shall not exceed 1% of the shares in issue as
at the date of grant unless such grant has been duly approved
by ordinary resolution of the Shareholders in general meeting at
which the relevant eligible participant and his associates abstained
from voting. Share options granted to substantial Shareholders
or independent non-executive directors or any of their respective
associates in any 12-month period in excess of 0.1% of the
Company'’s issued share capital on the date of grant and with a
value in excess of HK$5 million must be approved in advance by the
Shareholders.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HBEZE_-_ZE_NE+_-_A=+—-HLEE
28. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) 28. IR &l ()
The period during which a share option may be exercised will be BREZITEHKBETS2EMIBRE
determined by the Board at its absolute discretion, save that no MG R ET10F BT - WRAT(E
share option can be exercised more than 10 years after it has been MR A W 7B B A IE IR 2 ATl i 2 HABR
granted. There is no general requirement that a share option must 2 —RRHRTE - BIRERTEIM0FANE MR
be held for any minimum period before it can be exercised. The EHUER T _RFSAA-TNLAE
Share Option Scheme is valid and effective for a period of ten years ESSISECE S
and will expire at the close of business on 29 June 2025.
On 29 June 2021, the Company passed a ordinary resolution to RZEBEZ—FAZ+HhB -ARAFBB
refresh the share option scheme mandate limit of not exceed 10% —HEBRER UBEREAIOE
of the total number of shares in issued as at 29 June 2021. ERBERATEBN T _—F <A
“tNABRBHETERNEENI0% °
As at 31 December 2024, the number of shares in respect of which RZZE-ZWMF+-_A=+—H REERKR
may be issued upon exercise of share options granted and remain BB EREMRITENBRERTE
outstanding under the Share Option Scheme was 85,600,000 &7l T BT H AR 1D 2L B 485,600,000/
(2023: 85,600,000), representing 17.7% (2023: 17.7%) of the (ZE Z=%:85,600,0000%) - fh & BX
shares of the Company in issue at that date. NAEIEEITROMITI% (ZE=Z=F:
17.7%) °
Details of share options granted under the Share Option Scheme RIRERE MR 2 BRE 2B
are as follows: s
Date of grant Vesting period  Exercise period Exercise price Adjusted price
REBH SR TEH TfEE RAEE
4 l\/lay 2020 N/A 4 May 2020 - 3 May 2025 HK$0.087% 7T HK$0.435% 7T
“T-TFRAMA iE A —E-_TFRANABZE
—E_RFRAZ=H

21 April 2022 N/A 21 April 2022 - 20 April 2027 HK$0.0746/5 7T HK$0.3737% 7T
—E-_=FWA=+—H TiEm —ZE-=FWA=+—HE
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28. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) 28. IR T &l ()
The following table discloses movements of the Company's share TEREEAEBEEEEERAMEER
options held by eligible employees and other eligible participants of SEERNFAMMFERRRBARE #8) -

the Group during the year.

Outstanding at Granted Exercised Adjusted Lapsed Expired  Outstanding at
1 January during during during during during 31 December
2024 the year the year the year the year the year 2024
R-B-mE W=B-mE&
-B-H TZE=t+-H
Date of grant RUBH HRTE ERRY ERfiE  FREHE ERER EREH HRTE
4 May 2020 “Z-ZERANA 37,240,000 = - - = = 37,240,000
21 April 2022 ZEZZFMAZFT—H | 48,360,000 - - - - - 48,360,000
85,600,000 - - - - - 85,600,000
Exercisable at the end of RBEHRAITE
the reporting period 85,600,000
Weighted average exercise price (HK$) ~ METFHEE () 0.400 - - - - - 0.400
Outstanding at Granted Exercised Adjusted Lapsed Expired  Outstanding at
1 January during during during during during 31 December
2023 the year the year the year the year the year 2023
KRZZZZE WZZZZE
-B-H +-B=1+-B
Date of grant RAERS RARTTEE FREI ERIE FREEE FRRR FRE HARTTHRE
4 May 2020 —Z-Z50AMNA 37,240,000 = = = - - 37,240,000
21 April 2022 ZEZZEMAZT—B | 48,360,000 - - - - - 48,360,000
85,600,000 = = = = - 85,600,000
Exercisable at the end of RBEHARATITHR
the reporting period 85,600,000
Weighted average exercise price (HK$) ~ MEFHIEE () 0.400 - - - - - 0.400
The share options outstanding as at 31 December 2024 had a RZZB_MFE+_A=+—BHERTEZ
weighted average exercise price of approximately HK$0.4 (2023: BRE 2 MEFHITEEN RSB T (=
HK$0.4) and a weighted average remaining contractual life of T=F:04%7) R TN ZINETFHEL
approximately 1.45 years (2023: 2.45 years). FHAOR14F (ZF =5 :2.45%) -
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29. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 29. XA Rz B AR R K

COMPANY

2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
—E-mF —E-=F
FET FHET
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERAE
Non-current asset ERBEE
Interests in subsidiaries KB AR 2 1 1
Current assets RBEE
Prepayment and other receivables T8 1 FRIE K H A FE Y R IE 351 351
Amounts due from subsidiaries B WL B 8~ R FR AR - 86,595
Cash and cash equivalents ReERBEEEY 1,452 6,865
1,803 93,811
Current liabilities FEAEE
Amount due to a subsidiary FEAT — MR BT B ~ Bl 2 5RI8 534 534
Other payables H h FE A 5RIE 1,409 2,239
1,943 2,773
Net current (liabilities)/assets HE(&aE)  EEFE (140) 91,038
Total assets less current liabilities EESERRBAERE (139) 91,039
Non-current liability FRBEME
Bond payables R ES 30,900 30,900
Net (liabilities)/assets (BE) BEZRE (31,039) 60,139
EQUITY R
Share capital A& 48,378 48,378
Reserves ] (79,417) 11,761
Total equity ERARH (31,039) 60,139

On behalf of the Board: RERESE:
Zhang Hengxin Jia Minghui
REE HHE
Director Director
EZE EF
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30. RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

30. XD El & 1E

Share Share option Accumulated
premium reserve losses Total
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
RAP R E BRERE Rt BB st
FERT FERT FERT FHET
As at 1 January 2023 R-E-_=%—HF—H 457,234 14,277 (488,571) (17,060)
Profit and total comprehensive  AFE Wz L2 ERABE
income for the year - - 5,416 5,416
Issue of shares, net of expenses #1715 HER B 23,405 - - 23,405
As at 31 December 2023 and RZEZ=F+ZA=+—H
as at 1 January 2024 k-Z-mF—HF—H 480,639 14,277 (483,155) 11,761
Loss and total comprehensive AFEEBELRZABBLEE
loss for the year - - (91,178) (91,178)
As at 31 December 2024 R-ZB-MOE+=A=+-H 480,639 14,277 (574,333) (79,417)
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Place/country of

31. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES

Issued and paid-up
share capital/

A M WAR MR

BE-T-_MF+-A=+—-HLFE

31.ME A AR

Percentage of equity interest

Name of subsidiaries incorporation registered capital attributable to the Company Principal activities
MWEARAR EMATLY/BR  BRIRARRE/AMELR ARAEEREESL TEER
2024 2023
—2omE SEICR
Directly Indirectly  Directly  Indirectly
E# E3 B% fI&
ACE Engineering Hong Kong 5,000,000 ordinary shares - -* - 100%  Engaged in building construction,
of HK$15,255,000 building maintenance and
improvement works, project
management, renovation and
decoration works in Hong Kong
ZEIiE &t 15,255,000 7T 2 RERUZBTRE BTHE
£38/R5,000,0001% BHETR HEER %£
REHTR
AMCO United Management Hong Kong 1 ordinary share of HK$1 - 100% - 100%  Provision of management services
Services Limited to the Group
EREERBARAT B AT EBRIK AARERUEERY
BEST REWARD GLOBAL LIMITED British Virgin Islands 1 ordinary share of US$1 100% - 100% - Investment holding
("BVI")
EERRBRAT RBRNES 1ETZERRIR RERR
([XBR&ES])
Consun Wealth Management Hong Kong 100,000 ordinary shares = 100% = 100%  Provision of management services
Limited of HK$100,000 to the Group
FEMEERERLA B3 100,000/ 702 A& ERH{ERRE
3 100,0008%
Grace Champ Investment Limited Hong Kong 1 ordinary share of HK$1 = 100% = 100%  Engaged in the business of
securities investment
RBEREAFRAR &k 1AL ERRIR HEBFRERH
JS Finance Limited Hong Kong 1 ordinary share of HK$1 - 100% - 100%  Provision of money lending
BEHBERAR &k AT ERRIR RENE
Titron Industries Limited Hong Kong 1,000 ordinary shares - 100% - 100%  Sale of plastic moulding products
of HK$1,000
EEERRAR BB 1,00078 7.2 &K1, 0008 BERBERAER
Titron International Limited Hong Kong 1,000 ordinary shares - 100% - 100%  Sale of medical devices products
of HK$1,000
BERRARLT & 1,000/ 7 2 & 801,000 HEBRRBER

EREZEREMRD T 2024F
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31. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 31. B A BB (&)
Issued and paid-up
Place/country of share capital/ Percentage of equity interest
Name of subsidiaries incorporation registered capital attributable to the Company Principal activities
WEAR AR AMALLE/HR  BRORARKRA/ZMER ARAEERERDL TEEH
2024 2023
—EomE —Eo=%

Directly Indirectly  Directly  Indirectly
EE 5 % %

Titron Manufacturing Limited Hong Kong 1,000 ordinary shares - 100% - 100%  Sale of plastic moulding products

of HK$1,000
EERRAZERAA BB 1,000 T2 & @Mk 1,0000% HEBBRAER
Titron Precision Limited Hong Kong 1,000 ordinary shares - 100% - 100%  Investment holding

of HK$1,000
BEEZARLT &k 1,000/ 72,2 &A1, 0008% RERR
*  During the year ended 31 December 2024, the subsidiary is * REEZZT-MOFE+-_A=+—HLE

disposed. FE ZWBRAHKLE -

The above table lists out the subsidiaries of the Company as at ERINER T _OMFER T =F+=
31 December 2024 and 2023 which, in the opinion of the directors, A=+ HESERARTIETELREHELSF
principally affected the Group's results for the year or formed a EXAIBRNAEBEEFEERBLZ
substantial portion of the net assets of the Group. To give details ARFMBAT - EERA H 5 H H A
of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, result in BRAAZHEREBERBARITR

particulars of excessive length.

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at the end RMEBARKFRNEREE BEMB A
of the reporting period or at any time during the year. RIBATIEMERE 5o
32. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 2.BEALRS
Compensation of key management personnel FTEEBEAES ZRM
The remuneration of the directors and other members of key BENEMEETEERERE N F RN Z E M
management during the year was as follows: m:
2024 2023
HK$°000 HK$'000
—E-WmF —T=-=
FHET FHT
Salaries, allowance and benefits in kind Fre EMREDI= 852 834
Retirement benefits scheme contributions R ANAE B 5T S R - -
852 834
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33. CASH FLOW INFORMATION BREREES
(a) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from (a) METHELA BB ZHER

financing activities

The table below details changes in the Group's liabilities TERFINAEERETHELECEE
arising from financing activities, including both cash and non- 2E) pRBeLIBEEH -ME
cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are EHEAZAGEERSAECKICR
those for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, KREREBREEHESRERTD
classified in the consolidated statement of cash flows from HABRETHRSTENAG-

financing activities.

Financial
Bond liabilities at Lease
payables FVTPL liabilities Total
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
RARBETSK
EAES ZHEEE HESE Eoy
FRET FET FET FET
As at 1 January 2023 RZE-_=F—HF—H 30,900 23,902 438 55,240
Financing cash flows MERSRE
- Repayment of bond payables —-BRENES - (29,733) - (29,733)
Other non-cash changes (Note) Eih IR S8 (M) - 5,831 (438) 5,393
As at 31 December 2023, RZZ-=%+=-A=+—8"
1 January 2024 and “ECNFE-A—HE
31 December 2024 “E-_NEF=A=+—H 30,900 - - 30,900
Note:  Other non-cash changes represented interest expenses Biat: HMIEBRSEBHENBRPRE
recognised in profit or loss, gain on change in fair value of RZFERAL FRERED
financial liabilities at FVTPL, gain on termination of lease REBEEIIEZUBEEBEZAR
and loss on early repayment of bond payables. BEZH N RIEHEZR
HRRREEEENES 2B
B
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HBE_-_Z_NE+_-_A=+—-HLEE

33. CASH FLOW INFORMATION (continued) BBHREREER ()
(b) Total cash outflow for leases (b) HEZRERHAE
The total cash outflow for leases, including leases of right- BHE_Z-_MF+_A=+—HILF
of-use assets and short-term leases, for the year ended E PREEAREEMEREHEE
31 December 2024 was approximately HK$324,000 (2023: B E 2 IR % H B 58 4 A324,000
HK$793,000). B (ZZFEZ =4 :793,0008T) °
34.SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND 34.REAE D 2N BEER M
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES BY CATEGORY BEEHE
2024 2023
HK$°000 HK$'000
—E-MF —EZ=F
FET FAT
Financial assets: BREE:
Financial assets at FVTPL BRBEEANEBENRZVEEE
— Held-for-trading investments —FEEEKRE 59,373 45,468
Financial assets at amortised cost BEER AR WIS EE
— Trade and other receivables —B S R HMEWFKIE 83,611 107,381
— Cash and cash equivalents —“BakReEEYD 4,583 7,716
147,567 160,565
Financial liabilities: B aE:
Financial liabilities at amortised cost BREHEKANE AR
— Trade and other payables — B 5 R EMERMN IR 68,302 76,452
- Bond payables — BN EH 30,900 30,900
99,202 107,352
Fair value of financial instruments BEIAENAAEE
Financial instruments of the Group’s financial assets WHZEEAZMEELRAEBEE
and financial liabilities that are not measured at fair WAEBYUBEEERMBEE EHE
value on a recurring basis BT A
The directors consider that the carrying amounts of the financial EZRA/GEVBRRAKREHKAGTE
assets and financial liabilities at amortised cost in the consolidated ZHBEERMGAGBZERABEEAR
financial statements approximate to their fair values. BEMASE -
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For the year ended 31 December 2024

34. SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES BY CATEGORY

(continued)

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and
financial liabilities that are measured at fair
value on a recurring basis

In estimating the fair value, the Group uses market-observable
data to the extent it is available. For instruments with significant
unobservable inputs under Level 3, the Group engage an
independent qualified valuers to perform the valuation. The
management works closely with the qualified valuers to establish
the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs to the model. The
management reports the findings to the directors at the end of
each reporting period to explain the cause of fluctuations in fair

value of the asset.

Some of the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities are
measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period. The
following table gives information about how the fair values of these

financial assets and are determined.

A M WAR MR

BE-T-_MF+-A=+—-HLFE

3. BB o B EER M

BEBEHME 2

BREEMEENRIREETEN
rEEUHREERVBRENR
REE

REFHAREBEER AREETEERT
BRETHEE - RERF=_EERTAH
ERABENTAMS AEERBET
EERGEMETHE- EEERAER
HEMEZE S ABILEA G ERM
REAMGASE ERENESHREHARM
EXERERUABERBEEELALEEN
HHEREA -

AEBETHHREERMBAEBNIZE®R
EHRZAREBENE TRE‘RBRAD
MEEZEVBEEZAEEZEFR -

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
F—B -y E=E Fhy
FTHET FTHET FTHT FHT
As at 31 December 2024 R-E-ME+-A=+-—H
Fair value on a recurring basis ZAZZEHEENUNLEETE
Financial assets at FVTPL BBRBREANEEIR
ZHBEE
- Held-for-trading investments ~ —H{EEEH & 59,373 - - 59,373
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34. SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES BY CATEGORY

(continued)

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and
financial liabilities that are measured at fair

value on a recurring basis (continued)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e B ISR R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HBE_-_Z_NE+_-_A=+—-HLEE

3. BB e M BEER M

BEEHME 2

BEEEHEEDNAAEBETEN
AEENBEERMEEEN D
REE®)

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
F—E 5 o Bt
FiET FiET T T
As at 31 December 2023 R-ZZB-=%f+=-A=+-H
Fair value on a recurring basis BASEMEELLALEENE
Financial assets at FVTPL ERBEREAREBEYE
ZHBERE
- Held-for-trading investments ~ —#{EEERE 45,468 - - 45,468

The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers into and out of fair

value hierarchy levels at the end of the date of the events or

change in circumstances that caused the transfer.

There were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2, or transfers

into or out of Level 3 during both years.

The following table presents the changes in fair value of equity

instrument at fair value through profit or loss which are classified as

Level 3 category for the year ended 31 December 2024 and 2023:

AEBZBRAERNEHE R 2 FMHX
BREHHRAZ ABRENAREEZR
SR

RAEFERN F-—ERE_E2HILE
B TEEARELE=[E-

TREANBE-_T_MNFR_T_=F
t-A=+-BLFE HEABE=ER
A2 BB B R A A EIEFIR 2 s T A
WA BB
HK$'000
TAT

As at 1 January 2023

Disposed B E

As at 31 December 2023, 1 January 2024
and 31 December 2024

5,272
(5,272)

R-TB-_=F+=-A=+—-8"
—_EZ_WmE—H—HR

—®¥-_NF+=RA=+-AH -
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34.

35.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2024

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES BY CATEGORY

(continued)

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and
financial liabilities that are measured at fair
value on a recurring basis (continued)

The reconciliation of fair value measurement of financial liabilities at

FVTPL is set out in note 24 to the consolidated financial statements.

Fair value gains or losses on held-for-trading investments are

included in “other income and other gains or losses”.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

Exposure to credit risk, liquidity risk, interest rate risk and currency
risks arises in the normal course of the Group's business. The Group
is also exposed to equity price risk arising from movements in its

own equity share price and its investment in equity securities.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments in the
normal course of the Group’s business are credit risk, liquidity risk,

interest rate risk, currency risk and price risk.

Financial risk management is coordinated at the Group's
headquarter, in close co-operation with the board. The overall
objectives in managing financial risks focus on securing the Group's
short to medium term cash flows by minimising its exposure to

financial markets.

34.

35.

A M WAR MR

BE-T-_MF+-A=+—-HLFE

RENE DM BEEREY
BEBEHME 2

BREEHEEDUAAEBETEN
AEENBEERMEEEN D
REE®

BRBEEALBEINRZVBEEEAR
BEFENHREEANGEET B HREM T
24 ¢

FEEEREZAABERGEIEER [H
il W A R EL A e Sk B 1R | AP RR ©

Bt 7 L By i
AEBAZZZERR - RBHESRAR F
G REBRBRTINIESEFBEZF

EE-AEETASEARS 2 RER
RERBAE S 8 A RERKR -

RAKE 2 EREHRBEPRAAKERMH
TAMEAZTERBRREERR RB
AR MEEAR E¥ERRERR

B o

REBERPESESHIAE HAVK
RElRERE T - ERNBER 2 BEBER
STREBRBZEREEREBRTHZAR
A REAEEzPEHRRSRE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MR M R

For the year ended 31 December 2024  &HZE

35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

These risks are limited by the Group’s financial management policies

and practices described below.

(i) Credit risk

The Group's maximum exposure to credit risk without taking
into account any collateral held or other credit enhancements
is the gross carrying amount of the respective recognised
financial assets as stated in the consolidated statement
of financial position. The Group’s credit risk is primarily
attributable to its trade and other receivables and bank
balances. Management has a credit policy in place and the
exposures to these credit risks are monitored on an ongoing

basis.

The Group’s internal credit risk grading assessment comprises

the following categories:

Internal credit

—E-_NE+=-BA=+—HIEE

5. REMERE (&)

ZERBRDE T X REASE 2 M5 ER
B K BRI -

0)

FERR

$%@$#&Eﬁ%%ﬁ#ﬁﬁ@ﬁ
ERBRZEREERR GRS MBI
ﬁ%WKE$£WW§FZ%%E@°
AEBEZEERRIERAREES

B MR OB DA R 4R 1T A - B TR
BRARE BERE HREESR

AR 2 EE R -

AEENAFEESEFEREAT

Trade receivables,
loan receivables and

Other financial

rating Description retention receivables assets
R EETR it EZRNAE BRERKR HtHBEE
FEWRE &
Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default Lifetime ECL - Lifetime ECL -
and does not have any past-due (not credit-impaired) (not credit-impaired)
amounts
e RGUFEHRRE TETMAHKIE FHESEEEE- PHESEEEE-
(REEGERE) (REEEERE)
Watch list Debtor frequently repays after due dates Lifetime ECL — Lifetime ECL -
but usually settle in full (not credit-impaired) (not credit-impaired)
BxeE BEEABTRIBERERBRBTEHLESE 2URHEEERE- EHEREEBE -
(REEGERE) (REEEERE)
Doubtful There have been significant increases in Lifetime ECL - Lifetime ECL —
credit risk since initial recognition (not credit-impaired) (not credit-impaired)
through information developed
internally or external resources
75 BEBAFREERNSIIEERVAERE 2HEHEEEE- > HRBEEER -
EERRMNE (REEEERE) (REEEERE)
Loss There is evidence indicating the asset Lifetime ECL — Lifetime ECL —
is credit-impaired (credit-impaired) (credit-impaired)
E518 BEOSBREERREERE FHRESEEEE - FHEHEEEE -
(BREGERE) (BREFERE)
Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor ~ Amount is written off Amount is written off
is in severe financial difficulty and
the Group has no realistic prospect
of recovery
i3 EORKAGBEABABENTBKRE FRIE T LA M 8H FRIE T DA M85

R A 5 B Y B OB 69 7 B 5E
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HBEZE_-_ZE_NE+_-_A=+—-HLEE

S.MEREER &)
(i) EERR &)

35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
(i) Credit risk (continued)

In respect of trade receivables, individual credit evaluations
are performed on all customers requiring credit over a certain
amount. These evaluations focus on the customer’s past
history of making payments when due and current ability
to pay, and take into account information specific to the
customers as well as pertaining to the economic environment
in which the customers operate. Trade receivables are due
within 3 to 6 months from the date of billing. Debtors with
balances that are more than 6 months past due are requested
to settle all outstanding balances before any further credit is
granted. Normally, the Group does not obtain collateral from

customers.

The Group's exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the
individual characteristics of each customer. The default risk of
the industry and country in which customers operate also has
an influence on credit risk but to a lesser extent. At the end
of the reporting period, the Group has concentration of credit
risk as 45% (2023: 24%) and 100% (2023: 93%) of the trade
receivables were due from the Group’s largest debtor and the

five largest debtors respectively.

B HREREFAMS A ZKEH
EERBZEPYALETEEER
RSN EETRELBENRIH
R R 2 fosk - AR IR IR Z 880
TEEEEFPHEEMRBERPKL
BRI ZIBRE -BHRWIAES

ZEHHEF=EXNEARZH &
A HAZNME A A £ 2 B AR R
ME— S EEMEABEMAEKRER
Eere—RME AKBETERATF
Ueg B A R A o

AEEEEZ EERRFER
FREBSEMTE TR EITE
REEMEBRRZ BREABRITEEE
RBEMEZE HEEER/ N -RBE
R AEEEEHREERR EHK
REBSEAEBARARKEHAZR
EBHRMGEE SEKKIE 245% (ZF
Z=F:24%) R%100% (ZE ==
93% ) °

D?f}
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HBE_-_Z_NE+_-_A=+—-HLEE

5. REMERE (&)
EERK &)

35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
(i) Credit risk (continued) (i)

Further quantitative disclosures in respect of the Group’s
exposure to credit risk arising from trade and other receivables

are set out in Note 21.

For loan receivables, the directors make periodic individual
assessment on the recoverability of loan receivables based
on historical settlement records, past experience, and also
guantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable and

supportive forward-looking information.

The Group considers loan receivables as doubtful if the
repayment of principal and/or interest has been overdue for
more than 3 months and principal. The Group considers the
loan and loan interest receivables as loss if the repayments
of principal and/or interest have been overdue for more than
6 months for loan and loan interest receivables; and in cases
the collection of principal and/or interest in full is improbable.
The directors considered that credit quality classification of
gross loan receivables with the amounts of approximately
HK$33,242,000 (2023: HK$41,198,000) as performing and
HK$116,375,000 (2023: HK$112,336,000) as a loss.

Details of impairment loss recognised and movement of ECL

are set out in Note 21 to the consolidated financial statements.
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BEAAEEATREE 5 &AM RUK
EMEAZEERRZE-TEER
BER NI FE21 -

RENERME EERBBEEE
TH - BEER AENEEREN
BRARAISEREEER HEKRE
SR AT B Y1 TE B 1T Rl FF A4 o

WA & K&,/ F) B8 Foe B R A3 A
A AXAEERBERERARE
fifl A5 & K, /3 ) BO& 518 HR B 1B 6 1E
A (MERERRERFNEMmMS) -
AIREERERERRERFEHE
BRI R T AT AR B B AR
SR/IME-EERBERERE
#H4933,242,0008 T (Z T =%
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2024 BZE

35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

()

(i)

Credit risk (continued)

For deposits and other receivables, the management makes
periodic individual assessment on the recoverability of
deposits and other receivables based on historical settlement
records, past experience, and also quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportive forward-looking
information. The management believes that there is no
significant increase in credit risk of these amounts since initial
recognition and the Group provided impairment based on 12m
ECL. For the year ended 31 December 2024, no impairment
losses (2023: impairment loss of HK$364,000) was recognised

in respect of deposits and other receivables.

The Group's bank balances were located in reputable banks.
Bankruptcy or insolvency of the banks may cause the Group’s
right with respect to bank balances held to be delayed or
limited. The directors monitor the credit rating of these banks
on an ongoing basis, and consider that the Group's exposure
to credit risk as at 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023

were minimal.

Liquidity risk

The Group's policy is to regularly monitor its liquidity
requirements and its compliance with lending covenants, to
ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves of cash and readily
realisable marketable securities and adequate committed lines
of funding from major financial institutions to meet its liquidity

requirements in the short and longer term.

A M WAR MR

—E-_NE+-B=+—HILEE

5. M AMERE (&)

0]

(i)

EERK (&)

MESREMERRANS  BEE
BREBTHEECH BAELEHRET

REMEER (BIEIERBEENAE
HER) - EiRE RH b B IB R A
s 120 14 3 17 & Bl 8 HART A% - B IR E 3R
BEREFRENEERR B VA TR
R mEZEEM EAEEER+ =
EABHEEEERAEIERE-
BHE-_T-_m&+-_A=+—H1t
FEWERIES K B E R
RAEBE(ZE-_=F FfEFIE
364,000 7T) °

REE 2 BITHEBTERNEEBRTN
RIT-MIRITHREXENESG ATE
BN B H PR IRIT A SR VR AR ST
BB -ERHEEEZFRITH
EATR TRATEER _Z Y
FTZA=F+—ARZZT_=F+=
RA=+—HEBNEERRBTEMS -

REBE SRR

AEEZBRDERERERDES
%';%X&E?E?J‘SSZE?E%’UZ'IE%’DME
REMERE TR 2B & [ NPT B B
Rzl HEES ARB T EMBEH
BESRRESAE UEMNEEH
EBREMRBHESHFR
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A MR M R

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HBE_-_Z_NE+_-_A=+—-HLEE

35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

5. REMERE (&)

(ii) Liquidity risk (continued) (i) RBELRR &)
The following tables show the contractual maturities of the TREREAEEVNHKARR TN
Group's financial liabilities based on undiscounted cash flows FR-ZBE-_ZF+-_A=+—HZA
and the earliest date the Group can be required as at 31 DB ER - DRBEARUBRESRER
December 2024 and 2023. BRAEHRERZZFAHMESH -
As at 31 December 2024 R=-ZB-ME+=A=+—H
Total More than More than
contractual Within 1 year but 2 years but
Carrying  undiscounted 1 year or less than less than More than
amount cash flows on demand 2 years 5 years 5 years
HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000
LR -FRE -F4 mE#
REE REREAHE RER BWER BRER RENE
TER TER TER TER TER TER
Trade and other payables EHREMERTE 65,502 65,502 65,502 - - -
Bond payables EES 30,900 37,697 8,507 5314 3,600 20,276
96,402 103,199 74,009 5,314 3,600 20,276
As at 31 December 2023 RZE_=F+-_A=+—8
Total More than More than
contractual Within 1 year but 2 years but
Carrying undiscounted 1 year or less than less than More than
amount cash flows on demand 2 years 5 years 5 years
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
ANRER L —Fi MER
REE RENELE REL BRER BRER AEME
TAL TAL TAL TAL TAL TAL
Trade and other payables BHREMENTE 76,452 76,452 76,452 - - -
Bond payables B ES 30,900 39,489 2,690 11,723 3,600 21,476
107,352 115,941 79,142 11,723 3,600 21,476
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HBEZE_-_ZE_NE+_-_A=+—-HLEE

35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 5. M AMERE (&)
(iii) Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk (i) R RERQAABENRR

Interest rate risk related to the risk that the fair value or
cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of

changes in market interest rate.

The Group's exposure to interest rate risk mainly arises from
bank deposits which earn interests at floating rates. As at
31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group did not have any
interest-bearing liabilities at floating rates. The Group has not
used any derivative contracts to hedge its exposure to interest
rate risk. The Group has not formulated a policy to manage
the interest rate risk. The directors considered that the Group's

exposure to interest rate risk is not significant.

(iv) Currency risk

The Group has foreign currency transactions settled in United
States dollar (“US$"), which expose the Group to foreign

currency risk.

Since HK$ is pegged to USD, the historical exchange rate
fluctuation on USD is insignificant. Thus there is no significant
exposure expected on USD transactions and balances. Hence,
the Group does not have any material foreign exchange

exposure.

The Group monitors foreign exchange exposure and will
consider hedging significant foreign currency exposure should
the need arise. At 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group
assess the exposure to foreign currency risk is insignificant to

the Group. Accordingly, no sensitivity is presented.

B

MERRAMETAZAREBEERR
I E RSN R BB iR B < B

REBAZ 2 MERREERER
REBRDFEZRITHER- R
ZHERZBZ=F+A=+—0H"
REBU BRI EABAE-
REEVERGEREAITETIESNE
ﬁﬂTHM°$%IIEﬂE izl

B BER - EERRNEEAT
Z AR @RI AEK o

E¥ER

AEBAEUET([ET)BEEDHIN
R EAREEERINE R -

HARBTEE TS XTRTEX
BB TER B BFELRS
RESRTIGEEETREAR Bt - K
SE EEER AR ERINERB -

AEBEEINERE AR EFE
BEBEHIEAIIERAR- R_F
—HERZFE_=FF+_A=1+—8"
76 B RY A W2 A M L B 3 AR R (B T
FUEREAR-FEL WEEHEE
DT
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e B ISR R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HBE_-_Z_NE+_-_A=+—-HLEE

5. EERER &)
(v) EgERE

35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(v) Price risk

The Group’s held-for-trading investments are measured at
fair value at the end of each reporting period. Therefore,
the Group is exposed to equity security price risk. The
directors manage this exposure by maintaining a portfolio of

investments with different risk profiles.

The Group's loss after tax for the year would decrease/increase
as a result of gains/losses on change in fair value of held-for-

trading investments recognised in profit or loss.

As at 31 December 2024, if the share prices of the investments
increase/decrease by 5%, the Group’s loss before income tax
would be approximately HK$2,969,000 (2023: HK$2,273,000)
lower/higher, arising as a result of the fair value change of

held-for-trading investments.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2024

36. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s objective when managing capital is to safeguard
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, so that it can
continue to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other

stakeholders.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its capital
structure to maintain a balance between the higher shareholders’
returns that might be possible with higher levels of borrowings and
the advantages and security afforded by a sound capital position,
and makes adjustments to the capital structure in light of changes

in economic conditions.

The Group monitors its capital structure on the basis of a net
debt to equity ratio. For this purpose the Group defines net debts
as total interest-bearing liabilities comprising bond payables as
disclosed in Note 24 respectively, less cash and cash equivalents.

Total equity comprises of share capital and reserves.

36.

A M WAR MR

BE-_FE_MFE+-A=+—-HLHEE

EXRERER

AEREREAS EREAEEZHEL
8588 ) - 4 0 Bl 0488 48 73 R SRIR 4 1 3 3
5 51t 26 B AR 2 o

REEES N E e R EREBEARE
HAEBSEEKFARESERZBERER
E 3R EEIG FEM B RN R Z # 5

RIEZ BT E WREERR < 88
HERREE

i—?

AREBENFEH L
EEotmE AEER

ffsE2at B 2 R EHF 2 Bt BB ERR
ERASEEY B EEBRAREE-

ERERAEEAR

2024 2023

HK$'000 HK$'000

—E-_MF —ET-=F

TERT FET

Bond payables ERTEFH 30,900 30,900
Less: Cash and cash equivalents BBEERREEEY (4,583) (7,716)
Net debt BB 26,317 23,184
Total equity R 60,128 61,361
Net debt to equity ratio EERHERE R 44% 38%
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Financial Summary

MBHME

1. RESULTS 1. ¥4

For the year ended 31 December

BEZE+-A=+t—-HLEE

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
—E-_mE —E-=fF —E-C —E-—F —E-TF
THT FET FiET FET FET
(Re-presented) (Re-presented)
(&E5) (&E75))
Revenue WA 37,792 34,333 66,489 71,891 53,768
Loss before income tax B TS T AT ES 18 (1,233) (1,713) (104,293) (18,108) (35,541)
Income tax credit FEHIESR - - - - 572
Loss for the year attributable A2 7% A AfE(L
to owners of the Company FEBE (1,233) (1,713) (104,293) (18,108) (34,969)
2. ASSETS AND LIABILITIES 2. EEREE
At 31 December
W+=A=+-8
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
—E-lmF —TZ=F -z —EZ—F ZTZTF
BT FHET FTET FHET FET
Total assets HEE 159,330 168,718 172,840 184,777 212,756
Total liabilities HmeE 99,202 107,357 154,251 69,953 80,663
Equity attributable to ARREEAEEES
owners of the Company 60,128 61,361 18,589 114,824 132,093
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